BEST PRACTICES REPORT

Title of assignment:	Review of the national strategy for the prevention and control of obesity in South Africa (2015-2020) and the development of the new National Obesity Strategy (2021/2022-2026/2027)
Workstream:	NCDs
Management Team:	Ms Rebone Ntsie (Director, Nutrition, NDoH) Ms Maude de Hoop (Nutrition, NDoH) Ms Vimla Moodley (BHPSA) Ms Dianne Morran (BHPSA)
Submitted by:	 Review Team: Prof Thandi Puoane Prof Herculina Salome Kruger Dr Ijeoma Peace Edoka Prof Makama Andries Monyeki Ms Makoma Melicca Bopape Dr Jeanne Adele Lubbe Project Coordinator: Dianne Morran External support: Dr Javier Martinez, Chelsea Stefanska
Date submitted:	14 October 2021

CONTENTS

Ex	ecutive	Summary	4
Lis	st of Acr	onyms	8
1.	Back	ground	10
	1.1	Introduction to obesity	10
	1.1.1	Mortality and morbidity	10
	1.1.2	Major risk factors for obesity	11
	1.2	Obesity trends and statistics	12
	1.3	The cost of obesity	14
	1.4	Specific challenges related to obesity in South Africa	15
	1.4.1	Urbanisation and the nutrition transition	15
	1.4.2	Cultural perceptions and obesity normalisation	15
	1.4.3	Food insecurity and nutrition education	16
	1.4.4	The South African food industry and marketing	16
	1.4.5	Lack of data	17
	1.4.6	Lack of research funding	17
	1.5	Strategy for the prevention and control of obesity in South Africa (2015-2020)	17
2.	Avail	able guidance on obesity interventions	
3.	Evide	nce on obesity prevention and control interventions	19
	3.1	Antenatal and infant interventions	20
	3.1.1	Antenatal interventions	20
	3.1.2	Promotion and support for breastfeeding	20
	3.1.3	Formula milk	20
	3.1.4	Complementary feeding	21
	3.2	Preschool (2-6 years) and school age (6-18 years) interventions	21
	3.2.1	School based interventions	21
	3.2.2	Regulation of marketing of unhealthy products to children	21
	3.2.3	Nutritional standards for school meals	23
	3.2.4	Cultural tailoring	23
	3.3	Interventions targeting adolescence and adulthood	23
	3.3.1	Communication and technology	23
	3.3.2	Household food production and community gardens	24
	3.3.3	Tax on sugar sweetened beverages (SSBs)	24
	3.3.4	Easy to understand schemes of food labelling	25
	3.3.5	Reformulation of processed foods with reduced salt, fat, and sugar content	

	3.3.6	Menu labelling laws	27
	3.3.7	Corporate voluntary efforts and incentive driven programmes	27
	3.3.8	The treatment of obesity	27
	3.4	The importance of obesity surveillance, monitoring and evaluation	28
	3.5	Prioritising obesity interventions based on economic evidence	29
	3.5.1	Are cost-effectiveness analysis results transferable across settings?	
4.	Exam	ples of national obesity strategies from around the world	
	4.1	Asia Pacific examples	
	4.1.1.	Tonga: taxation and monitoring	
	4.1.2	Australia: stakeholder engagement and monitoring	
	4.2	Latin American examples	
	4.2.1	Mexico: evidence-based policy, a unified voice and monitoring	
	4.2.2.	Ecuador: food package labelling	
	4.2.3	Argentina: evidence-based policy	34
	4.2.4	Colombia: physical activity	35
	4.2.5	Chile: combined actions	35
	4.2.6	Brazil: inter-sectoral involvement	
	4.2.7	Regional lessons on preventing childhood obesity	
	4.3	European examples	
	4.3.1	United Kingdom: viability	
	4.3.2	Greece: E-health programme	
	4.3.3	The health action campaign review: local context and multiple approaches	
5.	Concl	usion	41
Re	ference	s	43

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The growing burden of obesity

The aim of this best practices report is to establish where and how national obesity strategies have been successfully implemented, with the emphasis on key success factors that can be applied to the South African context. It makes use of scoping review methodology and draws on examples and lessons emerging from both South Africa and other countries around the world. This report has been prepared by the review team tasked by South Africa's National Department of Health (NDOH) with reviewing the 2015-2020 National Strategy for the Prevention and Control of Obesity in South Africa and is the first step in the development of the next National Obesity Strategy for South Africa 2021/2022-2026/2027.

The first part of this report introduces the concept of obesity as an abnormal or excess amount of fat in the body measured by the Body Mass Index (BMI). It then establishes the links between obesity and a wide range of health conditions, most notably non-communicable diseases (NCDs) like cardiovascular diseases, diabetes mellitus and cancer, which account for more than 70% of all mortality worldwide. Obesity can also affect the severity and prognosis of infectious diseases, as evidenced during the COVID-19 pandemic.

The links between obesity and NCDs follow a linear pattern, with rising death rates and incidence of comorbidities reported as BMI increases. Conversely, prospective studies have confirmed the increased survival and improved quality of life seen in individuals after metabolic weight loss. While obesity is a growing problem in South Africa and globally, it can be effectively reduced through a combination of the right locally informed interventions and adequate implementation and monitoring arrangements. South Africa has much to gain from reducing obesity in its population and is therefore developing a National Obesity Strategy that builds on the successes, gaps and lessons from the previous strategy (2015-2020) and on the evidence emerging from obesity strategies implemented worldwide.

Specific factors affecting obesity interventions in South Africa

South Africa faces a growing burden of both obesity and NCDs. In 2016, 31% of adult males, 67% of adult females, and 13% of under-5 children in South Africa were overweight or obese. Obesity is particularly challenging as health care systems are faced with increasing numbers of individuals where obesity co-exists with malnutrition, commonly referred to as the overfed but undernourished paradox. While the causes for this increased burden are not different to those faced by other nations of similar levels of economic development, there are some specific factors that make the management of obesity and NCDs particularly challenging in the South African context.

Urbanisation, the nutrition transition and sedentarism. Since the 1990s dietary intakes have shifted from traditional locally available and home-grown food toward increased reliance upon ultraprocessed foods and eating away from home, especially in areas experiencing rapid urbanisation. This transition has been associated with higher intakes of salt, fats and oils, protein, and sugar-sweetened beverages and foods. At the same time physical activity decreased and sedentary time increased. The lack of facilities for physical activities together with crime and insecurity in South Africa is a barrier to engaging in physical exercise.

Cultural perceptions and obesity normalisation. In a qualitative study in Soweto (a setting which has undergone rapid urbanisation and nutrition transition), both men and women reported that they preferred bigger bodies; males linked bigger bodies to wealth and affluence while females associated bigger bodies to beauty, happiness and confidence. Another South African study found that the highest prevalence of obesity among South African adults, stratified by sex and race, was in black African women, and yet this group had a significantly lower self-perception of overweight or obesity

than white women, who have a lower prevalence of obesity. Individuals might not seek a solution (weight control) if they do not recognise that a problem (overweight) exists.

Food insecurity and nutrition education. If basic nutrition knowledge and time, cooking space, ingredients, and cooking fuel are lacking, it results in consumption of easily accessible and cheap foods that do not require cooking, such as fast food or sliced bread. In lower- to middle-income and predominantly Black communities, fast food outlets are typically more available than they are in high-income and white communities in urban areas. A study in poorly resourced schools in South Africa found that 22% of learners skipped breakfast, 24% brought a lunch box (mostly with bread) and 57% of learners brought money to school, but tuckshops and vendors in the school environment sold mostly unhealthy foods. Poverty and high food prices were perceived as major challenges for healthy eating. Limited health literacy, defined as the knowledge, skills, and confidence to adopt personal lifestyle changes, was also reported.

Lack of data. Lack of data is a universal challenge for setting targets and monitoring health promotion strategies, and obesity is no exception. BMI is the most common indicator for obesity, but it is resource-intensive to measure, and thus not collected regularly or thoroughly enough to detect geographical and social variations or emerging trends at the local level. Without data it is difficult to evaluate the effectiveness of national obesity strategies, which explains why outcomes of several initiatives are often questioned. Limited data relevant to outcome measures for obesity prevention and management could be found in the SADHS, SANHANES-1, NIDS and the Healthy Active Kids South Africa (HAKSA) Report Card on Physical Activity for Children and Youth. The annual General Household Survey (GHS) has been identified as a future target survey for monitoring certain obesity-related indicators.

Lack of research funding. The South African Medical Research Council and the National Research Foundation are the biggest research funders in South Africa, yet only one research study on obesity could be found in their latest annual reports.

Approaches and interventions to address obesity

The main report includes a review and discussion of different approaches used in a range of settings to address obesity or nutrition-related challenges. Broadly speaking, most obesity-related interventions fall into three main categories:

- Agentic interventions: These aim to increase individual knowledge or skills to make healthier choices, leaving the environment unchanged. 'Nudge' strategies focus on positive reinforcement and indirect suggestions as ways to influence the behaviour and decision-making of groups or individuals. An example of an agentic intervention is front-of-package labelling of unhealthy foods to help consumers make better choices.
- Structural interventions: These change the environmental context within which individual behaviours occur, thereby diminishing individual choice. Examples include banning sale of unhealthy foods and sugar-sweetened beverages (SSBs) in schools, or product reformulation to improve the nutrient content of ultra-processed foods.
- Agento-structural interventions: These are situated between the two, as they address structural
 aspects of environments while requiring a level of individual choice for behavioural change. There are
 many examples, including infrastructure design to encourage physical activity, fiscal regulations to
 disincentivise purchase of unhealthy products through increased taxes, or conversely to make
 healthier products more attractive by subsidising their cost.

All obesity strategies covered in this report emphasize the importance of tailoring interventions according to the local context and culture, as the same interventions have been known to achieve different results across countries. If all practical aspects of implementation are not thoroughly considered, interventions may even have unintended negative consequences for certain population groups, such as a shift from one form of unhealthy consumption to another where a healthy alternative is less easily available, culturally unaccepted, or more expensive.

Examples of specific interventions that have been used as part of obesity programmes around the world are discussed in detail in the report, and include front-of-package labelling of foods, restrictions on marketing unhealthy products to children, improvement in school food standards and options, taxation on unhealthy foods and SSBs, reformulation of ultra-processed foods to improve nutrient contents, retail environment changes such as menu labelling, corporate voluntary efforts and social investment, utilising digital technology for weight awareness and management, and programmes for increased physical activity and reduced sedentary behaviour.

Obesity strategies in South Africa and around the world

Reviewers investigated a sample of national obesity strategies and associated reports from several countries in the Asia-Pacific, Latin American, and European regions. The main components and lessons from each of those national strategies are described in the main report. Briefly, the main conclusions emerging from reading across the strategies are as follows:

Common interventions. A range of interventions are utilised in different countries to prevent or reduce adult or childhood obesity. The most common measures include the implementation of population-level interventions, fiscal and commercial policies, and system changes to make it easier and more affordable/attractive for individuals to make healthier lifestyle choices and to decrease access to, or demand for, unhealthy food options. Examples include restrictions on unhealthy food advertising and adding tax on SSBs. Food product reformulation and the addition of easily understood front-of-package labels are often accompanied by reductions of the salt, fat and sugar content of processed foods.

Challenges and barriers. National obesity strategy reports from several countries identified barriers to the implementation of specific interventions relating mostly to regulating food products and applying fiscal measures, including pressure and lobbying from the food industry. Likewise, opposition from certain public institutions was reported due to their concerns about the economic and social effects of policies to restrict or fiscally penalise unhealthy foods. However, the most frequently reported challenges and barriers involved the limited ability/competence by governments or their agencies to implement and enforce public policy. Several reports also referred to the weak or limited support received from civil society to specific commercial or fiscal measures that was often attributed to their lack of awareness about the risks of obesity or their limited understanding of the reasons justifying the adopted measures.

Limited evidence on strategy performance and outcomes in South Africa. Apart from a few noteworthy research reports, we found limited published evidence about the effectiveness of measures adopted in South Africa to reduce obesity. Interventions that focus on individual behaviour and education rather than utilising a broader population-based approach were less likely to be successful. Promising interventions in South Africa include the implementation of a tax on SSBs, which was followed by a reduction in mean sugar intake, reduced sales of taxed beverages, and increased selection of healthier beverages.

However, it was the lack of data linked to the implementation of the 2015-2020 National Obesity Strategy that is worth noting as part of this review. Our reading of the strategy document and the absence of strategy review information would point to a lack of a systematic, verifiable, costed monitoring and evaluation (M&E) plan combined with the absence of obesity surveillance data, poorly defined M&E responsibilities of the designated departments implementing the strategy, and a lack of funding/budget to support M&E activities.

Lessons for developing the next South Africa Obesity strategy

The most comprehensive review of national obesity strategies identified by the authors of this Best Practices report is the Theis and White (2021) review of 14 UK government strategies either wholly or partially dedicated to tackling obesity, stretching from 1992 to 2020. Their main finding was that most of the least successful policies relied on individuals to make behaviour changes rather than shaping external influences. A second important finding was that policies were largely proposed in a way that would be unlikely to lead to implementation. The following implementation viability criteria were used by the authors:

- Setting a target population
- Stating a theory of change
- Evidence to support the policy proposals
- Details about cost/allocated budget
- Suggesting a responsible agent
- Including a monitoring or evaluation plan
- Setting a time frame for achieving the policy objectives of the strategy

These criteria can be used and adapted to shape the next National Obesity Strategy for South Africa, as follows:

- Strategy development should involve all stakeholders, allowing for continuous inter-sectoral engagement and speaking with a unified voice.
- Practical and cost-effective actions (based on cost-benefit) need to be identified and prioritised, with responsibilities and financial/human resources for their implementation and regular monitoring clearly allocated.
- Implementation should be based on clear time frames, well-defined goals, and regular reviews of progress (in the form of agreed actions, committed resources and results).
- No strategy can claim success or failure unless it is closely monitored, with results recorded and swiftly communicated to all stakeholders (from national to local levels) and the public. Only this approach was found to generate both public accountability and the desired momentum in strategy implementation.

LIST OF ACRONYMS

BF	Breastfeeding
BMI	Body mass index
DALY	Disability-adjusted life years
EMRF	Electronic medical records file
FOPL	Front of package labelling
GBD	Global Burden of Disease
GDA	Guideline Dietary Intakes
GDP	Gross domestic product
GHS	General Household Survey
HAKSA	Healthy Active Kids South Africa
INFORMAS	International Network for Food and Obesity/NCDs Research, Monitoring and Action Support
LMICs	Low- and middle-income countries
METs	Metabolic equivalents
M&E	Monitoring and evaluation
MTL	Multiple Traffic Light
NBD	National Burden of Disease
NCD	Non-communicable disease
NDoH	National Department of Health
NIDS	National Income Dynamic Study
NRF	National Research Foundation
NSNP	National School Nutrition Programme
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
PA	Physical activity
РАНО	Pan American Health Organization
SADHS	South African Demographic and Health Survey
SAMRC	South African Medical Research Council
SANHANES-1	South African Health and Nutrition Examination Survey
SBCC	Social and behavioural change communication
SEMDSA	Society for Endocrinology, Metabolism and Diabetes of South Africa
SISAN	Brazilian National Food and Nutritional Security System
SSB	Sugar-sweetened beverages
SUS	Brazilian National Health System
T2DM	Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus
TAF	Therapeutic algorithm files
TFA	Trans-fatty acids
UK	United Kingdom
USA	United States of America
WHO	World Health Organization
WHtR	Waist-to-height ratio

1. BACKGROUND

The aim of this best practices report is to establish where and how national obesity strategies have been successfully implemented, with the emphasis on key success factors that can be applied to the South African context. It makes use of scoping review methodology to summarise the health effects of obesity and highlight current trends in obesity and its associated comorbidities, both globally and in South Africa. The document reviews interventions that are utilised in national obesity strategies, factors that contribute to successful national strategy implementation, and challenges to obesity prevention and strategy implementation.

1.1 Introduction to obesity

Obesity is defined as an abnormal or excessive amount of fat in the body that presents a risk to health, and is based on the body mass index (BMI) classifications (World Health Organization, 2000). BMI is calculated from both weight (in kilograms) and height (in meters) as BMI = kg/m². A BMI below 18.5 is classified as underweight, BMI of 18.5-24.9 as normal weight, BMI of 25-29.9 as overweight, BMI of 30-34.9 as class I obesity, BMI of 35-39.9 as class II obesity, and a BMI of 40+ as class III obesity (also called severe or extreme obesity). BMI is the most widely recorded measure of obesity, but it does not provide information about fat distribution, which is an important risk factor for non-communicable diseases. Waist circumference and the waist-to-height ratio (WHtR) are useful indicators of abdominal obesity with a WHtR cut-off value of 0.5 highly correlated with cardiometabolic diseases in both sexes and most age groups (Ashwell and Gibson, 2016). Furthermore, BMI alone does not consider muscle mass, and thus can incorrectly classify very muscular individuals as overweight or obese, and so a combination of indicators is preferred to give the most accurate measure of obesity.

1.1.1. Mortality and morbidity

Not counting the impact of the current COVID-19 pandemic, non-communicable diseases (NCDs), including cardiovascular diseases, diabetes mellitus and cancer, are the leading cause of deaths worldwide, accounting for more than 70% of all mortality (Riley et al., 2017). Epidemiological studies from around the globe have confirmed that increased weight is associated with increased risk of death from all causes, most notably NCDs (Freedman et al., 2006; Gu et al., 2006; Pischon et al., 2008). The increase in mortality associated with obesity follows a linear pattern, with a rising death rate as BMI reaches above 25 kg/m² (Prospective Studies Collaboration et al., 2009). Prospective studies on the effects of metabolic (weight loss) surgery have confirmed the increased survival seen in individuals after weight loss, most notably due to decreased deaths from cardiovascular disease and cancer (Sjöström, 2013).

In South Africa, diabetes is the most common cause of death in adult females, followed by cardiovascular disease and hypertension, while tuberculosis is the most common cause of death in males (STATS South Africa, 2017). From 2015 to 2017, for both sexes, the most significant decline was seen in the proportion of deaths due to tuberculosis, while steady increases were observed in the proportion of deaths due to diabetes mellitus, hypertension, and ischaemic heart disease. The South African National Burden of Disease (NBD) team, together with local and international experts, revised the 2000 NBD list to reflect local cause of death patterns, which differs from the Global Burden of Disease (GBD) list (Pillay-van Wyk et al., 2016). All obesity-associated comorbidities (cerebrovascular disease, ischaemic heart disease, hypertension, and diabetes) remained in the top 10 causes of mortality. Globally, in 2015 the number of deaths from diabetes exceeded the combined mortality from HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis, and malaria.

In addition to mortality, the morbidity associated with obesity has been studied extensively, with metabolic and cardiovascular risks most well defined. The association between obesity and the development of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (T2DM) is the most significant and universally recognised. The British National Health System confirmed a 100-fold increase in the risk of development of T2DM over a 14-year period in women who had a baseline BMI > 35 kg/m² (Colditz et al., 1995; Nguyen et al., 2011). The Society for Endocrinology, Metabolism

and Diabetes of South Africa (SEMDSA) estimates that the number of people living with diabetes in Africa will increase by 140% by the year 2040, with obesity driving this diabetes epidemic (Amod, 2017). In 2019, 463 million people had diabetes worldwide, with 80% from low- and middle-income countries (Chan et al., 2021). While heavy drinking is related to weight gain, it is the development of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) and non-alcoholic steatohepatitis in many obese individuals that is of concern (Traversy and Chaput, 2015). This weight associated liver damage is worsened by even moderate amounts of alcohol consumption. There is an unfortunate dearth of data on the burden and spectrum of NAFLD in African populations, however, globally the prevalence is estimated to increase by 15-56% from 2016-2030, while liver mortality and advanced liver disease will more than double during this period (Estes et al., 2018; Paruk et al., 2019).

Obese individuals are also at increased risk for cancer; current estimations are that more than 20% of cancers are caused by obesity (Kyrgiou et al., 2017; Wolin et al., 2010). In 2016 the International Association for Research on Cancer declared excessive body fat to lead to the development of cancers of the oesophagus, stomach, colorectum, biliary tract, pancreas, kidney, endometrium, ovarium, breast, and thyroid (Lauby-Secretan et al., 2016). There is, however, no organ in the human body that is not adversely affected by the presence of excessive body fat, often in more ways than one. Evidence for the effects of obesity on the musculoskeletal, gastrointestinal, gynaecological, and urological systems are most robust (Bonfrate et al., 2014; Carbone et al., 2018; Oliveira et al., 2020; Perumpail et al., 2017).

Morbidity due to obesity was defined for the South African population based on a comparative risk assessment analysis of the 1998 South African Demographic and Health Survey (SADHS) data. This analysis revealed that 87% of T2DM, 68% of hypertension, 61% of endometrial cancer, 45% of ischemic stroke, 38% of ischemic heart disease, 31% of kidney cancer, 24% of osteoarthritis, 17% of colorectal cancer, and 13% of postmenopausal breast cancer were attributable to a raised BMI (Joubert et al., 2007).

The current COVID-19 pandemic has demonstrated that obesity is not only a risk for NCDs but can also be a risk factor for infectious diseases. Overweight and obese individuals have increased risk of developing severe COVID-19, including hospitalisation, intensive care support, and death (Parker et al., 2020; Popkin et al., 2020; Zhou et al., 2021). Increased COVID-19 mortality among individuals with obesity, diabetes, and hypertension highlight the importance of strengthening intersectoral public health policies.

1.1.2. Major risk factors for obesity

There is debate as to whether the causes of obesity, and thus the responsibility to address the increase in prevalence, lies with regulatory bodies (governments), providers (food industry), or the community (consumers). Researchers have shown that obesity is largely driven by environmental effects that undermine the self-regulatory capacity people have to make responsible decisions about personal diet and physical activity (Roberto et al., 2015).

Social determinants of health (the non-medical factors that influence health outcomes)¹ play a major role in influencing people's health including body weight. These include biological and behavioural factors, sociocultural factors, living and working conditions, and structural factors. Social determinants such as poor housing, inadequate water and sanitation, a sub-optimal food environment, high levels of alcohol and substance abuse, low levels of social cohesion, and inadequate health-system response are some of the main drivers of ill health in South Africa (Scott et al., 2017). **Commercial determinants** of health are defined as factors that influence health and which stem from the profit motive used by the private sector to promote products and choices that are detrimental. The commercial determinants of health cover three areas. First,

¹ The conditions in which people are born, grow, work, live, and age, and the wider set of forces and systems shaping the conditions of daily life. These forces and systems include economic policies and systems, development agendas, social norms, social policies and political systems. (World Health Organization)

they relate to unhealthy commodities that are contributing to ill-health. Secondly, they include business, market and political practices that are harmful to health and are used to sell these commodities and secure a favourable policy environment. Finally, they include the global drivers of ill-health, such as market-driven economies and globalisation, that have facilitated the use of such harmful practices (Mialon, 2020).

The rise in obesity is fuelled by a change in **diet** to low-cost, easily available, calorie-dense, and nutrientdeficient foods, allowing for little nutritional variety in what is ingested by the general population (Popkin, 2017). This creates a situation where health care systems are faced with increasing numbers of individuals where obesity co-exists with undernutrition, commonly referred to as the overfed but undernourished paradox. The ongoing increased intake of ultra-processed foods is well documented and largely driven by food systems and political economic factors (Baker et al., 2020; Laster and Frame, 2019). Poor nutrition literacy, lack of transparent nutritional value of purchased foods and lack of knowledge of the nutritional value of consumed foods contribute to poor food choices and obesity (Kalkan, 2019; Michou et al., 2018). The food environment is a critical determinant of food preferences and food choices. An obesogenic environment with high availability and intense marketing of unhealthy foods and drinks is a strong predictor of unhealthy food consumption, causing increases in obesity worldwide (Institute of Medicine, 2006; Smith et al., 2019; Swinburn et al., 2013). Recently, the Lancet used the term "syndemic" to associate climate change (a disease of nature) with the obesity epidemic (a human disease) (Willett et al., 2019). The most deleterious negative effect of climate change concerns the decreased biodiversity of both animal and plant species. Low biodiversity limits food choices and consequently affect the intake of nutrients, antioxidants, and other protective substances (Binns et al., 2021).

Sedentary behaviour and a lack of physical activity is another risk factor for obesity, as energy is expended at extremely low levels. Sedentary activities occur in a variety of different settings, including work, school, travel, and leisure time (Saunders and Vallance, 2017). Sedentary behaviour can be defined as "any waking behaviour characterized by an energy expenditure less than 1.5 (<1.5) metabolic equivalents (METs), while in a sitting, reclining or lying posture" (Tremblay et al., 2017). The most common sedentary activities include watching television, using computers, playing video games, other activities which consume screen time, reclining, socialising while sitting, desk-based work or schoolwork and non-active transport (Pate et al., 2011; Tremblay et al., 2017). A study of children aged 10 years old from 12 different countries found that the children spent an average of 8.6 hours per day engaging in sedentary activities and that 54% of the participants did not adhere to the recommended screen time guidelines (LeBlanc et al., 2012). The built environment provides opportunities or barriers for physical activity. Neighbourhood safety, traffic volume, walkability, population density, and the availability of green spaces, sport venues, and school playgrounds have been associated with physical activity levels (Terrón-Pérez et al., 2021). In addition, the effects of urbanisation and air-pollution on rising obesity prevalence has been well-documented (Lam et al., 2021; Parasin et al., 2021).

The **COVID-19 pandemic** has brought to the fore additional risk factors for obesity. Recent evidence regarding the effect of lockdowns and social distancing measures reveal increased exposure to obesogenic environments and disrupted participation in health promoting behaviour (Browne et al., 2021). Conversely, lessons learned from dealing with the COVID-19 pandemic could be used in public health systems to deal with the problem of obesity effectively and equitably (Chung et al., 2021).

1.2 Obesity trends and statistics

Globally, obesity trends have been best defined by the NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (NCD-RisC), 2017a). This study of 128.9 million children, adolescents and adults revealed the worldwide number of adult women with obesity increased from 69 million in 1975 to 390 million in 2016 and the number of men with obesity increased from 31 million in 1975 to 281 million in 2016. An additional 213 million children and adolescents and 1.30 billion adults were in the overweight range, but below the threshold for obesity. Most alarming is the increase in BMI in the youth, with the number of girls with obesity increasing

from 0.9% (5 million) in 1975 to 7.8% (50 million) in 2016 while the number of boys with obesity increased from 0.7% (6 million) in 1975 to 5.6% (74 million) in 2016. Notably, more than 55% of the global rise in mean BMI from 1985 to 2017 - and more than 80% in some low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) - was due to increases in BMI in rural areas (NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (NCD-RisC), 2019).

The Global Burden of Disease obesity collaborators analysed data from 68.5 million participants around the world (GBD 2015 Obesity Collaborators et al., 2017). From 1980-2015, a steady increase in obesity prevalence was seen in all countries, with prevalence doubling in more than 70 countries and rates of increase in childhood obesity greater than the rate of increase in adult obesity. The largest jump in global obesity prevalence was observed in men between the ages of 25-29 years living in countries with a low-middle socio-demographic index.

The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) estimates that in the population of their 37 member countries², one in five adults is obese and one in six children is overweight (OECD Obesity Update, 2017).

Global reports warn of rising trends in BMI, adolescent obesity, diabetes, and hypertension prevalence, with a disproportionate increase in LMICs when compared to high-income countries (NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (NCD-RisC), 2017a, 2017b, 2016). Of particular concern in LMICs is that this increase is most notable in rural areas (NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (NCD-RisC), 2019).

Obesity data for South Africa is found in the South African Demographic and Health Survey (SADHS) performed in 1998 and repeated in 2016 (National Department of Health (NDoH), Statistics South Africa (Stats SA), South African Medical Research Council (SAMRC), and ICF., 2018). Results from the 2016 SADHS provide information about individuals' health status and behaviours that can be compared with 1998 data (to determine past trend) or future data (to monitor effects of strategy implementation). In 2016, 31% of adult males, 67% of adult females, and 13% of under-5 children in South Africa were overweight or obese. Among women aged 15-24 years, overweight and obesity increased from 29.6% in 1998 to 39.8% in 2016, while in women aged 45-54 years it increased from 72% in 1998 to 81.9% in 2016. The prevalence of overweight or obesity among men was 29% in 1998 and 31% in 2016. Increases in average BMI occurred across all provinces. Furthermore, 46% of women and 44% of men aged 15 years and older in South Africa have hypertension. The prevalence of hypertension has nearly doubled since 1998, from 25% to 46% among women and from 23% to 44% among men. Most alarming are numbers for South Africans meeting criteria for pre-diabetes³: 64% of women and 66% of men are pre-diabetic, with an additional 13% of women and 8% of men confirmed to have diabetes. Furthermore, obesity primarily affects age categories that should contribute to the workforce.

The 2012 South African Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (SANHANES-1) provides further data for the South African population. SANHANES-1 aimed to assess aspects of the health and nutritional status of South Africans by means of questionnaire-based data (interviews) in combination with health measurements and laboratory tests, making use of a stratified cluster sampling approach (Shisana et al., 2014). The prevalence of overweight and obesity respectively was 24.8% and 39.2% in females, 20.1% and 10.6% in males, 16.5% and 7.1% in girls (aged 2-14 years), and 11.5% and 4.7% in boys (aged 2-14 years). The prevalence of hypertension was 31.8% and almost one out of four participants aged 15 years and older had an abnormally high serum total-cholesterol (23.9%) or LDL-cholesterol (24.6%). 18.4% of participants had impaired glucose homeostasis. Although no follow-up survey has been performed yet, parameters such as fitness, dietary salt, fat, sugar, fruit

² Australia, Austria, Belgium, Canada, Chile, Colombia, Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Japan, Korea, Latvia, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Mexico, Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Slovak Republic, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Turkey, United Kingdom, United States

³ Adjusted HbA1c level of 5.7%-6.4%

and vegetable intake, and sugar-sweetened beverages (SSB) consumption can be used in future to assess trends and effectiveness of strategy implementation.

The high prevalence of obesity in South Africa has been illustrated in the National Income Dynamic Study (NIDS) in sample sizes of 8,000 men and more than 10,000 women. NIDS is a longitudinal study of important socio-economic issues in South Africa and surveys and measurements are conducted in waves. The prevalence of overweight and obesity has steadily increased in the review period from 2009 to 2012 (wave 1 – wave 2) with the overall obesity rate in the NIDS sample rising between waves from 6.4% to 8.7% for men and from 27.6% to 32% for women (Ardington et al., 2012). For women, levels of obesity are highest in urban areas, but changes are significantly lower in urban areas, suggesting that the gap between urban and rural areas is closing over time. Both the levels and the changes in obesity between waves are highest for African females followed by coloured females, then Asian/Indian females, and then white females.

The significant increase in overweight and obesity prevalence in adults, and the increased prevalence of metabolic syndrome and cardiometabolic risk in South Africa, has been confirmed in numerous cohort studies (Kruger et al., 2021, 2017; Nienaber-Rousseau et al., 2017). For South African youth, recent data is harder to come by in published literature. The South African Youth Risk Behaviour Survey, performed by the Human Sciences Research Council, found that the overweight and obesity prevalence in adolescents increased between 2002 and 2011 from 16.9% to 23.1% (overweight) and 4% to 6.9% (obesity) (Reddy et al., 2013, 2010, 2009). Even though no follow up studies are available, regional publications for the period from 2012 to 2020 continue to report increasing trends in both overweight and obesity for South African youth (Kimani-Murage et al., 2011; Monyeki et al., 2012; Negash et al., 2017; Pisa et al., 2015).

The continued increased overweight and obesity prevalence in South Africa are alarming, given clarion calls of meeting the sustainable development goals (SDGs) to reduce obesity by the year 2030 (World Health Organization, 2016).

1.3 The cost of obesity

Loss of life due to obesity is not the only price to pay. The increased cost of treating associated comorbid diseases (such as acute myocardial infarction and cerebrovascular disease) presents a challenge to both private and public health care systems. In addition to individual cost implications due to decreased productivity and subsequent lower household income, both private and public health care costs for treating obesity-related diseases have become an enormous economic burden (Daviglus et al., 2004; Finkelstein et al., 2008; Narbro et al., 2002; Quesenberry et al., 1998).

Most data on the cost of obesity to health care systems is derived from the USA and UK, where the combined medical costs associated with treatment of preventable obesity-related diseases are estimated to increase by 48-66 billion US dollars per year in the USA, and by 2 billion British pounds per year in the UK, by 2030 (Wang et al., 2011). In 2007, the direct cost of obesity to the UK National Health Service was £3.2 billion (R41.7 billion) and the cost of being overweight (but not obese) was £2.2 billion (R34.4 billion) (Allender and Rayner, 2007). Furthermore, as overweight and obese children tend to remain in the same BMI category throughout their adult life, modelling of the German population estimated the excess lifetime cost per obese child to be 3.15 times and 4.52 times higher for boys and girls respectively when compared to normal weight individuals (Sonntag et al., 2016).

The only available estimate for the impact of obesity on the South African economy was performed by Discovery Health in their 2017 Discovery ObeCity Index (Discovery Obecity Index, 2017). This private health insurer evaluated BMI and waist circumference in six South African cities and compared their health care

spending. Results suggested that the economic impact of obesity in South Africa is R701 billion each year. This included obesity-related costs such as loss of productivity, medical spending, and absenteeism.

In a cost of illness study designed to estimate the direct cost of T2DM in the public sector in South Africa, the diagnosis and management of patients with diagnosed T2DM cost R2.7 billion in 2018 (Erzse et al., 2019). This amount increased to R21.8 billion if undiagnosed patients were considered. The 2030 cost of all T2DM cases is estimated to be R35.1 billion, with 51% of the cost attributable to the management of T2DM and 49% attributable to complications.

1.4 Specific challenges related to obesity in South Africa

1.4.1. Urbanisation and the nutrition transition

Urbanisation has been increasing steadily in sub-Saharan African countries since the 1970s and has been accompanied by growth of industry, including food manufacturing in urban areas (UNIDO, 2013). Since the 1990s dietary intakes in LMICs shifted from traditional locally available and home-grown food towards ultraprocessed foods and eating away from home. This transition was associated with higher intakes of fats and oils, salt, protein, and SSBs. At the same time physical activity decreased and sedentary time increased. In South Africa, the lack of facilities for physical activities, together with crime and insecurity, is a barrier to engaging in physical exercise (Statistics South Africa, 2017).

The increase in overweight in South Africa is associated with increased gross domestic product (GDP) and available dietary energy, protein, fat, and sugar (Steyn and McHiza, 2014). In many urban areas in South Africa, ultra-processed food items are regarded as desirable status symbols and widely consumed. In a study of SSB advertisements in a demarcated area in Soweto, authors found the density of advertisements to be 3.6 per km² near schools, with 50% of schools having branded advertising of SSBs on their school property (Moodley et al., 2015).

A recent study in Malawi, Kenya, Ghana and South Africa investigated shifts in nutritional status in children and adults. Among these four countries, South Africa had the highest GDP and highest prevalence of obesity among preschool children and adults (Mbogori et al., 2020). The increasing prevalence of overweight and obesity was much greater than the declining rate of underweight and appears to be associated with economic development. These findings emphasise the importance of early public health interventions to prevent obesity associated with the nutrition transition. Despite the major health implications, few LMICs have public health programmes addressing the dietary and physical activity challenges associated with obesity and its comorbidities (Popkin et al., 2012).

The school food environment in South Africa was better defined in a recent report on food access and consumption amongst grade 7 learners in a LMI area in Cape Town (O'Halloran et al., 2021). Researchers made use of questionnaires, learner photography, school principal interview, a tuckshop inventory and observation of three-day tuckshop purchases. Processed meats and fizzy drinks were present in two thirds of the homes and sweets, chocolates, jam, biscuits and crisps were present in 44–54% of homes. Spaza shops, General Dealers and supermarkets were the food outlets most frequented by household members. An inventory of the tuckshop revealed that only unhealthy snack foods were available for sale and, according to our purchase observation, the most popular snack items bought were sweets, chocolates and biscuits. De Villiers and colleagues showed in a survey of 100 schools in urban and rural areas in the Western Cape, that the most common items sold by street vendors were sweets, crisps, ice lollies, doughnuts, hot dogs/burgers and fat cakes (fried dough balls) (de Villiers et al., 2012).

1.4.2. Cultural perceptions and obesity normalisation

A nationally representative survey of anthropometric factors based on the 1998 SADHS found that the highest prevalence of obesity among South African adults, when stratified by sex and race, is found in black South African women, and yet the self-perception of overweight or obesity is much higher in white women compared to black women (Puoane et al., 2002). The researchers speculated that traditional and cultural perceptions concerning body size play a role in national obesity patterns. As obesity becomes more prevalent, people may also underestimate their weight (Robinson, 2017). In a qualitative study using focus group discussions in Soweto, Johannesburg (a setting which has undergone rapid urbanisation and nutrition transition), both men and women reported that they preferred bigger bodies; males linked bigger bodies to wealth and affluence while females associated bigger bodies to beauty, happiness and confidence (Bosire et al., 2020). Being 'fat' or 'overweight' were perceived to be 'normal' when compared with obesity which was seen to be a debilitating or disabling condition. This illustrates that most people were aware of obesity but perceived it more in terms of morbid obesity or extremes of fatness. These findings indicate that regular visual exposure to bigger bodies (partly due to unchanging socio-cultural factors that reinforce the acceptability of bigger bodies) plays a role in the poor detection and consequent underestimation of body weight. South Africans on average tend to underestimate their BMI (Mchiza et al., 2020). Individuals might not seek a solution (weight control) if they do not recognise that a problem (overweight) exists.

1.4.3. Food insecurity and nutrition education

A small study of food-insecure residents (as framed by the Food Aid Organization definition of food security⁴) within a peri-urban area of South Africa found that participants lacked economic access to food at the end of the month, they were unable to consume foods they preferred, and they felt that their diets were neither nutritious nor enabled an active and healthy life (Hunter-Adams et al., 2019). Time, cooking space, ingredients, and fuel to cook with all represent different aspects of food security. If these basics are lacking it results in consumption of easily accessible and cheap foods that do not require cooking, such as fast food or sliced bread. Furthermore, the current COVID-19 pandemic has exacerbated food insecurity. There is a need for policies that address all forms of malnutrition by making healthy foods accessible and affordable, while restricting unhealthy foods through fiscal and regulatory restrictions (NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (NCD-RisC), 2021).

A study in 90 purposively selected poorly resourced schools in South Africa showed that 22% of learners skipped breakfast, 24% brought a lunch box mostly filled with bread, and vegetables were served in only 41% of schools on the day of the survey (Faber et al., 2014). Poverty (74%) and high food prices (68%) were major challenges for healthy eating. Only 15% of teachers had received training in nutrition although 81% of educators taught nutrition as part of school subjects. The school food environment in SA has large scope for improvement towards the promotion of healthy eating and regulating foods sold in tuckshops and by food vendors.

1.4.4. The South African food industry and marketing

The South Africa fast food market size was valued at \$2.7 billion in 2018 and is expected to reach \$4.9 billion by 2026, driven by an increase in consumption of convenience food due to a rise in availability of vendors (Allied Market Research, 2019). Although the food and beverage sector has been hard hit by Covid-19 lockdown prohibition, takeaway and fast food sectors are showing signs of recovery much faster than restaurants and bars (Statistics South Africa, 2021). A large part of the South-African population purchase street food and fast food, with Black Africans being the most frequent consumers of street food and whites of fast food (Steyn et al., 2011; Steyn and Labadarios, 2011). In lower- to middle-income communities, fast food outlets are typically more available than they are in high-income communities in urban areas (Michimi and Wimberly, 2015). In a study of schools in South-Africa, 57% of learners brought money to school in lieu of a

⁴ Physical and economic access to sufficient safe and nutritious food that meets dietary needs and food preferences for an active and healthy life

lunch box, but tuckshops and vendors in the school environment sold mostly unhealthy foods (Faber et al., 2014).

The Access To Nutrition Foundation (ATNF) monitors the policies and practices of international food & beverage manufacturers, including the dominant companies in South Africa. Their 2021 Access To Nutrition Index Report took into consideration 22 leading food manufacturing companies (Access to Nutrition Foundation, 2021). Similar to 2018, Nestlé leads the 2021 rankings, Unilever comes second, with Arla showing the largest improvement due to a new labelling policy, responsible marketing policies, and an improvement in healthiness of its product portfolio. However, the average score remained the same, and overall, the results show that companies need to enhance their efforts to encourage healthier diets for all.

Television is a powerful medium for marketing food and beverages. In a recent study investigating the extent and nature of advertising of unhealthy versus healthy food and beverages to South African children watching television, unhealthy food and beverage advertising was recorded at a significantly higher rate during the time frame when children were likely to be watching (Yamoah et al., 2021). Persuasive power strategies, such as using cartoon characters and celebrated individuals, were used more in unhealthy versus healthy food advertisements. The findings are in breach of the South African Marketing to Children pledge and suggest a failure of the industry self-regulation system (South African Government, 2011).

1.4.5. Lack of data

Lack of data is a universal challenge encountered in health promotion strategies, and obesity is no exception. Historically, BMI has been used to indicate effectiveness of strategic intervention, and although useful as a broad indicator, it is not a perfect indicator of metabolic health and relatively resource-intensive to gather.

Timely, easily understood, concise, and locally relevant data is needed to inform policy development to prevent obesity. Relevant data should be drawn from multiple sectors, and cross-sector collaboration is therefore essential. Indicators for implemented strategies should be developed and included in current data collection tools to ensure that monitoring and evaluation (M&E) is effective (Erzse et al., 2021).

The South Africa General Household Survey (GHS) collects annual household data on education, household income, availability of energy and drinking water, means of transport and access to food (Statistics South Africa, 2018). Since 2009, the survey measures food access by asking about modifications made in household diet or eating patterns during the previous month because of limited resources to obtain food. This single question used in 2009 was expanded in 2010; a question was added related to decreases in the variety of foods consumed. Due to the demonstrated flexibility to incorporate new questions about diet, the GHS has been identified as a potential target for future monitoring of obesity-related data over time.

1.4.6. Lack of research funding

The South African Medical Research Council (SAMRC) and the National Research Foundation (NRF) are the biggest research funders in South Africa. Only one obesity research study could be found in the latest SAMRC annual report: a landmark international study to improve understanding of, and address the mechanisms, underlying child obesity (SAMRC Annual Report, 2020). The NRF, housed in the NDoH, did not have any mention of obesity in its annual report or website search.

1.5 Strategy for the prevention and control of obesity in South Africa (2015-2020)

Due to the increasing prevalence of overweight and obesity and associated non-communicable diseases (NCDs), coupled with increases in the cost of treating NCDs, the NDoH in line with National Development Plan vision 2030 put into place strategic measures and guidance to reduce obesity in the population of South Africa. The 2015-2020 National Strategy for the Prevention and Control of Obesity in South Africa is a population-

focused approach concentrated on policy, context, and environmental change. The 2015-2020 obesity strategy was put together by the NDoH in consultation with researchers from numerous universities and other stakeholders.

The strategy aimed to address obesity through modifying the obesogenic environments and reducing the drivers of obesity, while providing opportunities for increased physical activity and healthy food options in every possible setting (including health care facilities, early development centres, schools, workplaces, and the community at large). The strategy identified numerous multi-sectoral, multidisciplinary approaches that are essential to combat the growing obesity epidemic. In addition, the strategy provided a framework for implementation of key actions including an objective to strengthen research, surveillance and monitoring and evaluation.

No interim evaluation reports on the Strategy for the Prevention and Control of Obesity in South Africa (2015-2020) could be found on the NDoH website or elsewhere.

2. AVAILABLE GUIDANCE ON OBESITY INTERVENTIONS

The **NOURISH framework** was developed by the World Cancer Research Fund International and is based on the premise that to change consumer behaviour towards the consumption of healthy food, there should be an increase in availability, accessibility and affordability of healthy food options and a decrease in the availability, accessibility and affordability of unhealthy food options. The framework provides a food policy package for healthy diets for the prevention of obesity and diet related NCDs. It comprises three broad domains of policy actions which should be considered in responding to unhealthy diets in the communities: the food environment, food system and behavioural change communication (Hawkes et al., 2013).

The Bellagio **Conference on Program and Policy Options for Preventing Obesity in the Low- and Middle-Income Countries** in 2013 compiled a guide for LMICs to assist with obesity prevention (Popkin et al., 2013). Several critical barriers to implementation were identified, the most significant being food industry pushback, limited ability by governments to protect public policy development, and weak civil society support. An additional finding was that the following programmes and policies would benefit from more research to better evaluate their impacts: front of package labelling (FOPL), restrictions on marketing of unhealthy foods, improvement in school food standards and options, food taxes and subsidies, price incentive schemes, retail environment changes, and corporate voluntary efforts.

The International Network for Food and Obesity/NCDs Research, Monitoring and Action Support (INFORMAS) is a global network of public-interest organisations and researchers that monitor, benchmark and support public and private sector actions to improve and create food environments that reduce obesity, NCDs and their related inequalities (Swinburn et al., 2013). The **INFORMAS framework** focuses on monitoring the key aspects pertaining to food environments in countries over time, with the purpose of strengthening the accountability of governments and the private sector in issues pertaining to the impact of their policies and actions on food environments, obesity and NCDs. The proposed monitoring framework includes contextual factors, population risk factors, and characteristics of food environments (such as the nutrient composition of available foods, the availability of foods in communities, prices and affordability of foods, and the risks to food environments within trade and investment agreements). Data collection activities should occur on a regular basis to enable assessment of trends and update benchmarks of good practice.

In 2014 the WHO established the **Commission on Ending Childhood Obesity** to provide policy recommendations to governments to prevent infants, children, and adolescents from developing obesity, and to identify and treat pre-existing obesity in children and adolescents (World Health Organization, 2017). Their Ending Childhood Obesity implementation plan guides member states to focus on six key areas, with further details provided in the full report:

- 1. Implement comprehensive programmes that promote the intake of healthy foods and reduce the intake of unhealthy foods and SSBs by children and adolescents.
- 2. Implement comprehensive programmes that promote physical activity and reduce sedentary behaviours in children and adolescents.
- 3. Integrate and strengthen guidance for NCD prevention with current guidance for preconception and antenatal care, to reduce the risk of childhood obesity.
- 4. Provide guidance on, and support for, healthy diet, sleep, and physical activity in early childhood to ensure children grow appropriately and develop healthy habits.
- 5. Implement comprehensive programmes that promote healthy school environments, health and nutrition literacy and physical activity among school-age children and adolescents.
- 6. Provide family-based, multicomponent, lifestyle weight management services for children and young people who are obese.

The commission recommend that emphasis should be on taking ownership, providing leadership, and engaging political commitment to tackle childhood obesity over the long term. All relevant stakeholders should be engaged including the private sector and all government sectors and institutions responsible for policies, including education, food and agriculture, commerce and industry, development, finance and revenue, sport and recreation, communication, environmental and urban planning, transport and social affairs, and trade. Data collection on BMI by age should help set national (local) time-bound targets for childhood obesity.

3. EVIDENCE ON OBESITY PREVENTION AND CONTROL INTERVENTIONS

Obesity prevention and control strategies can be broadly organised into three groups by the degree to which an intervention involves individual agency versus structural change (Backholer et al., 2014). *Agentic interventions* aim to increase individual knowledge or skills to make healthier choices, leaving the environment unchanged. *Structural interventions*, by contrast, change the environmental context within which individual behaviours occur, thereby diminishing individual agency. *Agento-structural interventions* are situated between the two, as they address structural aspects of environments while requiring a level of individual agency for behavioural change.

In regard to agentic interventions, "nudge theory" uses positive reinforcement and indirect suggestions to influence the behaviour and decision-making of groups or individuals. A recent systematic review and metaanalysis confirmed the effectiveness of nudge strategies to change dietary choices to healthier ones (Arno and Thomas, 2016).

Policy-based approaches often have a wider reach and are more enduring compared with other types of interventions because they codify change and survive transitions in leadership (Cobiac et al., 2013; Magnusson, 2008). Compared with individually targeted interventions, population-level policy can offer larger and more sustained benefits for population health and at a lower cost to society. However, an equity-focused systematic review including 36 papers showed that the equity impact of most policies examined, be they agentic, agento-structural, or structural in nature, was neutral (Olstad et al., 2016). These results were broadly consistent when findings were stratified by participant population (children versus adults), level of implementation (microenvironment versus macroenvironment), and by anthropometric and behavioural outcomes. Characteristics of policies more or less likely to improve inequities could not be clearly ascertained. However, fiscal measures (including both taxes and subsidies) proved powerful, with free/subsidised school fruit/vegetable/healthy meal schemes having neutral impacts on inequities in several studies, while tax-related fiscal measures had consistently neutral or positive impacts. These findings were further underscored in a 2021 study from Mexico that compared the equitability of individual- and population-level interventions to reduce obesity (Vidaña-Pérez et al., 2021). Mathematical models determined that a 20% SSB tax produced the largest estimated increase (4.50%) in normal BMI prevalence, was the most cost effective, and had the largest and most equitable decrease in obesity across socioeconomic categories. Pharmacotherapy and metabolic

surgery produced sizable decreases in obesity prevalence (3.68% and 1.18%), whereas dietary advice had the lowest impact on normal and obese categories.

The following section will examine different interventions which can be included in national strategies for the prevention and control of obesity. Interventions can be organised according to targeted life-stages: 'antenatal and infant', 'preschool (2–6 years) and school age (6–18 years)' and 'adolescence and adulthood'.

3.1 Antenatal and infant interventions

3.1.1. Antenatal interventions

Interventions during pregnancy show poor efficacy in reducing childhood obesity, however, positive effects can be found on maternal or neonatal conditions considered risk factors for childhood overweight/obesity such as maternal weight gain, gestational diabetes, small for gestational age and low birth weight infants. Balanced protein/energy supplementation and nutrition and exercise counselling were found to be useful in reducing these risk factors (Blake-Lamb et al., 2020). Dietary counselling reduced the risk of gestational diabetes by 46%, thus showing promise as it can act on a known overweight/obesity risk factors for the child (Grobler et al., 2019).

3.1.2. Promotion and support for breastfeeding

The effect of breastfeeding (BF) and breastfeeding promotion interventions on childhood obesity have been extensively studied, with mixed results. The vast majority suggest that longer-term exclusive BF (to at least 6 months of age, as recommended by the WHO) significantly reduces the risk for childhood obesity. Three metaanalyses, examining dozens of studies between them, concluded that the risk of childhood obesity is greatly reduced by BF in infancy (Arenz et al., 2004; Harder et al., 2005; Yan et al., 2014). Comparing exclusive to nonexclusive BF, the evidence is not conclusive regarding a greater protective effect against the risk of childhood obesity of the first vs. the second (Patro-Gołąb et al., 2016a). The WHO recommends the use of a cup to feed infants with breastfeeding difficulties in low resource settings (World Health Organization, 2019). Cups are more easily sanitized than bottles and only require that the infant be able to swallow and breathe, demanding less energy and skill than the more complex suck-swallow-breathe mechanism needed for BF. It has been extensively studied as a measure in infants who need to be fed by an alternative oral feeding method, with no reports available regarding its effect on obesity.

Potential mechanisms by which exclusive BF reduces the risk of childhood obesity include differences in the macronutrient profiles and bioactive components of formula versus breast milk, differential effects on the gut microbiota, and that babies who feed directly from the breast are less likely to be overfed (Azad et al., 2018). Breastfeeding babies self-regulate (they stop sucking when they are full), whereas bottle-feeding often involves the parent or caregiver pushing the baby to finish the bottle. In this way, breastfed babies learn to eat only when hungry and to stop eating when full, which is a valuable skill for maintaining healthy weight.

The ability for mothers to BF involves more than just awareness of its benefits; BF promotion and support programmes need to be informed by locally relevant challenges that mothers face in South Africa, such as lack of family or social support, inappropriate advice from health workers, or returning to work/school (Jama et al., 2017).

3.1.3. Formula milk

Studies on the characteristics of formula milk in the first year of life in relation to the risk of overweight or obesity focus mainly on the protein content. Lower protein formulas are associated with lower weight and weight z-scores between 6 and 12 months, with lower BMI between 12 months and 6 years of age and with a lower risk of obesity at 6 years in the absence of conclusive data on body composition (Patro-Gołąb et al., 2016b).

3.1.4. Complementary feeding

Timing and protein intake are the two most studied aspects in relation to complementary feeding. Available evidence regarding the timing of introduction of complementary feeds is conflicting, with some reports supporting introduction no earlier than 4-6 months, with others stating that 'the appropriate age range depends on the individual's characteristics and development, even more so if the infant was born preterm' (EFSA Panel on Nutrition, Novel Foods and Food Allergens (NDA) et al., 2019; Fewtrell et al., 2017). Exclusive on demand BF and introduction of complementary feeds no earlier than 6 months of age remain the current WHO recommendation (World Health Organization, 2021). Regarding protein intake, the ESPGHAN (European Society for Paediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology, and Nutrition) suggests not exceeding 15% of the total energy intake at the time of complementary feeding as a protective measure against subsequent overweight/obesity (ESPGHAN, 2017).

3.2 Preschool (2-6 years) and school age (6-18 years) interventions

The 2018 HAKSA Report Card on Physical Activity for Children and Youth provides data regarding physical activity (PA) of South African school-aged children (Draper et al., 2018). A study that objectively measured PA (ISCOLE, 9-11 years old, across income settings), and one study using self-report, indicated that between 48-51.7% of children are meeting the recommended one-hour of moderate- to vigorous-intensity PA per day (Roman-Viñas et al., 2016; Sampasa-Kanyinga et al., 2017). Children spend an average of 3.3 hours per day using screens, with only 34% of children meeting the screen time guideline of <2 hours per day. The proportion of children participating in school physical education in South Africa was only 32% (Silva et al., 2018). Compliance with the Sport and Recreation South Africa national school sport programme (a core deliverable in the 2016-2017 strategic plan) appeared poor, and there is a lack of documented evidence of policy implementation and evaluation (Draper et al., 2018).

3.2.1. School based interventions

Bleich et al. completed a robust review of randomised controlled trials conducted in preschool (6 studies) and school (24 studies) settings (Bleich et al., 2018). Most of the programmes with completely positive or mixed effects combined diet and physical activity interventions and most programmes with positive outcomes included the home environment as a secondary site of intervention. Seventeen studies had favourable and statistically significant effects for at least one adiposity outcome, with most of these based at schools rather than preschools. In an evaluation of the efficacy of childhood obesity interventions, the following components were most effective in changing obesity-related health outcomes in children 2–5 years of age: engaging caregivers in praise/encouragement for positive health-related behaviour, providing education about the importance of screen time reduction to caregivers, and engaging paediatricians and health care providers (Scott-Sheldon et al., 2020). School based gardening activities, although costly and time-consuming, lead to increased intake of healthier foods (notably vegetables), with a modest but positive impact on BMI measurements (Davis et al., 2021; Landry et al., 2019; Rochira et al., 2020). Engaging teachers to implement nutrition curricula support sustainable obesity prevention efforts in the school environment and nutrition literacy programs lead to higher consumption of fruits and vegetables, while the consumption of energy-dense food and SSBs decrease (Hawkins et al., 2021; Vieira and Carvalho, 2021).

3.2.2. Regulation of marketing of unhealthy products to children

Children are exposed to various forms of food marketing, the majority of which comprise ultra-processed foods and drinks. Sweetened breakfast cereals, salty or sugary snacks, sweets, SSBs, and fast food are high in fats, sugar and salt which increase desirability of these products in the target audience (Adams et al., 2012; Correa et al., 2020; Harris et al., 2009; Kelly et al., 2010; Wicks et al., 2016). A strong link exists between food advertisements on TV, preference requests, and consumption of unhealthy food and beverages among

children (Boyland and Whalen, 2015; Smith et al., 2019). Several international organisations recommend restriction of marketing and advertising of unhealthy foods to children as a strategy to prevent obesity (Global Food Research Program, 2021).

Transnational companies create obesogenic environments that are flooded with persuasive advertisements and marketing of ultra-processed foods and drinks. They spend billions of dollars per annum designing sophisticated marketing strategies that are aimed at increasing exposure and acceptability of unhealthy foods and drinks among children and adolescents (Igumbor et al., 2012; Institute of Medicine, 2006; Moodie et al., 2013; Story and French, 2004). Children fall prey to these adverts as they lack nutrition knowledge and are unable to separate fact from fallacy when exposed to advertisements, resulting in excessive energy consumption (Institute of Medicine, 2006). This young age group is profitable to industry in that children and adolescents independently make their own purchasing decisions, hold power to influence household purchases, may develop brand loyalty from a younger age and are future consumers (Story and French, 2004). TV advertisements remain the main vehicle for promotion of unhealthy food; other platforms include magazines, newspapers, billboards, social media, websites, video games and promotion on public buildings such as schools, clinics and sports grounds (Montgomery and Chester, 2009; Story and French, 2004). Product packaging is another powerful medium that industry uses to market products, often using cartoon characters, celebrities, sports figures, characters in movies and TV, and attractive colours and shapes on product packages to increase product appeal among youth (Elliott and Truman, 2020; Huang et al., 2016).

At least sixteen countries have implemented statutory regulations on food marketing to children, the most common approach being prohibition of advertising on children's TV channels or during children's TV programmes (Taillie et al., 2019). In South Korea for example, marketing to children is prohibited between 5pm-7pm and at any time during children's programmes; in Mexico, TV advertisements for restricted foods are banned between 2.30pm-7.30pm weekdays and 7am-7.30pm weekends when the audience is >35% children, and in Chile the ban extends from 6am-10pm (Anselmi, 2018). Chile's National Law of Advertising and Marketing aims to restrict marketing and advertising of unhealthy foods and beverages high in energy, fats, sugar and/or sodium to children below the age of 14 years, and to ban these foods in school kiosks and feeding programmes (Corvalán et al., 2019, 2013). Results from Chile revealed that adolescents' exposure to TV advertising decreased after the 2016 implementation of the law, while no dietary changes could be demonstrated (Jensen et al., 2021). The marketing restrictions in Chile extend beyond TV advertising to other media platforms including radio, magazines, social media, billboards, pamphlets, and websites. Marketing of unhealthy products is also prohibited in public places commonly used by children and adolescents such as day care centres, cinemas, parks, gymnasiums, swimming pools, community centres, as well as in public and private transport, and at public events with children or adolescent participation such as sports, cultural or fan events. Other marketing strategies that appeal to children such as cartoon characters, animation, children's music, child actors, free toys, or interactive games that could attract children's attention are also prohibited. A study conducted to evaluate the impact of a ban on sales of unhealthy food within school premises in Chile revealed that unhealthy food sales decreased from 90.4% in 2014 to 15.0% in 2016 (Massri et al., 2019).

One challenge that follows restricted TV marketing is that companies may increase the use of other avenues to market their products. After implementation of new regulations in Slovenia, TV adverts increased in the time slots outside of the restricted times, resulting in little or no difference in the amount of viewing (Lavriša et al., 2020). In South Korea, a significant decrease in TV advertisements was accompanied by increased online, mobile, and social media adverts (Lee et al., 2017).

The WHO has released a set of recommendations to provide a framework for its member states when implementing restrictions on marketing to children (World Health Organization, 2006). The policy aims to regulate responsible marketing by industry and to reduce the impact of marketing of foods high in saturated fats, trans-fatty acids, free sugars, or salt on children.

3.2.3. Nutritional standards for school meals

The South African National School Nutrition Programme (NSNP) aims to provide a daily nutritious meal with at least 30% of the recommended dietary allowance for children over the age of 4 years to learners from socioeconomic quintiles 1 to 3 (Hazell, 2016). The NSNP provides one daily meal to 9 million children during school terms, supplemented by an additional breakfast to 40,000 children in the poorest schools. The prescribed daily meal of the NSNP consists of a starchy food, a protein dish and vegetables or fruit.

Two schools in the Eastern Cape province that initiated NSNP meals for the first time were followed up for 6 months, during which time the prevalence of overweight and obesity among learners decreased from 26% to 19% (Graham et al., 2018). This suggests that a nutritious daily meal may have protective effects against overweight and obesity among primary school aged children.

A meta-analysis of interventions in the school food environment from all over the world showed that almost all interventions focussed on the availability of different foods in the school environment, 60% involved the direct provision of food, and 31% addressed the regulation of vending machines, kiosks, and food stores, or the introduction of cafes, snack bars, or fruit and vegetable buffets. Only 12% of internal school food environment interventions were effective and 3% had a partial effect in the reduction of BMI. The authors concluded that policy actions are necessary to improve school food environments to sustain healthy dietary intake and prevent obesity, but that the effect may not be sustainable if an unhealthy food environment around schools competes with a healthy in-school environment (Pineda et al., 2021). The food environment around schools includes the location and concentration of food retailers such as convenience stores, takeaways, and fast food outlets within a 5km radius of the school (Williams et al., 2014).

3.2.4. Cultural tailoring

A scoping review of childhood obesity prevention studies conducted between 2005 and 2019 in the USA found that cultural tailoring was a component in a substantial proportion of interventions (Kumanyika, 2020). Cultural tailoring is creating a health message which recognises and reinforces a group's cultural values, beliefs, and behaviours and builds upon those to provide context and meaning to the message. The approach applied in this project can support implementation research to answer questions about what it takes for an intervention to be well designed and delivered for effectiveness in diverse settings.

3.3 Interventions targeting adolescence and adulthood

3.3.1. Communication and technology

Mass media and emerging technology (smartphone applications, fitness trackers, and online social networks) may be an effective way to educate individuals and help overcome obesity, in part through online interaction with health care providers and health-conscious peers (Awofeso et al., 2019). Previous reviews and metaanalyses have shown that digital health technologies can be an effective vehicle to promote a healthy lifestyle, most notably by increasing healthy eating habits and physical activity (Lentferink et al., 2017; Matthews et al., 2016; Schembre et al., 2018). As the field of behavioural medicine continues to leverage digital tools to improve the reach and effectiveness of interventions, academic-industry partnerships should be explored (Arigo et al., 2019).

Regarding the management of obesity, the use of social media has had mixed results. An analysis of 12 studies evaluating the effect of interventions using social networking services revealed a modest but significant reduction in BMI from baseline (Ashrafian et al., 2014). Effectiveness regarding obesity prevention by encouraging overall healthier lifestyles is more promising. A recent meta-analysis revealed that eHealth interventions significantly promoted physical activity and healthy diet although not contributing to a healthy weight status (Duan et al., 2021). Furthermore, in a mixed methods study involving healthy young adults using

a social networking mobile application for 6 months, participants in the underweight-normal BMI group significantly increased their daily step count over the study duration, while participants in the overweightobese group did not sustain a short-term decrease in their BMI and mentioned negative emotions from app use (Laranjo et al., 2020). Most participants mentioned a desire for a more personalised intervention.

The social and behavioural change communication (SBCC) team for NCD prevention in South Africa aims to support the design, implementation and evaluation of practical and strategic communication activities (Better Health Project South Africa, 2021). The team has identified global and local examples of successful mass media campaigns to promote a healthy diet and exercise, as well as solutions to barriers such as limited resources, community participation, and governmental intersectoral action. In a recent analysis of the 2020 National Nutrition and Obesity Week campaign, strengths included the ability to engage multiple stakeholders while weaknesses included limited attention to a costed workplan, a theory of change and a monitoring and evaluation plan (Better Health Project South Africa, 2021).

3.3.2. Household food production and community gardens

There is evidence to support home gardening as a means to increase fruit and vegetable consumption, with gardeners less likely to be obese (Kegler et al., 2020). In a recent scoping review on the impact of community gardening in Kenya and South Africa, researchers found that reports were mostly cross-sectional in design, with limited results on health impact, unable therefore to properly investigate causal relationships (Hutton et al., 2021). However, the evidence collated in this review supports the argument that community food production programmes and initiatives benefit health, economic and social wellbeing and support sustainability within the environment.

3.3.3. Tax on sugar sweetened beverages (SSBs)

Price increase in the form of tax is one of the most common fiscal interventions to curb consumption of unhealthy foods and beverages by making the unhealthy options less economically attractive (Andreyeva et al., 2010; Sassi et al., 2018). The premise for food or beverage taxation is decreased affordability of unhealthy products resulting in consumers shifting to more affordable products (Andreyeva et al., 2010; World Cancer Research Fund, 2021). Consumers from low socio-economic backgrounds are sensitive to price increases and there is evidence of altered purchasing behaviour following the implementation of these taxes (Sassi et al., 2018).

SSBs include soft drinks, fruit drinks, milk drinks, iced tea, and energy and vitamin water sweetened with added sugars. A strong relationship exists between consumption of SSBs and obesity (Malik et al., 2010; Te Morenga et al., 2014). In addition, SSBs also independently relate to the development of NCDs such as diabetes, some cancers, and cardiovascular diseases (de Koning et al., 2012; Drouin-Chartier et al., 2019; Singh, 2016). These products are energy dense, easy to consume in large quantities without reducing the total amount of food consumed, and they contribute to increases in both childhood and adult obesity worldwide (DiMeglio and Mattes, 2000; Mourao et al., 2007; Sánchez-Pimienta et al., 2016). While SSBs are considered unhealthy and taxed by governments, 100% fruit juices are not considered under the category of SSBs and have largely been untouched by policy. Additionally, no evidence regarding mandatory warnings accompanying 100% fruit juices could be found, despite the high sugar content (Coelho, 2017). However, researchers recently identified which fruit juice sugar information labels would be best understood by the consumer, which provides easy to implement actions for policymakers (Sah et al., 2021).

Globally more than 40 countries, including South Africa, have implemented tax on SSBs (Global Food Research Program, 2021). Evaluation studies in the USA, UK, and Mexico showed that SSB taxes reduced purchasing and consumption of SSBs, increased consumption of healthier alternatives such as water or zero-sugar drinks, and incentivised industry to reduce sugar content through reformulation (Bandy et al., 2020; Colchero et al., 2017;

Falbe et al., 2020; Pell et al., 2021; Powell and Leider, 2020; Scarborough et al., 2020). In Mexico, the greatest reduction was achieved among low income groups and those with greatest consumption (Colchero et al., 2017). A recent publication in South Africa revealed a reduction in mean sugar intake, reduction of taxed beverage sales and increase in selection of untaxed beverages (milk, bottled water, 100% fruit juice, and alcohol) (Stacey et al., 2021). Similar to Mexico, and underscoring results from a recent meta-analysis, these changes were more pronounced in lower income groups, suggesting that a reduction in consumption of SSBs is an equitable intervention associated with health benefits for socio-economic disadvantage communities (Backholer et al., 2016).

In a synthesis of findings on the 2016 South African government proposed SSB tax of 20%, followed until April 2021, authors provided valuable insight into its implementation in South Africa (Hofman et al., 2021). Protracted consultations with beverage manufacturers and the sugar industry resulted in a lower SSB tax, the Health Promotion Levy, of approximately 10% coming into effect in April 2018. Despite the lower-than-planned rate, purchases of SSBs and sugar intake from SSBs fell. There were greater reductions in SSB purchases among lower socioeconomic groups and in subpopulations with higher SSB consumption. These groups bear larger burdens from obesity and related diseases, again suggesting that this policy improves health equity.

3.3.4. Easy to understand schemes of food labelling

Front of package food labelling (FOPL) that summarises the more detailed nutritional information usually located at the back or sides of the pack is a quick and easy method to communicate nutrition information to consumers (Cecchini and Warin, 2016; Hawley et al., 2013; World Health Organization, 2020). Consumers tend to find the more detailed nutrition facts panel difficult to interpret due to the numbers and terminology used, inconvenient due to its location at the back, and time consuming (Centurión et al., 2019; Ducrot et al., 2016; Taillie et al., 2017). Adoption of simple, easy to understand FOPL is recommended to assist consumers of all social levels to easily identify unhealthy products at a glance.

Front of package food labelling systems differ according to the type and number of nutrients presented on the label, amount of nutrition information presented, label design, reference values and whether the label provides any interpretive guidance to the consumers (EUFIC, 2018; World Health Organization, 2020). Labels that interpret the nutritional quality (interpretive) rather than state the nutrient levels (reductive) are more effective in assisting consumers identify unhealthy products (Cecchini and Warin, 2016; Taillie et al., 2017). Interpretive FOPL include Multiple Traffic Light (MTL) and nutrient warning labels, and reductive FOPL include Guideline Dietary Intakes (GDA) (Hamlin et al., 2015).

Interpretive FOPLs use aids such as colour, pictorial images or icons, shapes and text associated with warning or danger to make the labels easier to understand (Hammond, 2011; Wogalter et al., 2002). The use of icons or pictorial images (shapes such as the triangle, octagon, and circles) and colours such as red and black increases the understandability of the labels especially for the less literate, children and the elderly (Fleyeh, 2004; Houts et al., 2006; Wogalter et al., 2002). These designs furthermore increased risk perception linked to overconsumption of the labelled product (Kelly et al., 2009). Multiple Traffic Light labelling is a preferred FOPL format due to its common and attractive colours (red, amber and green), however consumers can find it difficult to interpret when the label contains two or all three colours simultaneously (Kees et al., 2014; Machín et al., 2018b).

A review of studies revealed that nutrient warning labels tend to better assist consumers to identify unhealthy products than either the GDA or the MTL (Taillie et al., 2020). Nutrient warning labels highlight nutrients and other food components, such as artificial sweeteners, that are in excess in a food product. They are mandatory in countries such as Chile, Israel, Uruguay, Peru, and Mexico (Chile Ministry of Health, 2015; Israel Ministry of Health, 2017; Ministerio de Salud Pública Uruguay, 2018; Ministry of Health Peru, 2018; Secretaría de

Economía, 2020). Studies have demonstrated that consumers, including children, are better able to identify unhealthy products, understand excess nutrient content, and are more inclined to limit purchases of SSBs and other ultra-processed foods when they are confronted by warning labels as compared to other label types (Arrúa et al., 2017; Khandpur et al., 2018; Machín et al., 2018a).

3.3.5. Reformulation of processed foods with reduced salt, fat, and sugar content

International organisations recommend product reformulation by industry as one strategy to reduce the salt, saturated fats, trans-fats, energy and sugar content in foods (World Cancer Research Fund, 2021; World Health Organization, 2018). To limit salt and trans-fats consumption, the South African NDoH introduced measures which have led to reduction of sodium and fat content of bread and other processed food (Ndanuko et al., 2020; South African Government, 2013, 2011; Tekle et al., 2020).

Implementation of restrictive food policies (food taxes, FOPL and marketing restrictions) is an added incentive for product reformulation in some countries, including South Africa. The display of a warning label, for example, may create a negative perception of the product and may lead to product reformulation by companies to avoid displaying the label (World Cancer Research Fund, 2021). One year following the mandatory implementation of the Law of Food Labelling and Advertising in Chile, the proportion of products high in nutrients of concern dropped from 51% to 44% (Reyes et al., 2020). There is currently still limited evidence regarding the effects on obesity of taxing sugar-added foods, but initial reports are promising while robust studies are awaited (Pfinder et al., 2020). In contrast, and has been mentioned earlier in this report, product reformulation by the SSB industry, as evidenced in the replacement of sugar with artificial sweeteners, has intensified as more countries have begun to implement sugar reduction targets and SSB taxes (Borges et al., 2017; Dunford et al., 2018).

Since the introduction of the Health Promotion Levy in South Africa, there has been growing evidence of product reformulation, with many brands reducing sugar content (Stacey et al., 2021). Data from a metaanalysis suggest that replacing sugar with non-nutritive sweeteners leads to weight reduction, particularly in participants with overweight/obesity following an unrestricted diet, and that this information could be utilised for evidence-based public policy decisions (Laviada-Molina et al., 2020). A scoping review of 372 studies showed no conclusive evidence for beneficial or harmful effects of non-nutritive sweeteners on appetite and short-term food intake, risk of cancer, risk of diabetes, risk of dental caries, weight gain or risk of obesity (Lohner et al., 2017). As few studies investigated numerous other health outcomes (headaches, depression, behavioural and cognitive effects, neurological effects, risk of preterm delivery, cardiovascular effects, chronic kidney disease), conclusive evidence is lacking regarding risk/benefit, and further research is needed. In contrast, animal studies show that the consumption of non-nutritive sweeteners alter the gut microbiome and may induce glucose intolerance, increased food consumption and weight gain (Green and Syn, 2019). Other possible effects include inhibition of protective intestinal enzymes and increased appetite, but evidence from clinical studies is controversial. Therefore, further research in humans is needed to evaluate the relationship between non-nutritive sweeteners consumption and the gut microbiome.

The most common obesity prevention interventions are via taxation and subsidisation. A review of previously employed strategies provides valuable insights to guide the effective and efficient design and implementation of tax or subsidy instruments (Pfinder et al., 2020; World Bank, 2019). First, the targeting of the tax is important (tax objects, subjects and setting), because taxes will induce behavioural adjustments (substitution) in consumption and production. Second, the size of the tax rate is important; nutritional challenges to be addressed with taxes may call for rather substantial price changes, but conversely the revenue effects will be bigger the larger the tax rate. Third, the administrative aspects of a tax, for industry and government (enforcement and compliance monitoring), should be taken into consideration. And fourth, the involvement,

suggestions and challenges of relevant stakeholders and experts in the preparation of a tax should be considered to optimise the political viability of the scheme.

3.3.6. Menu labelling laws

Several locations in the USA and Australia have passed laws requiring restaurant chains to label the energy content of items on menus. Controversies include who should be included (supermarkets, convenience stores, pizza chains), how energy content should be presented (calories, salt and sugar content), and how such laws would be implemented and enforced in the informal market (Wellard et al., 2015). The evidence regarding menu labelling is mixed, showing that labels may reduce the energy content of food purchased in some contexts but have little effect in other contexts (Alexander et al., 2021; Ding et al., 2020; Swartz et al., 2011). The strongest data evaluating purchases at typical fast food restaurants like McDonald's and Burger King suggests labels do not alter consumer purchases (VanEpps et al., 2016). However, there is evidence that labels do encourage lower energy purchases in other settings such as coffee chains or full-service restaurants (VanEpps et al., 2016).

3.3.7. Corporate voluntary efforts and incentive driven programmes

It would be imperative for governments to encourage and support corporate voluntary efforts to limit increasing obesity numbers. Discovery Health, a South African private health insurer, was globally one of the first private companies to action, and publish results, on their incentive-based health promotion programme (Patel et al., 2010). Membership in the programme is voluntary and offered separately from the health plan because legislation in South Africa precludes differential insurance premiums based on health status. Activities include subsidised gym memberships, and smoking cessation and weight reduction programmes. Highly engaged participants in the programme have lower costs per patient, shorter stays in hospital, and fewer admissions compared with non-registered and low-engagement participants. Admission rates were also 7.4% lower for cardiovascular disease, 13.2% lower for cancers, and 20.7% lower for endocrine and metabolic diseases in highly engaged participants.

3.3.8. The treatment of obesity

Healthy eating and physical activity are the most important factors in the prevention of obesity; however, it does not address the 30% of men, 70% of women and 13% of under-5 children already suffering from overweight and obesity in South Africa. Changes in brain chemistry, metabolism, and hunger and satiety hormones which occur during attempts to lose weight, make it notoriously difficult to definitively lose weight (Rosenbaum and Leibel, 2010). There is good evidence that the body's natural response to weight loss is to increase appetite (and thus maintain weight) and that lifestyle changes such as diet and physical activity alone are often unable to bring about significant levels of weight loss with only 5% of individuals maintaining weight loss (Greenway, 2015). Although pharmacotherapy (medication) can increase this number to 8-10% while treatment is continued, it is currently not available in the public sector in South Africa (Kushner, 2018).

Metabolic surgery is the only treatment modality to have good long-term outcomes with 60% excess weight loss sustained at 10 years after operation (Golzarand et al., 2017; O'Brien et al., 2019). More significant is the associated resolution of comorbidities and decrease in mortality (Carlsson et al., 2020; Sjöström et al., 2007). It is currently the only curative treatment option for T2DM and the first line preferred treatment modality for individuals with a BMI \ge 35 kg/m² and individuals with a BMI \ge 30 kg/m² and poor glycaemic control (Cummings and Rubino, 2018; Rubino et al., 2016). There are multiple available reports on its costeffectiveness when compared to conventional treatment options (Ademi et al., 2018; Borisenko et al., 2018; Boyers et al., 2021; Galvain et al., 2021; Harrison et al., 2021; Lester et al., 2021; Noparatayaporn et al., 2021). In South Africa, metabolic surgery has been available exclusively to privately funded patients since 2010 (Van der Merwe et al., 2015). It was only in 2017 that Obesity and Metabolic Surgery programmes were initiated at two public hospitals (Stellenbosch University and Sefako Makgatho Health Sciences University). These programmes for the first time provided access to obesity treatment for obese individuals in the public sector, as well as skill development and education surrounding obesity prevention and treatment to health care workers and the public. The programs have efficacy and safety results comparable to reports from international centres and serve as an example of strategic thinking as they not only address obesity but at the same time serve to treat and cure the most common NCDs, most notably T2DM (Lubbe et al., 2019).

3.4 The importance of obesity surveillance, monitoring and evaluation

Population health surveillance is the ongoing systematic collection, analysis, interpretation, and dissemination of the data to decision makers responsible for policy and programmes (Hardy and Mihrshahi, 2020). Surveillance therefore refers to data collection from populations over two or more points in time and can happen at National, Provincial and Regional levels of a country project (Hoelscher et al., 2017). Surveillance data can indicate the need for interventions and monitor the effect of previously implemented strategies. Active surveillance requires trained field teams to collect data, while passive surveillance is based on clinic records and national surveys, and therefore provides limited data that may have variability in quality. Although questionnaires on self-reported behaviours have limitations, they remain the most feasible method of collecting population surveillance data. Effective surveillance systems are essential for preventing and addressing the public health problem of obesity (Hardy and Mihrshahi, 2020).

Body mass index (BMI) is used in obesity surveillance systems to monitor trends in populations (Hoelscher et al., 2017). It is a convenient and cost-effective measure in both adults and children due to its ease of collection, analysis, and interpretation by scientists and the public, and can be viewed as a democratic measure of health, as it allows individuals to assess their health independent of medical authorities (Gutin, 2018; Must and Anderson, 2006; Romero-Corral et al., 2008). Challenges noted in the literature regarding BMI as an obesity indicator include concerns about interpretation, privacy, stigmatization, and the possibility of dysfunctional behavioural responses such as eating disorders, especially at school-level (Massachusetts Department of Public Health, 2014; Nihiser et al., 2009). Concerns regarding misclassification and lack of standardised BMI values for the South African population are also noted (Blundell et al., 2014; Gómez-Ambrosi et al., 2012; Kruger et al., 2017; Moeng-Mahlangu et al., 2020). Recent reports recommend the use of bioelectrical impedance analysis (BIA) which is relatively simple method suitable for large epidemiological studies of changes in body composition (Devakumar et al., 2015). Combining two or more different anthropometric measures, such as waist-to-hip ratio and waist circumference-to-height ratio may be more sensitive to the accumulation of abdominal fat, however, these measurements are more invasive and require additional privacy (Gómez-Ambrosi et al., 2012; Hoelscher et al., 2017).

Monitoring of the prevalence of obesity alone is insufficient information for policy makers to determine the effectiveness of obesity interventions. Because obesity is a complex and multifactorial issue, measures of environmental determinants, such as the food and built environments should be included as part of surveillance data. Obesity surveillance data should be recorded in such a way to calculate outcomes benchmarked against internationally accepted recommendations for weight-related behaviours, for example the total time per day spent sedentary or doing moderate or vigorous physical activity. Food intake can be monitored by measuring consumption frequency of key "healthy" and "unhealthy" foods, as well measuring certain dietary behaviours. Obesity surveillance data in relation to the density of supermarkets, fast food outlets and transport data can lead to targeted policy decisions to address obesogenic factors in communities. In 2019 the Lancet Commission on Obesity suggested a framework, inclusive of LMICs, which identifies relevant interventions and indicators by which urban design, land use, and the built environment can address obesity (Devarajan et al., 2020). These include factors such as pedestrian priority and dignity, wide pavements

with tree canopies, water fountains with potable water, benches for the elderly at regular intervals, access to open-green spaces within 0.5-km radius and playgrounds in schools.

3.5 Prioritising obesity interventions based on economic evidence

Given resource constraints facing many countries, implementing all available effective interventions aimed at addressing obesity is unlikely to be feasible. Cost-effectiveness analyses that compare the cost and benefits or competing courses of action can be useful for informing the prioritisation of effective obesity strategies and policies as well as in defining a package of interventions that represent good value for money. While a growing body of evidence has emerged on the health benefits of obesity prevention strategies, at least in terms of intermediate health outcomes such as BMI reductions, there is comparatively limited evidence on the costs and cost-effectiveness of these strategies (Ananthapavan et al., 2014; Anderson and World Health Organization, 2009; Brown et al., 2019; Sonntag et al., 2016). Existing cost-effectiveness studies have focused on assessing single interventions using variable methodologies, thus limiting the comparability of findings across studies. While single intervention evaluations may be useful when policy makers are faced with one policy alternative, they are limited for the identification of a package of interventions aimed at holistically tackling obesity prevalence.

Furthermore, the majority of existing cost-effectiveness interventions focus largely on assessing the value for money of clinical interventions for obesity such as bariatric surgery and pharmaceutical management of obesity (Ananthapavan et al., 2014; Sharifi et al., 2017). However, a growing recognition of the importance of environmental factors that promote obesity has led to a shift from the evaluation of so-called 'upstream' policy interventions to 'downstream' interventions that target behavioural changes such as regulatory and fiscal policies and community-level obesity prevention programmes.

Compared to downstream interventions, upstream interventions have been shown to be both more effective in improving obesity-related health outcomes and cost-saving. For example, in a review of economic evidence of obesity prevention and treatment strategies in Australia, the majority of primary prevention strategies were either cost-saving due to a reduction in future health care expenditure or cost-effective, with incremental cost per disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) averted lower than the Australian cost-effectiveness threshold of \$50,000/DALY (Table 1) (Ananthapavan et al., 2014).

Cost-effectiveness	Obesity Prevention Strategies
Cost-saving	School (curriculum)-based education programme to reduce television viewing
	Multi-faceted school (curriculum)-based programme including nutrition and physical
	activity
	School-based education programme to reduce SSB consumption
	Reduction of advertising of unhealthy food and beverages to children
	Front-of-package nutrition labelling
	Unhealthy food and beverage tax (10%)
Cost-effective (ICER	Multi-faceted school (curriculum)-based programme without an active physical
≤ \$50,000/DALY)	activity
Not cost-effective	Active transport interventions designed to increase the number of children walking
(ICER >	to school and to provide a safer traffic environment around schools
\$50,000/DALY)	Active after-school communities programme
	Healthy diet and lifestyle weight-loss programmes for adults

Table 1. Cost-effectiveness	of Obesity	Prevention Strategies
	or obconcy	i i cvention strategies

Adapted from Ananthapavan et al. (Ananthapavan et al., 2014)

In a more recent study, the cost-effectiveness of 16 obesity prevention strategies in Australia was assessed including regulatory interventions and programmes targeting unhealthy food and drink consumption and the promotion of physical activities among children and adults (Ananthapavan et al., 2020). Using a modelling approach, the authors predicted that all 16 interventions were cost-effective and would result in significant health gains ranging from approximately 7500 healthy-adjusted life-years (HALYs) for work-place intervention to reduce sedentary behaviour to approximately 472,000 HALYs for alcohol price increases. The following interventions were assessed as net cost-saving over the lifetime of the population: taxation on alcohol and SSBs, restrictions on TV advertising of unhealthy foods, package size cap on SSBs, supermarket shelf tags on healthier products, menu nutrient labelling on fast food, school-based interventions to reduce sedentary behaviour and increase physical activity, restrictions on price promotion of SSBs, reformulation to reduce sugar in SSBs, and a national mass media campaign to encourage reduced consumption of SSBs. Regulatory and fiscal policies resulted in the largest cost savings.

Similar findings have been reported in a US population using a microsimulation model to demonstrate that regulatory and fiscal policies targeting exposure to and consumption of unhealthy foods and drinks in children would be cost-saving in the long term (Gortmaker et al., 2015b). These actions include SSB excise tax, the removal of tax subsidy for advertising unhealthy food to children and setting nutrition standards for food and beverages sold in schools outside of school meals. Other studies have also reported significantly higher net savings for regulatory and fiscal policies (Lehnert et al., 2012).

The favourable economic profile of regulatory and fiscal policies compared to other preventative programmatic interventions is largely due to the low implementation costs and potentially higher coverage across a wider population resulting in lower cost per person. However, the strength of evidence of the effectiveness of these interventions is comparatively lower (Ananthapavan et al., 2020; Gortmaker et al., 2015a).

3.5.1. Are cost-effectiveness analysis results transferable across settings?

Differences between setting in terms of model parameters such as unit costs, intervention coverage, and epidemiology of obesity and related diseases and risk factors may limit the transferability of findings from other settings to South Africa. There is a dearth of evidence on the cost-effectiveness of obesity prevention interventions within the South Africa context. In one study assessing the cost-effectiveness of seven obesity prevention strategies in seven countries including South Africa, fiscal measures affecting the prices of healthy (reduced price) and unhealthy (increased price) foods were cost-saving in South Africa (Cecchini et al., 2010).

Overall, studies report consistent findings across settings (in terms of the cost-effectiveness profile of regulatory vs community-level programmatic interventions) and provide useful insight into potential obesity prevention strategies that can be prioritised for implementation in South Africa. Furthermore, these studies suggest that a package of interventions is likely to have higher health gains and economic profiles compared to individual interventions with regulatory/fiscal policies not only yielding highest net savings within the health system but also potentially generating additional government revenue (Cecchini et al., 2010; Gortmaker et al., 2015a; Long et al., 2015).

Beyond gains described here, other considerations such as the strength of evidence on intervention effectiveness, equity, acceptability, feasibility of implementation and sustainability are important and should be taken into account when designing obesity prevention strategies aimed at reducing the burden of obesity and obesity-related diseases in South Africa (Ananthapavan et al., 2020; Gortmaker et al., 2015a).

4. EXAMPLES OF NATIONAL OBESITY STRATEGIES FROM AROUND THE WORLD

Although effective national strategies need to be tailored to the local context, by analysing examples of successful policies and interventions from other countries, we can learn lessons and generate new ideas that are applicable to South Africa.

4.1 Asia Pacific examples

4.1.1. Tonga: taxation and monitoring

The Tonga Department of Health conducted an end-of-term review of their national strategy to control NCDs, to inform the design of the new strategy (Tonga End of Term Review, 2015).

For healthier diets, key steps that were implemented included changes on import duty of healthy and unhealthy foods (taxation), partnerships to increase the use of vegetable gardens, a school food policy development programme, and aid to duck and poultry hatcheries. While the food tax policy covers many food products, the study team focused on just a few key products consumed by most Tongans. Import duties on tinned fish was reduced to 0%, fish (frozen or chilled) to 0%, onions and potatoes to 15%, and import duty on fatty foods (mutton flaps, turkey tails, and chicken leg quarters), sugary foods (ice cream), and instant noodles were increased to 15%. Prices increased following the imposition of import duty across all products, and import volumes decreased. It is important to note that despite lower import volumes, tax revenues from import duty and excise tax have increased consistently. The two products most responsive to price change were ice cream and mutton flaps. Outcomes for this strategy implementation were measured by the longitudinal survey; most people reduced their consumption of taxed food, while 16% opted for alternative products. Vegetable consumption increased from 7.8% to 26.9%, and there was some improvement in overweight trends, with marginal improvement in obesity trends. For increased physical activity, key steps included sports and PA programmes/competitions supported by the health promotion unit, addition of PA to curricula, granting of sports and cycling equipment, extension/improvement of footpaths in urban areas, and marking of distance on electrical poles in villages to encourage walking. It is less clear how outcomes for PA were measured with few outdated surveys available, but in the follow-up survey, there did seem to be some improvement in physical activity levels (female engagement in recreational PA increased from 40% to 44%).

After key informant interviews, the following strengths were identified to build on in the next phase of the strategy: targeting youth (>14 years old), building on existing partnerships between sectors, and re-engaging with community organisations for supporting key health messages, policies, and activities at the community level.

Key lessons learned regarding strategy implementation included:

- Coordination Lack of resources to support coordination and implementation was identified as an important challenge to success. Coordination is a central component of implementation of nationwide programmes and clear roles and responsibilities should be allocated to all governing and administrative bodies. Policy changes and actions should be linked, requiring coordination between policy makers and implementers.
- **Communication and engagement** Stakeholders and partners should be engaged early and be involved in decision making in their area from the outset. It is important to engage political, social, and community leaders to support social and behavioural change, as well as engaging the private sector in an ethical manner. Communication between stakeholders and partners should be ongoing and consistent, with regular engagement between those involved directly and those who are influential but external (respectful partnering).

- **Resources** Activities were often curtailed by a lack of funds to invest in resources and or materials required to undertake the activity or sustain the programme. Due to funding barriers momentum was lost for some activities. Initiatives should be part of the 'core business' of partners and budgeted for early. Start where the programme is currently and make sure to complement the 'core business' of the partner. Adequate funding should thus be allocated to activities.
- **Monitoring** Either a lack of management and execution or overly complex (disjointed) systems for reporting on activities and undertaking monitoring were identified as challenges. M&E systems should be simplified.
- **Prioritisation** The comprehensiveness of the first plan did not prioritise actions within areas or between risk factors. Fewer issues should be focused on with prioritisation of issues/goals/activities.

Included in the Tonga strategy were taxation laws on tobacco, alcohol, and unhealthy foods (World Bank, 2019). One valuable lesson learned is that without complementary measures, tax increases may merely result in a switch from one form of unhealthy consumption to another. For example, taxation on imported tobacco led to a shift in use to more affordable and widely available local tobacco which is just as harmful to health. Tax on cigarettes had a greater effect on low-income smokers, and price increases tended to be financed disproportionately by high-income households, highlighting the equity impact of price policies. Price, rather than health, was the main reason among those who decided to change behaviours.

Increased alcohol taxation led to decreases in the frequency and amount of alcohol products consumed; however, a shift to substitutes (kava, marijuana, glue/petrol sniffing, and crystal methamphetamine) was observed. Import tax on turkey tails, mutton flaps, and ice cream helped reduce consumption, though rather than choosing healthier foods instead, individuals tended to shift to local cheaper brands. This demonstrates the importance of imposing unified tax rates for both imported and locally manufactured unhealthy products if increased taxation is used in a strategy.

It seems that policy interventions should rather be focused on the affordability and accessibility of healthy food; however, in Tonga the removal of the 15% tax on imported fruits resulted in neither lower retail prices nor higher consumption of these products. Imported fruit prices remained the same and the benefits from the tax exemption went to traders rather than consumers.

In summary, the Tonga example shows that consumer response to price change depends on the characteristics of the product and the available alternatives. Products where price changes are most likely to influence consumption are products with a high price per unit, products whose unit price occupies a noticeable proportion of household expenditure, and products not considered a daily staple but rather a luxury.

Recommendations regarding taxation as a strategy in national health policies were as follows:

- To avoid dilution, product taxation should be applied consistently (at the same level) for both local and imported products.
- The choice of which foods to tax should be based on scientifically supported criteria across all food groups, including the use of nutrient profiling that indicates an unhealthy threshold (e.g., levels of fat, salt, and sugar).
- Improved monitoring of the prices of tax-exempt healthy food should ensure that tax exemption achieves the goal of price reduction, and in turn higher consumption of healthy food products.
- Annual tax increases should well-exceed increases in consumer prices and incomes. Small, incremental increases in tax alone do not work. What drives behaviour change is the "price shock" that comes after a large tax increase. After the large tax increase, small incremental increases can be

used to sustain impact. Monitor tax interventions continuously to ensure that impact is clear and known.

• Revenues acquired from increased taxation should be communicated to the public and used to support and promote healthy lifestyles among the population, as well as to improve health care services.

4.1.2. Australia: stakeholder engagement and monitoring

In 2018 the Australian Health Council committed to developing a national obesity strategy (Australian Department of Health, 2019). A consultation process to inform the strategy was undertaken in 2019 and 2020 to increase community and organisation input into what the national obesity strategy should cover. A total of 81 proposed sub-strategies (informed by evidence and stakeholder consultations) were presented in a paper for public comment, which took the format of surveys.

Main findings from participant responses included:

- Population-level interventions and system changes, in particular food systems, should be prioritised in the strategy. Suggestions included making healthier food and drinks an easier and more convenient option by subsidising healthy food and using price to make unhealthy options less attractive, reducing advertising of unhealthy food and drinks, and focussing efforts on settings where people live, work and spend time.
- Suggestions regarding infrastructure and urban planning included better walking and cycling infrastructure with provision of shade, planning for production of fresh food in urban settings and closer to where people live, and ready access to drinking water in urban and remote settings.
- Whole-of-government, sustained action and a commitment at all levels is needed to ensure a strategy will be resourced, implemented, reported on, and evaluated. Participants suggested governments need to work with all sectors, not just health.
- Targeted measures are needed to address overweight and obesity amongst priority population groups, with particular focus on equity to ensure that the delivery of any strategy does not further exacerbate inequities for priority populations. Negative impacts on people are to be avoided and strategies should be designed with the input of consumers.

An excellent example of monitoring of effectiveness is the New South Wales Schools Physical Activity and Nutrition Survey (Hardy and Mihrshahi, 2020). This survey was conducted in 2004, 2010 and 2015 in a representative sample of schools to estimate the prevalence and trends in children's weight status and weight-related behaviours to inform state health plans. Trained field teams measured children's height, weight, and waist circumference, measures of fitness and movement skills, as well as health behaviours and the school nutrition and physical activity environment. The data collected through this survey made a substantial contribution to the evidence base for policy and the development of programmes. For example, children's low consumption of fruit and vegetables was addressed by implementation of fruit and vegetable breaks in primary schools. The finding that children who purchased food regularly from the school canteen were more likely to be overweight or obese led to a more rigorous implementation of a Healthy School Canteen Strategy.

4.2 Latin American examples

4.2.1. Mexico: evidence-based policy, a unified voice and monitoring

In 2014 Mexico approved taxation of SSBs and nonessential energy-dense food which made producers legally responsible for calculating, reporting, and paying these taxes (Pérez-Escamilla et al., 2017). The following key factors played a part in successful implementation:

- Research was key in influencing taxation and included obesity trends and associated health and economic consequences, as well as data on excessive intake of SSBs and high energy density diets of Mexican children. Later reports included proof of the elasticity of demand for SSBs in the Mexican population (10% increase in price associated with a 11.6% reduction in the demand), that the principal substitutes for SSBs were healthy (water and milk), and modelled weight and T2DM projections under different tax scenarios. These relevant reports, along with existing evidence on the impact of SSB taxes to disincentivise intake, consumer shifts associated with healthier diets, and the revenue generated to support obesity prevention efforts, were disseminated widely.
- To create a strong unified voice in communicating with the public and policymakers, 27 nongovernmental organisations formed a coalition and partnered with academic and international organisations to lobby congress and conduct a mass-media campaign.
- The National Institute of Public Health monitored and evaluated the effect of the taxes on prices, consumption, and the use of fiscal revenues for obesity-related programmes. They found that SSB prices increased in urban (but not rural) areas. In urban areas they found a decrease in the consumption of SSBs (9%) and nonessential energy-dense foods (5%). These results were pivotal in defeating an attempt by the SSB industry to repeal the tax measure a year after implementation.

4.2.2. Ecuador: food package labelling

In 2013 Ecuador became the first country in Latin America to mandate food package labelling in the form of a traffic light (Pérez-Escamilla et al., 2017). The regulation was motivated by obesity prevalence and data for excessive levels of added sugars, sodium, and saturated fats in Ecuador diets. The draft decree stipulated that the label had to be placed on the front of the package, however, the final decree failed to carry this stipulation due to strong lobbying from the food industry. The Pan American Health Organisation (PAHO) provided political support and widespread media attention. Ecuador's labelling decree was developed and implemented with very little civil society engagement, and leadership was entirely provided by the Ministry of Health and academia with support from PAHO. Thus, in Ecuador the policy ended up being enacted as a Ministry of Health regulation and not as a federal law as in the case of Chile. Evaluation to assess impact is ongoing.

4.2.3. Argentina: evidence-based policy

Legislative strategies to ban trans-fatty acids (TFA) from foods have been more successful than labelling or education as shown in Scandinavian and American countries (Downs et al., 2017, 2013). Importantly, it has been identified by the WHO as a 'best-buy' public health intervention for LMICs (Cecchini et al., 2010). In Latin America, policies that require removing industrial TFAs and replacing them with polyunsaturated fats exist in Argentina, Chile, Brazil, Costa Rica, India, and Mexico. The introduction of the TFA ban in Argentina is an excellent example of evidence-based policy change (Pérez-Escamilla et al., 2017).

The first evidence generated was an analysis of lipid composition of commonly consumed foods, where almost all the processed foods analysed that were sweet or salty, such as cookies and crackers, contained high levels of TFAs (even apparently healthy choices, such as cereal bars, contained partially hydrogenated vegetable oil). As oils and fats are produced by a handful of large companies in Argentina, the government initiated early policy dialogue with key industry stakeholders, and in 2004 a voluntary food product reformulation programme was introduced by the food industry. In the second phase, in 2008 the government of Argentina initiated mandatory regulations that specified percentage limits on TFAs as compared to total fats in foods, and in 2014 full compliance was mandated. After the regulation was fully developed, a modelling study estimated its health and economic impact, with results indicating that the regulation may be able to prevent around 300 to 1,500 deaths per year in Argentina (Rubinstein et al., 2015).

4.2.4. Colombia: physical activity

Ciclovías ('Open Streets' programmes) temporarily close streets to motorised traffic to transform them into a safe, people-oriented pleasant space for physical activities and socialising. Ciclovías were first introduced in two Colombian cities, and because of the documented success of the programme, the initiative has since spread to 461 cities in Latin America. Evidence suggests that users of the programme are more likely to meet physical activity guidelines, and a cost-benefit study estimated that each dollar invested in a Ciclovía saves \$3 USD per person in health care costs, amounting to \$13 million USD per year (Montes et al., 2012; Pratt et al., 2016).

The successful spread of Ciclovías is due to their popularity among the public by improving people's quality of life, resulting in strong political support from city mayors. Ciclovías are an excellent example of advances in understanding the relationship between urban planning and public health. Their introduction has been met with some resistance from businesses and transportation enterprises that were affected by the road closures, but this was overcome with strong support from civil society, highlighting new economic development opportunities for small businesses, and by having a strong evidence base for deploying Ciclovías (Zieff et al., 2013).

4.2.5. Chile: combined actions

In a paper describing a new regulation implemented to tackle obesity in Chile in 2012, authors highlighted the main challenges encountered over the last 10 years with the implementation of FOPL, advertising regulations, and school food restrictions (Rodríguez Osiac et al., 2017). All three of these components have proven cost effective (Cecchini et al., 2010). The law mandates that foods that exceed certain levels of energy, sugars, sodium, or saturated fatty acids (defined by the Ministry of Health after review of available scientific evidence by a committee of academic experts) must carry a symbol that warns about its content. Foods labelled as such are forbidden to be sold in schools and their advertising is strongly restricted.

Scientific input was key, as academic institutions were asked to review evidence regarding nutrient profiling and recommend a definition of 'unhealthy' foods based on Chilean dietary patterns. A decision was made to base the definition of unhealthy foods based on the UK's traffic light based FOPL technical guidance. Regulated foods were defined based on specially developed nutrient profiling, which considered natural foods as gold standard. For liquid foods, amounts of energy, sugars, saturated fats, and sodium in 100 mL of cow's milk were used as cut-offs. For solid foods, values within the 90th-99th percentile range for energy and critical nutrients were selected as cut-off within a list of natural foods.

Before institution of this law, every member state of the World Trade Organisation was notified, and wide public consultation took place. One of the main arguments against the regulation was its potential negative effects on business, particularly for small and medium enterprises. Objections to the law included that it violated freedom of expression, was paternalistic, and was naive as it ignored the complexities involved with food advertising. Criticism from the food industry included interference with intellectual property rights (by restricting industry brands and logos), creating trade barriers, and eliminating the possibility of comparing products (since 'all food would be marked as unhealthy'). The industry focused particularly on the expected increase in production costs due to the changed composition of their products, as well as required modifications in labelling and packaging. It was suggested that the law be introduced gradually, to give the food industry time to develop the technology needed to reduce the content of critical nutrients in their products. It took two International Health and Nutrition Summits (2008 and 2011) for the Ministry of Health to convince the food industry.

Besides pressure from the food industry, the regulation also faced important opposition from other public institutions, especially the Ministry of Economy, the Ministry of Agriculture, and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs concerned about the effects the law could have on the economy and international relations. The message that reducing obesity in Chile was a national endeavour and that this law was necessary to improve the country's health—particularly children's health—was key to sealing the alliances with other government ministries. The support of key political and civil society stakeholders was of great importance. To finally pass the law, some difficult compromises involving elements of the original bill had to be accommodated, including those pertaining to using a 'traffic light' food labelling system, banning of infant formula advertising, and the prohibition of selling unhealthy foods in universities.

A stop sign stating "High in X" was chosen as the warning label for packaged regulated foods. The legal process was completed in 2015, but implementation only began in July 2016, giving the food industry time to alter the formulation of their products to meet the cut-off points if they wished. This law was not introduced in isolation but was accompanied by the introduction and strengthening of public programmes to promote healthy lifestyles and increased taxation on SSB. A new taxation system for solid food, based on its sugar content, is being explored for future implementation.

Prior to implementation, the authorities from the Nutrition Department defined the standards and indicators to monitor and enforce the law, and this duty was carried out by a designated regional department of the Ministry of Health. Designated departments oversee monitoring and implementation (according to standard procedures) at the local level, as well as carrying out periodic health and food surveillance. No follow-up publications on measured outcomes could be found in our literature search, and outcomes indicating local impact will have to be determined (Pérez-Escamilla et al., 2017).

4.2.6. Brazil: inter-sectoral involvement

The Brazilian approach to obesity prevention and control involves two main approaches: firstly that of the Brazilian National Health System (SUS) run by the Ministry of Health, and secondly the approach from the National Food and Nutritional Security System (SISAN), responsible for orchestrating actions by three different ministries: the National Council on Food and Nutritional Security, the National Conferences, and the Inter-Ministerial Chamber for Food and Nutritional Security (Dias et al., 2017).

The SUS approach regards obesity mainly as a disease or risk factor, with emphasis on individual and social/environmental interventions aimed at changing eating habits and levels of physical activity. The SISAN approach defines obesity as a societal problem of food security, with emphasis on new modes of producing, marketing, and consuming foods to change eating practices in an integrated way for society. This approach involves various areas of the federal government and thus makes the policy process more complex by requiring greater linkage between sectors and expanding the potential points of conflict.

The SUS approach from 2006 to 2014 reinforced the individual and patient-care approach, and after 2014 evolved to develop a line of primary care for obesity, as well as health promotion measures. Since 2007, several rulings have been issued that define the organisation of care and set criteria for high complexity health care services for patients with overweight and obesity, including the guarantee of surgical treatment (SUS regards access to metabolic surgery as a right). This 'medicalisation' of obesity took place in the context of competing interests for public funds. The concept of obesity as a disease, treated only by the National Health

System and focused on the physical body and individualised care, has limited reach as it treats only those already affected. Certain health promotion proposals tended to be 'sector-based', since they focus mainly on eating habits and physical activity, and strategies that extend beyond the health sector's scope became necessary given the difficulties in an individual-focused approach. Adherence to individualised treatment tends to be low, to a major extent because individuals are still exposed to the same environmental pressures that compete unequally with personal motivation to modify eating habits and behaviours.

A turning point was the publication of the National Food and Nutritional Policy, which repositioned the food and nutrition issue on the agenda of the SUS and strengthened the debate on food and nutritional security, both inside and outside the health sector. Measures based on the social/environmental health approach, aimed at guaranteeing healthy environments and life settings, favoured proposals for inter-sector linkage such as guaranteed access to healthy eating in workplaces and schools. Progressive inter-sectoral proposals indicated new developments in addressing the problem, culminating in the Inter-Sector Strategy for the Prevention and Control of Obesity: Recommendations for States. The approach to obesity in the newly configured EIPCO establishes links with the processes of food production, supply, commercialisation, access, and consumption. By transcending the sphere of public health, obesity is now also acknowledged as a social problem, related to the prevailing food system, with repercussions on health and quality of life.

However, regulation of food advertising has still not made progress in Brazil since this runs counter to the interests of the processed and ultra-processed food products industry, a powerful lobby in policy decisions. The least contested measures are voluntary agreements to reduce levels of salt, saturated fats, and sugar in processed foods. A proposed 'partnership' with the food industry suggests that industry voluntarily refrain from advertising unhealthy foods, which is highly unlikely.

4.2.7. Regional lessons on preventing childhood obesity

To understand the design and implementation of evidence-based healthy lifestyle policies to prevent childhood obesity in Latin America, Pérez-Escamilla et al. investigated 4 country examples according to key elements of successful deployment (Paina and Peters, 2012; Pérez-Escamilla et al., 2017). Scientific evidence and continued monitoring played an important role, not only in achieving tipping points for policy launch, but also in sustaining effective implementation.

The following key elements for successful and sustainable policy interventions were identified:

- Anticipating, and early addressing of **feedback loops**. Examples of positive feedback loops include research and evidence, informed advocates, public outreach, and a broad range of supporters. Negative feedback loops include outside interest groups, misunderstood definitions, and negative perceptions.
- Utilising scale free networks by change in one aspect leading to change in many areas. Strong evidence used in marketing campaigns (along with a plan for overcoming expected challenges) had a large impact on the support the policies ultimately received.
- Opting for **phased transitions**. Most countries went through a phased transition when definable events and processes led to a tipping point that allowed for policy approval or expansion of implementation. This process might be rapid or prolonged, but always seems to be phased. Multisectoral coalitions, strong advocacy, and persuasive evidence of the feasibility of policy implementation all play important roles in accelerating the process. It is imperative to gather evidence and identify and involve coalition groups early in policy development.

- Understanding **path dependence** by explaining what characteristics influence divergent outcomes. Anticipating the factors that will support or divert policy adoption presents advocates with the opportunity to gather evidence and present solutions in advance.
- Optimising emergent behaviour when smaller entities spontaneously come together as a collective. Successful examples of policy implementation were marked by multiple consultations with members of academia, government, advocacy groups and civil society who eventually formed a coalition, with each stakeholder bringing a different skill set to help overcome major negative feedback loops mostly driven by the food industry.

4.3 European examples

4.3.1. United Kingdom: viability

To understand why 14 UK government strategies (either wholly or partially dedicated to tackling obesity), stretching from 1992 to 2020 and containing 689 wide-ranging policies, had not made an impact on rising obesity prevalence, a mixed-methods review was completed in 2021 (Theis and White, 2021). The authors attempted to identify weaknesses in policy design and failures of implementation and evaluation leading to a lack of effectiveness.

The main finding was that UK governments have tended to prioritise the provision of information and capacity building in their obesity strategies rather than directly shaping the choices available to individuals through population-level fiscal and regulatory measures (except for the recent Soft Drinks Industry Levy). Most policies were not interventionist in nature and made high demands on individual agency, relying on individuals to make behaviour changes rather than shaping external influences. Until 2004, the governments' regulatory policies had no indication of regulatory escalation, meaning that the policies were largely proposed without detailing what might happen in the case of insufficient action or change. Since 2004, more deterrence measures have been proposed, such as legislation on nutrition labelling for pre-packaged foods, a restriction of television advertising of unhealthy products, and a levy on SSBs. When the deterrence policies were escalated, they did not suggest incapacitation measures but merely suggested extension of deterrence measures, like expanding the Soft Drinks Industry Levy to more products.

A second important finding was that policies were largely proposed in a way that would be unlikely to lead to implementation. Policy implementation viability criteria that were evaluated for each strategy included:

- Setting a target population
- Stating a theory of change
- Evidence to support the policy proposals
- Details about cost and allocated budget
- Suggesting a responsible agent
- Including an M&E plan
- Setting a time frame

30% of the policies did not fulfil a single one of the above seven implementation viability criteria, compared to just 8% of policies that fulfilled all seven. Only 24% of the policies had any details of an M&E plan, 19% cited any evidence to support policy proposals, and 9% offered details about cost or included an allocated budget. Many of the proposed policies were similar to (or exactly the same) in multiple strategies over multiple years, often with no reference to their presence in a previous strategy.

The authors concluded that governments should prioritise policies that make minimal demands on individuals and have the potential for population-wide reach to maximise their potential for equitable impacts. Policies should furthermore be proposed in ways that readily lead to implementation and evaluation.

4.3.2. Greece: E-health programme

To address the increasing prevalence of overweight and obesity in children and adolescents in Greece, the 'National e-Health Programme for the Prevention and Management of Overweight and Obesity in Childhood and Adolescence', was developed to provide guidance to all primary health care physicians about the personalised management of children and adolescents with overweight or obesity (Tragomalou et al., 2020). The programme includes an electronic medical records file (EMRF) for the electronic documentation of medical history as well as clinical findings of all outpatients. Therapeutic algorithm files (TAF) provide detailed information and guidance to paediatricians and general practitioners about the management of each child. The electronic database automatically calculates BMI and informs the physician about the patient's BMI status, while the BMI growth chart appears on the screen. The database selects the most appropriate TAF according to the patient's age, sex, BMI and information on diet and exercise in the system. The TAF provides a comprehensive and personalised management plan for the prevention and/or management of overweight and obesity for the patient, including initial advice to the patient and the family, a follow-up date and management if there is adequate response to the therapeutic interventions. If there is no response despite adherence, laboratory investigations are recommended, or referral of the patient to a paediatric dietician or psychologist, a paediatric endocrinologist, or a specialist centre with expertise in the management of overweight and obesity.

After the first year of follow-up, the prevalence of obesity decreased by 32.1%, the prevalence of overweight decreased by 26.7%, and cardiometabolic risk factors improved significantly, indicating that a national e-health programme is effective at reducing the prevalence of overweight and obesity in children and adolescents.

4.3.3. The health action campaign review: local context and multiple approaches

In a comprehensive review of international childhood obesity prevention policies in 15 countries, the Health Action Campaign review highlights what has worked, and lessons learned in each country (Musuwo, 2019).

In general, reasons for poor outcomes of childhood obesity prevention policies may be that not enough action was taken (too few approaches) or that not enough time has passed for improved results to be achieved. A further reason could be that top-down policies from governments need to combine with bottom-up, community-based approaches, to facilitate 'whole systems' results. The most successful interventions are usually adapted to local contexts, taking account of existing social, environmental, and cultural factors. Engaging with and empowering local stakeholders and children/families within communities can help ensure sustainable, inclusive, and equitable lifestyle and behaviour change. Successful examples include local initiatives in parts of France, the Netherlands, the USA, Finland, and South Australia. Key features of these approaches include:

- Addressing the wider influences on children's diets and physical activity by incorporating initiatives throughout school, home, and community environments.
- Support for parents, families and early years professionals as children's food preferences and lifestyle choices are established in the early years.
- Engagement of influential stakeholders from central to local level, such as businesses, local government, schools, early years centres, communities, families, and parents.

• Empowering and enabling the capacity-building of local communities to help improve environments for children.

A challenge encountered by governments is how to empower or scale up local initiatives, a lesson that can be taken from the **French** example. The French government initiated their National Health and Nutrition Program in 2001. This included published guidelines on school meal nutrition standards, installation of fresh-water fountains in all schools, and banning of vending machines selling unhealthy food. In addition, a 1.5% tax was imposed on the advertising budgets of food companies not encouraging healthy eating, and TV and radio adverts for SSBs, added salt, artificial sweeteners and manufactured food products had to contain a health message. These policies, however, did not affect all population groups equally, and heightened health inequalities.

In 2004, ten French communities targeted children aged 0-12 with a whole-community approach (EPODE). The EPODE example from France has been a success and has now been adopted in several other countries. The design of EPODE was based on results from a 1992 study in two French towns, which found school-based interventions were ineffective on their own in significantly reducing childhood overweight and obesity, and that improvements were best achieved with community-based interventions (Romon et al., 2009). A range of stakeholders are involved in EPODE at two levels: bottom-up (local community stakeholders who determine the social, cultural, and physical adaption of actions in the local context) and top-down stakeholders (providing resources and support at a central level). The EPODE programme has been successful at reducing obesity rates, with a reduction of up to 25% in some communities (Borys et al., 2016). The programme has not only had the capacity to reduce childhood obesity but also to reduce health inequalities, as initiatives are adapted to socioeconomic groups, increasing community acceptance. A criticism of the programme is the partial funding from industry, but some argue this has contributed to the programme's success. More than 5 years after initial implementation, EPODE was still active in over 90% of the original pilot communities and active in over 500 communities globally.

Of all countries reviewed, only **Scotland** has seen a national reduction in children at risk of obesity (at least among boys, between 2012 and 2017), and this after years of sustained government action. Success is ascribed to the many policies in place in Scotland with potential to prevent an increase in obesity. Adopted policies included local town/community programmes based on the French EPODE blueprint, with a strong emphasis on social marketing and building partnerships and capacity. A 'Route Map' was launched by the Scottish government in 2010 where child healthy weight programmes were delivered through school-based interventions. Evaluation of outcomes revealed increased knowledge of healthy lifestyles, improved dietary choices, and increased physical activity levels, with the greatest improvement in BMI among children attending group-based compared to school-based interventions (Mackie and McCann, 2014).

The Route Map has now been overtaken by the latest national obesity strategy. The Scottish government has developed a M&E framework to report the plan's key measures of performance, with plans to publish regular progress reports. With over 60 actions, the plan takes a primary prevention approach, aiming to halve childhood obesity by 2030 and significantly reduce health inequalities. The plan focuses on tackling weight-related issues from an early stage, food environments supportive of healthier food choices, access to effective weight management services, leaders across all sectors promoting healthy weight and diet, and reduction of diet-related health inequalities.

Compulsory national policies on school-based health education can also support action on obesity prevention. In **Finland**, health education, nutrition and cooking lessons are mandatory in all schools. The city of Seinajoki has been the only to show falling childhood obesity numbers. Key aspects of their programme included improvement in school playgrounds, implementation of more physical activity in schools, elimination of sugary snacks, provision of healthier lunches, and introducing annual health checks in schools. These changes were accompanied by taxes on sweets and SSBs. The sweets tax raised the price of confectionary by about 10%, however, the consumption of taxed sweets remained the same following the price increase. The SSB tax has been successful in decreasing consumption by 4.2% in comparison to products not affected by the tax.

5. CONCLUSION

Common features of obesity interventions

A range of interventions are utilised in different countries to prevent or reduce adult or childhood obesity. The most common measures include the implementation of population-level interventions, fiscal and commercial policies, and system changes to make it easier and more affordable/attractive for individuals to make healthier lifestyle choices and to decrease access to or demand for unhealthy food options. Examples include restrictions on unhealthy food advertising and adding tax on sugar-sweetened beverages (SSBs). In South Africa, the implementation of tax on SSBs was followed by a reduction in mean sugar intake and taxed beverage sales.

Food product reformulation and the addition of simple, consumer-friendly front-of-package labels on food are often accompanied by reductions of the fat, sugar, and salt content of processed foods. Nutrition related strategies are often combined with improvements in school premises and public spaces for physical activity and with public campaigns for obesity awareness and healthier lifestyles. Several country examples emphasised the importance of adequate monitoring at the local level and effective oversight from government departments of fiscal and other measures adopted in relation to food products.

Challenges and barriers to obesity strategy implementation

National obesity strategy reports from several countries identified barriers to the implementation of specific interventions relating mostly to regulating food products and applying fiscal measures, including pressure and lobbying from the food industry. Likewise, opposition from certain public institutions was reported due to their concerns about the economic and social effects of policies to restrict or fiscally penalise unhealthy foods. However, the most frequently reported challenges and barriers involved the limited ability/competence by governments or their agencies to implement and enforce public policy. Several reports also referred to the weak or limited support received from civil society to specific commercial or fiscal measures that was often attributed to their lack of awareness about the risks of obesity or their limited understanding of the reasons justifying the adopted measures.

Apart from a few noteworthy research reports, we found limited published evidence about the effectiveness of measures adopted in South Africa to reduce obesity. Specific South African challenges such as the nutrition transition, fast food consumption, cultural acceptance of obesity and unsafe neighbourhoods were reported as challenges to obesity management. It was also reported that interventions that focus on individual behaviour and education rather than utilising a broader population-based approach were less likely to be successful. Limited health literacy, defined as the knowledge, skills, and confidence to adopt personal lifestyle changes aimed at obesity reduction was also reported. However, it was the lack of data linked to the implementation of the 2015-2020 National Obesity Strategy that is worth noting as part of this review. Stakeholder consultations to be undertaken shortly as part of the ongoing National Obesity Strategy review may shed light on the reasons for such paucity of data. Our reading of the strategy document and the absence of strategy review information would point to a lack of a systematic, verifiable, costed monitoring and evaluation (M&E) plan combined with the absence of obesity surveillance data, poorly defined M&E responsibilities of the designated departments implementing the strategy, and lack of funding/budget document to support M&E activities.

What makes a successful national obesity strategy?

The most comprehensive review of national obesity strategies that reviewers found is the Theis and White (2021) review of 14 UK government strategies either wholly or partially dedicated to tackling obesity, stretching from 1992 to 2020. The authors attempted to identify weaknesses in policy design and failures of implementation/evaluation leading to a lack of effectiveness.

Their main finding was that most of the least successful policies relied on individuals to make behaviour changes rather than shaping external influences. A second important finding was that policies were largely proposed in a way that would be unlikely to lead to implementation, as evidenced after applying policy implementation viability criteria where the least successful strategies obtained the lowest scores.

The authors then adopt a set of criteria for success which we propose to use in shaping the next National Obesity Strategy for South Africa:

- Setting a target population
- Stating a theory of change
- Evidence to support the policy proposals
- Details about cost/allocated budget
- Suggesting a responsible structure / agent
- Including a monitoring or evaluation plan
- Setting a time frame

Lessons for the next National Obesity Strategy for South Africa

This document has reported a number of specific interventions, success factors and barriers to guide the formulation, implementation, and monitoring of the next National Obesity Strategy for South Africa. Combinations of population-based, commercial, and fiscal and regulatory measures would appear most cost-effective. Where fiscal measures are considered, their effects on industry and on consumer behaviour should be not only anticipated and mitigated at the planning stage but closely monitored over time at the local level to confirm their efficacy. Data availability is a key consideration at design stage, not only for obesity surveillance and strategy monitoring but also to ensure future evidence-based decisions. Mass media and electronic platforms may help to increase awareness and educate individuals and communities about keeping a healthy body weight through the intake of healthier food, the adoption of healthier lifestyles, and the interaction with health care providers.

Strategy development should involve all stakeholders, allowing for coordinated, continuous inter-sectoral engagement and speaking with a unified voice. Practical actions need to be identified and prioritised, with leadership responsibilities and financial/human resources for their implementation and regular monitoring clearly allocated. If there is one lesson underpinning the more successful interventions and national obesity strategies, it is that implementation should be based on clear time frames, well-defined goals, and regular reviews of progress (in the form of agreed actions, committed resources and results). No strategy can claim success or failure unless it is closely monitored, with results recorded and swiftly communicated to all stakeholders (from national to local levels) and the public. Only this approach was found to generate both public accountability and the desired momentum in strategy implementation.

REFERENCES

- Access to Nutrition Foundation, 2021. Global Index 2021 [WWW Document]. Access Nutr. URL https://accesstonutrition.org/index/global-index-2021/ (accessed 10.2.21).
- Adams, J., Tyrrell, R., Adamson, A.J., White, M., 2012. Effect of restrictions on television food advertising to children on exposure to advertisements for "less healthy" foods: repeat cross-sectional study. PloS One 7, e31578. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0031578
- Ademi, Z., Tomonaga, Y., van Stiphout, J., Glinz, D., Gloy, V., Raatz, H., Bucher, H.C., Schwenkglenks, M., 2018.
 Adaptation of cost-effectiveness analyses to a single country: the case of bariatric surgery for obesity and overweight. Swiss Med. Wkly. 148, w14626. https://doi.org/10.4414/smw.2018.14626
- Alexander, E., Rutkow, L., Gudzune, K.A., Cohen, J.E., McGinty, E.E., 2021. Sodium menu labelling: priorities for research and policy. Public Health Nutr. 24, 1542–1551. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980020003961
- Allender, S., Rayner, M., 2007. The burden of overweight and obesity-related ill health in the UK. Obes. Rev. 8, 467–473. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-789X.2007.00394.x
- Allied Market Research, 2019. South Africa Fast Food Market Statistics | Industry Forecast, 2019-2026 [WWW Document]. Allied Mark. Res. URL https://www.alliedmarketresearch.com/south-africa-fast-food-market (accessed 7.4.21).
- Amod, A., 2017. The society for endocrinology, metabolism and diabetes of South Africa type 2 diabetes guidelines expert committee. The 2017 SEMDSA guideline for the management of type 2 diabetes guideline committee. J. Endocrinol. Metab. Diabetes South Afr. 21.
- Ananthapavan, J., Sacks, G., Brown, V., Moodie, M., Nguyen, P., Veerman, L., Mantilla Herrera, A.M., Lal, A., Peeters, A., Carter, R., 2020. Priority-setting for obesity prevention-The Assessing Cost-Effectiveness of obesity prevention policies in Australia (ACE-Obesity Policy) study. PloS One 15, e0234804. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0234804
- Ananthapavan, J., Sacks, G., Moodie, M., Carter, R., 2014. Economics of obesity--learning from the past to contribute to a better future. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public. Health 11, 4007–4025. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph110404007
- Anderson, J., World Health Organization, 2009. Interventions on diet and physical activity: what works : summary report.
- Andreyeva, T., Long, M.W., Brownell, K.D., 2010. The impact of food prices on consumption: a systematic review of research on the price elasticity of demand for food. Am. J. Public Health 100, 216–222. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2008.151415
- Anselmi, J., 2018. Restrictions on marketing unhealthy food to children international comparison 8.
- Ardington, C., Gasealahwe, B., University of Cape Town, Southern Africa Labour and Development Research Unit, University of Cape Town, National Income Dynamics Study, 2012. Health: analysis of the NIDS Wave 1 and 2 datasets. Southern Africa Labour and Development Research Unit, Cape Town.
- Arenz, S., Rückerl, R., Koletzko, B., von Kries, R., 2004. Breast-feeding and childhood obesity—a systematic review. Int. J. Obes. 28, 1247–1256. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ijo.0802758
- Arigo, D., Jake-Schoffman, D.E., Wolin, K., Beckjord, E., Hekler, E.B., Pagoto, S.L., 2019. The history and future of digital health in the field of behavioral medicine. J. Behav. Med. 42, 67–83. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10865-018-9966-z
- Arno, A., Thomas, S., 2016. The efficacy of nudge theory strategies in influencing adult dietary behaviour: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Public Health 16, 676. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-016-3272-x
- Arrúa, A., Curutchet, M.R., Rey, N., Barreto, P., Golovchenko, N., Sellanes, A., Velazco, G., Winokur, M., Giménez, A., Ares, G., 2017. Impact of front-of-pack nutrition information and label design on children's choice of two snack foods: Comparison of warnings and the traffic-light system. Appetite 116, 139–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2017.04.012

- Ashrafian, H., Toma, T., Harling, L., Kerr, K., Athanasiou, T., Darzi, A., 2014. Social networking strategies that aim to reduce obesity have achieved significant although modest results. Health Aff. Proj. Hope 33, 1641–1647. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2014.0370
- Ashwell, M., Gibson, S., 2016. Waist-to-height ratio as an indicator of "early health risk": simpler and more predictive than using a "matrix" based on BMI and waist circumference. BMJ Open 6, e010159. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2015-010159
- Australian Department of Health, 2019. National Obesity Strategy Australian Government Department of Health - Citizen Space [WWW Document]. URL https://consultations.health.gov.au/population-healthand-sport-division/national-obesity-strategy/ (accessed 6.12.21).
- Awofeso, N., Imam, S.A., Ahmed, A., 2019. Content Analysis of Media Coverage of Childhood Obesity Topics in UAE Newspapers and Popular Social Media Platforms, 2014-2017. Int. J. Health Policy Manag. 8, 81– 89. https://doi.org/10.15171/ijhpm.2018.100
- Azad, M.B., Vehling, L., Chan, D., Klopp, A., Nickel, N.C., McGavock, J.M., Becker, A.B., Mandhane, P.J., Turvey, S.E., Moraes, T.J., Taylor, M.S., Lefebvre, D.L., Sears, M.R., Subbarao, P., Investigators, on behalf of the C.S., 2018. Infant Feeding and Weight Gain: Separating Breast Milk From Breastfeeding and Formula From Food. Pediatrics 142. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2018-1092
- Backholer, K., Beauchamp, A., Ball, K., Turrell, G., Martin, J., Woods, J., Peeters, A., 2014. A framework for evaluating the impact of obesity prevention strategies on socioeconomic inequalities in weight. Am. J.
 Public Health 104, e43-50. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2014.302066
- Backholer, K., Sarink, D., Beauchamp, A., Keating, C., Loh, V., Ball, K., Martin, J., Peeters, A., 2016. The impact of a tax on sugar-sweetened beverages according to socio-economic position: a systematic review of the evidence. Public Health Nutr. 19, 3070–3084. https://doi.org/10.1017/S136898001600104X
- Baker, P., Machado, P., Santos, T., Sievert, K., Backholer, K., Hadjikakou, M., Russell, C., Huse, O., Bell, C., Scrinis, G., Worsley, A., Friel, S., Lawrence, M., 2020. Ultra-processed foods and the nutrition transition: Global, regional and national trends, food systems transformations and political economy drivers. Obes. Rev. Off. J. Int. Assoc. Study Obes. 21, e13126. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.13126
- Bandy, L.K., Scarborough, P., Harrington, R.A., Rayner, M., Jebb, S.A., 2020. Reductions in sugar sales from soft drinks in the UK from 2015 to 2018. BMC Med. 18, 20. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-019-1477-4
- Better Health Project South Africa, 2021. Social & behaviour change communication (SBCC) requirements NCDs SUMMARY. SANCDA. URL https://www.sancda.org.za/knowledge-base/ncds-nsp-alignment-of-strategies-summary-report-2-2/ (accessed 7.9.21).
- Binns, C.W., Lee, M.K., Maycock, B., Torheim, L.E., Nanishi, K., Duong, D.T.T., 2021. Climate Change, Food Supply, and Dietary Guidelines. Annu. Rev. Public Health 42, 233–255. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-012420-105044
- Blake-Lamb, T., Boudreau, A.A., Matathia, S., Perkins, M.E., Roche, B., Cheng, E.R., Kotelchuck, M., Shtasel, D., Taveras, E.M., 2020. Association of the First 1,000 Days Systems-Change Intervention on Maternal Gestational Weight Gain. Obstet. Gynecol. 135, 1047–1057. https://doi.org/10.1097/AOG.00000000003752
- Bleich, S.N., Vercammen, K.A., Zatz, L.Y., Frelier, J.M., Ebbeling, C.B., Peeters, A., 2018. Interventions to prevent global childhood overweight and obesity: a systematic review. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 6, 332– 346. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-8587(17)30358-3
- Blundell, J., Dulloo, A., Salvador, J., Frühbeck, G., 2014. Beyond BMI--phenotyping the obesities. Obes. Facts 7. https://doi.org/10.1159/000368783
- Bonfrate, L., Wang, D.Q.-H., Garruti, G., Portincasa, P., 2014. Obesity and the risk and prognosis of gallstone disease and pancreatitis. Best Pract. Res. Clin. Gastroenterol. 28, 623–635. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpg.2014.07.013
- Borges, M.C., Louzada, M.L., de Sá, T.H., Laverty, A.A., Parra, D.C., Garzillo, J.M.F., Monteiro, C.A., Millett, C., 2017. Artificially Sweetened Beverages and the Response to the Global Obesity Crisis. PLoS Med. 14, e1002195. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1002195

- Borisenko, O., Lukyanov, V., Ahmed, A.R., 2018. Cost-utility analysis of bariatric surgery. Br. J. Surg. 105, 1328–1337. https://doi.org/10.1002/bjs.10857
- Borys, J.-M., Richard, P., Ruault du Plessis, H., Harper, P., Levy, E., 2016. Tackling Health Inequities and Reducing Obesity Prevalence: The EPODE Community-Based Approach. Ann. Nutr. Metab. 68 Suppl 2, 35–38. https://doi.org/10.1159/000446223
- Bosire, E.N., Cohen, E., Erzse, A., Goldstein, S.J., Hofman, K.J., Norris, S.A., 2020. "I'd say I'm fat, I'm not obese": obesity normalisation in urban-poor South Africa. Public Health Nutr. 23, 1515–1526. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980019004440
- Boyers, D., Retat, L., Jacobsen, E., Avenell, A., Aveyard, P., Corbould, E., Jaccard, A., Cooper, D., Robertson, C., Aceves-Martins, M., Xu, B., Skea, Z., de Bruin, M., and the REBALANCE team, 2021. Cost-effectiveness of bariatric surgery and non-surgical weight management programmes for adults with severe obesity: a decision analysis model. Int. J. Obes. 2005 45, 2179–2190. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41366-021-00849-8
- Boyland, E.J., Whalen, R., 2015. Food advertising to children and its effects on diet: review of recent prevalence and impact data. Pediatr. Diabetes 16, 331–337. https://doi.org/10.1111/pedi.12278
- Brown, V., Ananthapavan, J., Sonntag, D., Tan, E.J., Hayes, A., Moodie, M., 2019. The potential for long-term cost-effectiveness of obesity prevention interventions in the early years of life. Pediatr. Obes. 14, e12517. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijpo.12517
- Browne, N.T., Snethen, J.A., Greenberg, C.S., Frenn, M., Kilanowski, J.F., Gance-Cleveland, B., Burke, P.J., Lewandowski, L., 2021. When Pandemics Collide: The Impact of COVID-19 on Childhood Obesity. J. Pediatr. Nurs. 56, 90–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedn.2020.11.004
- Carbone, A., Al Salhi, Y., Tasca, A., Palleschi, G., Fuschi, A., De Nunzio, C., Bozzini, G., Mazzaferro, S., Pastore, A.L., 2018. Obesity and kidney stone disease: a systematic review. Minerva Urol. E Nefrol. Ital. J. Urol. Nephrol. 70, 393–400. https://doi.org/10.23736/S0393-2249.18.03113-2
- Carlsson, L.M.S., Sjöholm, K., Jacobson, P., Andersson-Assarsson, J.C., Svensson, P.-A., Taube, M., Carlsson, B., Peltonen, M., 2020. Life Expectancy after Bariatric Surgery in the Swedish Obese Subjects Study. N. Engl. J. Med. 383, 1535–1543. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2002449
- Cecchini, M., Sassi, F., Lauer, J.A., Lee, Y.Y., Guajardo-Barron, V., Chisholm, D., 2010. Tackling of unhealthy diets, physical inactivity, and obesity: health effects and cost-effectiveness. Lancet Lond. Engl. 376, 1775–1784. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61514-0
- Cecchini, M., Warin, L., 2016. Impact of food labelling systems on food choices and eating behaviours: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized studies. Obes. Rev. Off. J. Int. Assoc. Study Obes. 17, 201–210. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12364
- Centurión, M., Machín, L., Ares, G., 2019. Relative Impact of Nutritional Warnings and Other Label Features on Cereal Bar Healthfulness Evaluations. J. Nutr. Educ. Behav. 51, 850–856. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneb.2019.01.021
- Chan, J.C.N., Lim, L.-L., Wareham, N.J., Shaw, J.E., Orchard, T.J., Zhang, P., Lau, E.S.H., Eliasson, B., Kong, A.P.S., Ezzati, M., Aguilar-Salinas, C.A., McGill, M., Levitt, N.S., Ning, G., So, W.-Y., Adams, J., Bracco, P., Forouhi, N.G., Gregory, G.A., Guo, J., Hua, X., Klatman, E.L., Magliano, D.J., Ng, B.-P., Ogilvie, D., Panter, J., Pavkov, M., Shao, H., Unwin, N., White, M., Wou, C., Ma, R.C.W., Schmidt, M.I., Ramachandran, A., Seino, Y., Bennett, P.H., Oldenburg, B., Gagliardino, J.J., Luk, A.O.Y., Clarke, P.M., Ogle, G.D., Davies, M.J., Holman, R.R., Gregg, E.W., 2021. The Lancet Commission on diabetes: using data to transform diabetes care and patient lives. Lancet Lond. Engl. 396, 2019–2082. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)32374-6
- Chile Ministry of Health, B. del C., 2015. Biblioteca del Congreso Nacional | Ley Chile [WWW Document]. www.bcn.cl/leychile. URL https://www.bcn.cl/leychile (accessed 5.30.21).
- Chung, A., Tully, L., Czernin, S., Thompson, R., Mansoor, A., Gortmaker, S.L., 2021. Reducing risk of childhood obesity in the wake of covid-19. BMJ 374, n1716. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.n1716
- Cobiac, L.J., Veerman, L., Vos, T., 2013. The role of cost-effectiveness analysis in developing nutrition policy. Annu. Rev. Nutr. 33, 373–393. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-nutr-071812-161133

Coelho, R., 2017. Sugar-Sweetened Beverages and Fruit Juice Consumption in Obesity. J Obes Eat Disord 3.

- Colchero, M.A., Rivera-Dommarco, J., Popkin, B.M., Ng, S.W., 2017. In Mexico, Evidence Of Sustained Consumer Response Two Years After Implementing A Sugar-Sweetened Beverage Tax. Health Aff. Proj. Hope 36, 564–571. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2016.1231
- Colditz, G.A., Willett, W.C., Rotnitzky, A., Manson, J.E., 1995. Weight gain as a risk factor for clinical diabetes mellitus in women. Ann. Intern. Med. 122, 481–486. https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-122-7-199504010-00001
- Correa, T., Reyes, M., Taillie, L.S., Corvalán, C., Dillman Carpentier, F.R., 2020. Food Advertising on Television Before and After a National Unhealthy Food Marketing Regulation in Chile, 2016-2017. Am. J. Public Health 110, 1054–1059. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2020.305658
- Corvalán, C., Reyes, M., Garmendia, M.L., Uauy, R., 2019. Structural responses to the obesity and noncommunicable diseases epidemic: Update on the Chilean law of food labelling and advertising. Obes. Rev. Off. J. Int. Assoc. Study Obes. 20, 367–374. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12802
- Corvalán, C., Reyes, M., Garmendia, M.L., Uauy, R., 2013. Structural responses to the obesity and noncommunicable diseases epidemic: the Chilean Law of Food Labeling and Advertising. Obes. Rev. Off. J. Int. Assoc. Study Obes. 14 Suppl 2, 79–87. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12099
- Cummings, D.E., Rubino, F., 2018. Metabolic surgery for the treatment of type 2 diabetes in obese individuals. Diabetologia 61, 257–264. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-017-4513-y
- Daviglus, M.L., Liu, K., Yan, L.L., Pirzada, A., Manheim, L., Manning, W., Garside, D.B., Wang, R., Dyer, A.R., Greenland, P., Stamler, J., 2004. Relation of body mass index in young adulthood and middle age to Medicare expenditures in older age. JAMA 292, 2743–2749. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.292.22.2743
- Davis, J.N., Pérez, A., Asigbee, F.M., Landry, M.J., Vandyousefi, S., Ghaddar, R., Hoover, A., Jeans, M., Nikah, K., Fischer, B., Pont, S.J., Richards, D., Hoelscher, D.M., Van Den Berg, A.E., 2021. School-based gardening, cooking and nutrition intervention increased vegetable intake but did not reduce BMI: Texas sprouts - a cluster randomized controlled trial. Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act. 18, 18. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-021-01087-x
- de Koning, L., Malik, V.S., Kellogg, M.D., Rimm, E.B., Willett, W.C., Hu, F.B., 2012. Sweetened beverage consumption, incident coronary heart disease, and biomarkers of risk in men. Circulation 125, 1735–1741, S1. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.067017
- de Villiers, A., Steyn, N.P., Draper, C.E., Fourie, J.M., Barkhuizen, G., Lombard, C.J., Dalais, L., Abrahams, Z., Lambert, E.V., 2012. "HealthKick": formative assessment of the health environment in low-resource primary schools in the Western Cape Province of South Africa. BMC Public Health 12, 794. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-12-794
- Devakumar, D., Grijalva-Eternod, C., Roberts, S., Chaube, S., Saville, N., Manandhar, D., Costello, A., Osrin, D., Wells, J., 2015. Body composition in Nepalese children using isotope dilution: the production of ethnic-specific calibration equations and an exploration of methodological issues. PeerJ 3. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.785
- Devarajan, R., Prabhakaran, D., Goenka, S., 2020. Built environment for physical activity-An urban barometer, surveillance, and monitoring. Obes. Rev. Off. J. Int. Assoc. Study Obes. 21, e12938. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12938
- Dias, P.C., Henriques, P., Anjos, L.A. dos, Burlandy, L., Dias, P.C., Henriques, P., Anjos, L.A. dos, Burlandy, L., 2017. Obesity and public policies: the Brazilian government's definitions and strategies. Cad. Saúde Pública 33. https://doi.org/10.1590/0102-311x00006016
- DiMeglio, D.P., Mattes, R.D., 2000. Liquid versus solid carbohydrate: effects on food intake and body weight. Int. J. Obes. Relat. Metab. Disord. J. Int. Assoc. Study Obes. 24, 794–800. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ijo.0801229
- Ding, J., Sun, Y., Li, Y., He, J., Sinclair, H., Du, W., Wang, H., Zhang, P., 2020. Systematic Review on International Salt Reduction Policy in Restaurants. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public. Health 17. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17249570

- Discovery Obecity Index, O., 2017. Fight obesity in South Africa a step at a time | Exercise [WWW Document]. URL https://www.discovery.co.za/corporate/exercise-fight-obesity-a-step-at-a-time (accessed 5.12.21).
- Downs, S.M., Bloem, M.Z., Zheng, M., Catterall, E., Thomas, B., Veerman, L., Wu, J.H., 2017. The Impact of Policies to Reduce trans Fat Consumption: A Systematic Review of the Evidence. Curr. Dev. Nutr. 1. https://doi.org/10.3945/cdn.117.000778
- Downs, S.M., Thow, A.M., Leeder, S.R., 2013. The effectiveness of policies for reducing dietary trans fat: a systematic review of the evidence. Bull. World Health Organ. 91, 262-269H. https://doi.org/10.2471/BLT.12.111468
- Draper, C.E., Tomaz, S.A., Bassett, S.H., Burnett, C., Christie, C.J., Cozett, C., de Milander, M., Krog, S., Monyeki, A., Naidoo, N., Naidoo, R., Prioreschi, A., Walter, C., Watson, E., Lambert, E.V., 2018. Results from South Africa's 2018 Report Card on Physical Activity for Children and Youth. J. Phys. Act. Health 15, S406–S408. https://doi.org/10.1123/jpah.2018-0517
- Drouin-Chartier, J.-P., Zheng, Y., Li, Y., Malik, V., Pan, A., Bhupathiraju, S.N., Tobias, D.K., Manson, J.E., Willett, W.C., Hu, F.B., 2019. Changes in Consumption of Sugary Beverages and Artificially Sweetened Beverages and Subsequent Risk of Type 2 Diabetes: Results From Three Large Prospective U.S. Cohorts of Women and Men. Diabetes Care 42, 2181–2189. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc19-0734
- Duan, Y., Shang, B., Liang, W., Du, G., Yang, M., Rhodes, R.E., 2021. Effects of eHealth-Based Multiple Health Behavior Change Interventions on Physical Activity, Healthy Diet, and Weight in People With Noncommunicable Diseases: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. J. Med. Internet Res. 23, e23786. https://doi.org/10.2196/23786
- Ducrot, P., Julia, C., Méjean, C., Kesse-Guyot, E., Touvier, M., Fezeu, L.K., Hercberg, S., Péneau, S., 2016. Impact of Different Front-of-Pack Nutrition Labels on Consumer Purchasing Intentions: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Am. J. Prev. Med. 50, 627–636. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2015.10.020
- Dunford, E.K., Taillie, L.S., Miles, D.R., Eyles, H., Tolentino-Mayo, L., Ng, S.W., 2018. Non-Nutritive Sweeteners in the Packaged Food Supply-An Assessment across 4 Countries. Nutrients 10. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu10020257
- EFSA Panel on Nutrition, Novel Foods and Food Allergens (NDA), Castenmiller, J., de Henauw, S., Hirsch-Ernst,
 K.-I., Kearney, J., Knutsen, H.K., Maciuk, A., Mangelsdorf, I., McArdle, H.J., Naska, A., Pelaez, C.,
 Pentieva, K., Siani, A., Thies, F., Tsabouri, S., Vinceti, M., Bresson, J.-L., Fewtrell, M., Kersting, M.,
 Przyrembel, H., Dumas, C., Titz, A., Turck, D., 2019. Appropriate age range for introduction of
 complementary feeding into an infant's diet. EFSA J. Eur. Food Saf. Auth. 17, e05780.
 https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2019.5780
- Elliott, C., Truman, E., 2020. The Power of Packaging: A Scoping Review and Assessment of Child-Targeted Food Packaging. Nutrients 12. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu12040958
- Erzse, A., Abdool Karim, S., Thow, A.M., Ahaibwe, G., Amukugo, H.J., Asiki, G., Gaogane, L., Mukanu, M.M., Ngoma, T., Ruhara, C.M., Wanjohi, M.N., Hofman, K., 2021. The data availability landscape in seven sub-Saharan African countries and its role in strengthening sugar-sweetened beverage taxation. Glob. Health Action 14, 1871189. https://doi.org/10.1080/16549716.2020.1871189
- Erzse, A., Stacey, N., Chola, L., Tugendhaft, A., Freeman, M., Hofman, K., 2019. The direct medical cost of type 2 diabetes mellitus in South Africa: a cost of illness study. Glob. Health Action 12, 1636611. https://doi.org/10.1080/16549716.2019.1636611
- ESPGHAN, 2017. 2017 Complementary Feeding | ESPGHAN [WWW Document]. URL http://www.espghan.org/knowledge-center/publications/Nutrition/2017_Complementary_Feeding (accessed 7.19.21).
- Estes, C., Anstee, Q.M., Arias-Loste, M.T., Bantel, H., Bellentani, S., Caballeria, J., Colombo, M., Craxi, A., Crespo, J., Day, C.P., Eguchi, Y., Geier, A., Kondili, L.A., Kroy, D.C., Lazarus, J.V., Loomba, R., Manns, M.P., Marchesini, G., Nakajima, A., Negro, F., Petta, S., Ratziu, V., Romero-Gomez, M., Sanyal, A., Schattenberg, J.M., Tacke, F., Tanaka, J., Trautwein, C., Wei, L., Zeuzem, S., Razavi, H., 2018. Modeling NAFLD disease burden in China, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, Spain, United Kingdom, and United States for the period 2016-2030. J. Hepatol. 69, 896–904. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhep.2018.05.036

- EUFIC, 2018. EUFIC's 2018 Global update on nutrition labelling [WWW Document]. URL https://www.eufic.org/en/healthy-living/article/global-update-on-nutrition-labelling (accessed 5.30.21).
- Faber, M., Laurie, S., Maduna, M., Magudulela, T., Muehlhoff, E., 2014. Is the school food environment conducive to healthy eating in poorly resourced South African schools? Public Health Nutr. 17, 1214– 1223. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980013002279
- Falbe, J., Grummon, A.H., Rojas, N., Ryan-Ibarra, S., Silver, L.D., Madsen, K.A., 2020. Implementation of the First US Sugar-Sweetened Beverage Tax in Berkeley, CA, 2015-2019. Am. J. Public Health 110, 1429– 1437. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2020.305795
- Fewtrell, M., Bronsky, J., Campoy, C., Domellöf, M., Embleton, N., Fidler Mis, N., Hojsak, I., Hulst, J.M., Indrio, F., Lapillonne, A., Molgaard, C., 2017. Complementary Feeding: A Position Paper by the European Society for Paediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology, and Nutrition (ESPGHAN) Committee on Nutrition. J. Pediatr. Gastroenterol. Nutr. 64, 119–132. https://doi.org/10.1097/MPG.00000000001454
- Finkelstein, E.A., Trogdon, J.G., Brown, D.S., Allaire, B.T., Dellea, P.S., Kamal-Bahl, S.J., 2008. The lifetime medical cost burden of overweight and obesity: implications for obesity prevention. Obes. Silver Spring Md 16, 1843–1848. https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2008.290
- Fleyeh, H., 2004. Color detection and segmentation for road and traffic signs, in: IEEE Conference on Cybernetics and Intelligent Systems, 2004. Presented at the IEEE Conference on Cybernetics and Intelligent Systems, 2004., pp. 809–814. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICCIS.2004.1460692
- Freedman, D.M., Ron, E., Ballard-Barbash, R., Doody, M.M., Linet, M.S., 2006. Body mass index and all-cause mortality in a nationwide US cohort. Int. J. Obes. 2005 30, 822–829. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ijo.0803193
- Galvain, T., Patel, S., Kabiri, M., Tien, S., Casali, G., Pournaras, D.J., 2021. Cost-effectiveness of bariatric and metabolic surgery, and implications of COVID-19 in the United Kingdom. Surg. Obes. Relat. Dis. Off. J. Am. Soc. Bariatr. Surg. S1550-7289(21)00352-X. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soard.2021.07.009
- GBD 2015 Obesity Collaborators, Afshin, A., Forouzanfar, M.H., Reitsma, M.B., Sur, P., Estep, K., Lee, A., Marczak, L., Mokdad, A.H., Moradi-Lakeh, M., Naghavi, M., Salama, J.S., Vos, T., Abate, K.H., Abbafati, C., Ahmed, M.B., Al-Aly, Z., Alkerwi, A., Al-Raddadi, R., Amare, A.T., Amberbir, A., Amegah, A.K., Amini, E., Amrock, S.M., Anjana, R.M., Ärnlöv, J., Asayesh, H., Banerjee, A., Barac, A., Baye, E., Bennett, D.A., Beyene, A.S., Biadgilign, S., Biryukov, S., Bjertness, E., Boneya, D.J., Campos-Nonato, I., Carrero, J.J., Cecilio, P., Cercy, K., Ciobanu, L.G., Cornaby, L., Damtew, S.A., Dandona, L., Dandona, R., Dharmaratne, S.D., Duncan, B.B., Eshrati, B., Esteghamati, A., Feigin, V.L., Fernandes, J.C., Fürst, T., Gebrehiwot, T.T., Gold, A., Gona, P.N., Goto, A., Habtewold, T.D., Hadush, K.T., Hafezi-Nejad, N., Hay, S.I., Horino, M., Islami, F., Kamal, R., Kasaeian, A., Katikireddi, S.V., Kengne, A.P., Kesavachandran, C.N., Khader, Y.S., Khang, Y.-H., Khubchandani, J., Kim, D., Kim, Y.J., Kinfu, Y., Kosen, S., Ku, T., Defo, B.K., Kumar, G.A., Larson, H.J., Leinsalu, M., Liang, X., Lim, S.S., Liu, P., Lopez, A.D., Lozano, R., Majeed, A., Malekzadeh, R., Malta, D.C., Mazidi, M., McAlinden, C., McGarvey, S.T., Mengistu, D.T., Mensah, G.A., Mensink, G.B.M., Mezgebe, H.B., Mirrakhimov, E.M., Mueller, U.O., Noubiap, J.J., Obermeyer, C.M., Ogbo, F.A., Owolabi, M.O., Patton, G.C., Pourmalek, F., Qorbani, M., Rafay, A., Rai, R.K., Ranabhat, C.L., Reinig, N., Safiri, S., Salomon, J.A., Sanabria, J.R., Santos, I.S., Sartorius, B., Sawhney, M., Schmidhuber, J., Schutte, A.E., Schmidt, M.I., Sepanlou, S.G., Shamsizadeh, M., Sheikhbahaei, S., Shin, M.-J., Shiri, R., Shiue, I., Roba, H.S., Silva, D.A.S., Silverberg, J.I., Singh, J.A., Stranges, S., Swaminathan, S., Tabarés-Seisdedos, R., Tadese, F., Tedla, B.A., Tegegne, B.S., Terkawi, A.S., Thakur, J.S., Tonelli, M., Topor-Madry, R., Tyrovolas, S., Ukwaja, K.N., Uthman, O.A., Vaezghasemi, M., Vasankari, T., Vlassov, V.V., Vollset, S.E., Weiderpass, E., Werdecker, A., Wesana, J., Westerman, R., Yano, Y., Yonemoto, N., Yonga, G., Zaidi, Z., Zenebe, Z.M., Zipkin, B., Murray, C.J.L., 2017. Health Effects of Overweight and Obesity in 195 Countries over 25 Years. N. Engl. J. Med. 377, 13–27. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1614362

Global Food Research Program, 2021. Marketing. URL https://globalfoodresearchprogram.web.unc.edu/resources/ (accessed 5.30.21).

Golzarand, M., Toolabi, K., Farid, R., 2017. The bariatric surgery and weight losing: a meta-analysis in the longand very long-term effects of laparoscopic adjustable gastric banding, laparoscopic Roux-en-Y gastric bypass and laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy on weight loss in adults. Surg. Endosc. 31, 4331–4345. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00464-017-5505-1

- Gómez-Ambrosi, J., Silva, C., Galofré, J., Escalada, J., Santos, Millán, D., Vila, N., Ibañez, P., Gil, M., Valentí, V., Rotellar, F., Ramírez, B., Salvador, J., Frühbeck, G., 2012. Body mass index classification misses subjects with increased cardiometabolic risk factors related to elevated adiposity. Int. J. Obes. 2005 36. https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2011.100
- Gortmaker, S.L., Long, M.W., Resch, S.C., Ward, Z.J., Cradock, A.L., Barrett, J.L., Wright, D.R., Sonneville, K.R., Giles, C.M., Carter, R.C., Moodie, M.L., Sacks, G., Swinburn, B.A., Hsiao, A., Vine, S., Barendregt, J., Vos, T., Wang, Y.C., 2015a. Cost Effectiveness of Childhood Obesity Interventions: Evidence and Methods for CHOICES. Am. J. Prev. Med. 49, 102–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2015.03.032
- Gortmaker, S.L., Wang, Y.C., Long, M.W., Giles, C.M., Ward, Z.J., Barrett, J.L., Kenney, E.L., Sonneville, K.R., Afzal, A.S., Resch, S.C., Cradock, A.L., 2015b. Three Interventions That Reduce Childhood Obesity Are Projected To Save More Than They Cost To Implement. Health Aff. Proj. Hope 34, 1932–1939. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2015.0631
- Graham, L., Hochfeld, T., Stuart, L., 2018. Double trouble: Addressing stunting and obesity via school nutrition. South Afr. J. Child Health 12, 90+.
- Green, C.H., Syn, W.-K., 2019. Non-nutritive sweeteners and their association with the metabolic syndrome and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: a review of the literature. Eur. J. Nutr. 58, 1785–1800. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00394-019-01996-5
- Greenway, F.L., 2015. Physiological adaptations to weight loss and factors favouring weight regain. Int. J. Obes. 2005 39, 1188–1196. https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2015.59
- Grobler, L., Visser, M., Siegfried, N., 2019. Healthy Life Trajectories Initiative: Summary of the evidence base for pregnancy-related interventions to prevent overweight and obesity in children. Obes. Rev. Off. J. Int. Assoc. Study Obes. 20 Suppl 1, 18–30. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12767
- Gu, D., He, J., Duan, X., Reynolds, K., Wu, X., Chen, J., Huang, G., Chen, C.-S., Whelton, P.K., 2006. Body weight and mortality among men and women in China. JAMA 295, 776–783. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.295.7.776
- Gutin, I., 2018. In BMI We Trust: Reframing the Body Mass Index as a Measure of Health. Soc. Theory Health STH 16. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41285-017-0055-0
- Hamlin, R.P., McNeill, L.S., Moore, V., 2015. The impact of front-of-pack nutrition labels on consumer product evaluation and choice: an experimental study. Public Health Nutr. 18, 2126–2134. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980014002997
- Hammond, D., 2011. Health warning messages on tobacco products: a review. Tob. Control 20, 327–337. https://doi.org/10.1136/tc.2010.037630
- Harder, T., Bergmann, R., Kallischnigg, G., Plagemann, A., 2005. Duration of Breastfeeding and Risk of Overweight: A Meta-Analysis. Am. J. Epidemiol. 162, 397–403. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwi222
- Hardy, L.L., Mihrshahi, S., 2020. Elements of Effective Population Surveillance Systems for Monitoring Obesity in School Aged Children. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public. Health 17. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17186812
- Harris, J.L., Brownell, K.D., Bargh, J.A., 2009. The Food Marketing Defense Model: Integrating Psychological Research to Protect Youth and Inform Public Policy. Soc. Issues Policy Rev. 3, 211–271. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-2409.2009.01015.x
- Harrison, S., Dixon, P., Jones, H.E., Davies, A.R., Howe, L.D., Davies, N.M., 2021. Long-term cost-effectiveness of interventions for obesity: A mendelian randomisation study. PLoS Med. 18, e1003725. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1003725
- Hawkes, C., Jewell, J., Allen, K., 2013. A food policy package for healthy diets and the prevention of obesity and diet-related non-communicable diseases: the NOURISHING framework. Obes. Rev. Off. J. Int. Assoc. Study Obes. 14 Suppl 2, 159–168. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12098

- Hawkins, M., Belson, S.I., McClave, R., Kohls, L., Little, S., Snelling, A., 2021. Healthy Schoolhouse 2.0 Health Promotion Intervention to Reduce Childhood Obesity in Washington, DC: A Feasibility Study. Nutrients 13, 2935. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu13092935
- Hawley, K.L., Roberto, C.A., Bragg, M.A., Liu, P.J., Schwartz, M.B., Brownell, K.D., 2013. The science on front-ofpackage food labels. Public Health Nutr. 16, 430–439. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980012000754
- Hazell, E., 2016. National School Nutrition Program Report 2016.
- Hoelscher, D., N, R., Pérez, A., 2017. Surveillance Systems to Track and Evaluate Obesity Prevention Efforts. Annu. Rev. Public Health 38. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-031816-044537
- Hofman, K.J., Stacey, N., Swart, E.C., Popkin, B.M., Ng, S.W., 2021. South Africa's Health Promotion Levy: Excise tax findings and equity potential. Obes. Rev. Off. J. Int. Assoc. Study Obes. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.13301
- Houts, P.S., Shankar, S., Klassen, A.C., Robinson, E.B., 2006. Use of pictures to facilitate nutrition education for low-income African American women. J. Nutr. Educ. Behav. 38, 317–318. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneb.2006.06.002
- Huang, C.Y., Reisch, L.A., Gwozdz, W., Molnár, D., Konstabel, K., Michels, N., Tornaritis, M., Eiben, G., Siani, A., Fernández-Alvira, J.M., Ahrens, W., Pigeot, I., Lissner, L., 2016. Pester power and its consequences: do European children's food purchasing requests relate to diet and weight outcomes? Public Health Nutr. 19, 2393–2403. https://doi.org/10.1017/S136898001600135X
- Hunter-Adams, J., Battersby, J., Oni, T., 2019. Food insecurity in relation to obesity in peri-urban Cape Town, South Africa: Implications for diet-related non-communicable disease. Appetite 137, 244–249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2019.03.012
- Hutton, G.B., Brugulat-Panés, A., Bhagtani, D., Mba Maadjhou, C., Birch, J.M., Shih, H., Okop, K., Muti, M., Wadende, P., Tatah, L., Mogo, E., Guariguata, L., Unwin, N., 2021. A Systematic Scoping Review of the Impacts of Community Food Production Initiatives in Kenya, Cameroon, and South Africa. J. Glob. Health Rep. 5, e2021010. https://doi.org/10.29392/001c.19468
- Igumbor, E.U., Sanders, D., Puoane, T.R., Tsolekile, L., Schwarz, C., Purdy, C., Swart, R., Durão, S., Hawkes, C., 2012. "Big food," the consumer food environment, health, and the policy response in South Africa. PLoS Med. 9, e1001253. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001253
- Institute of Medicine, 2006. Food Marketing to Children and Youth: Threat or Opportunity? https://doi.org/10.17226/11514
- Israel Ministry of Health, 2017. Food Label and Nutritional Labeling [WWW Document]. Smart Nutr. URL https://www.health.gov.il/English/Topics/FoodAndNutrition/Nutrition/Adequate_nutrition/Pages/lab eling.aspx (accessed 5.30.21).
- Jensen, M.L., Dillman Carpentier, F.R., Adair, L., Corvalán, C., Popkin, B.M., Taillie, L.S., 2021. TV advertising and dietary intake in adolescents: a pre- and post- study of Chile's Food Marketing Policy. Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act. 18, 60. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-021-01126-7
- Joubert, J., Norman, R., Bradshaw, D., Goedecke, J.H., Steyn, N.P., Puoane, T., South African Comparative Risk Assessment Collaborating Group, 2007. Estimating the burden of disease attributable to excess body weight in South Africa in 2000. South Afr. Med. J. Suid-Afr. Tydskr. Vir Geneeskd. 97, 683–690.
- Kalkan, I., 2019. The impact of nutrition literacy on the food habits among young adults in Turkey. Nutr. Res. Pract. 13, 352–357. https://doi.org/10.4162/nrp.2019.13.4.352
- Kees, J., Royne, M.B., Cho, Y.-N., 2014. Regulating Front-of-Package Nutrition Information Disclosures: A Test of Industry Self-Regulation vs. Other Popular Options. J. Consum. Aff. 48, 147–174. https://doi.org/10.1111/joca.12033
- Kegler, M.C., Prakash, R., Hermstad, A., Williamson, D., Anderson, K., Haardörfer, R., 2020. Home gardening and associations with fruit and vegetable intake and BMI. Public Health Nutr. 23, 3417–3422. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980020001329
- Kelly, B., Halford, J.C.G., Boyland, E.J., Chapman, K., Bautista-Castaño, I., Berg, C., Caroli, M., Cook, B.,
 Coutinho, J.G., Effertz, T., Grammatikaki, E., Keller, K., Leung, R., Manios, Y., Monteiro, R., Pedley, C.,
 Prell, H., Raine, K., Recine, E., Serra-Majem, L., Singh, S., Summerbell, C., 2010. Television food

advertising to children: a global perspective. Am. J. Public Health 100, 1730–1736. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2009.179267

- Kelly, B., Hughes, C., Chapman, K., Louie, J.C.-Y., Dixon, H., Crawford, J., King, L., Daube, M., Slevin, T., 2009.
 Consumer testing of the acceptability and effectiveness of front-of-pack food labelling systems for the Australian grocery market. Health Promot. Int. 24, 120–129. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/dap012
- Khandpur, N., de Morais Sato, P., Mais, L.A., Bortoletto Martins, A.P., Spinillo, C.G., Garcia, M.T., Urquizar
 Rojas, C.F., Jaime, P.C., 2018. Are Front-of-Package Warning Labels More Effective at Communicating
 Nutrition Information than Traffic-Light Labels? A Randomized Controlled Experiment in a Brazilian
 Sample. Nutrients 10. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu10060688
- Kimani-Murage, E.W., Kahn, K., Pettifor, J.M., Tollman, S.M., Klipstein-Grobusch, K., Norris, S.A., 2011. Predictors of adolescent weight status and central obesity in rural South Africa. Public Health Nutr. 14, 1114–1122. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980011000139
- Kruger, H.S., Ricci, C., Pieters, M., Botha-le Roux, S., Moss, S.J., Kruger, I.M., van Zyl, T., Schutte, A.E., 2021. Lifestyle factors associated with the transition from healthy to unhealthy adiposity among black South African adults over 10 years. Nutr. Metab. Cardiovasc. Dis. NMCD. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.numecd.2021.03.017
- Kruger, H.S., Schutte, A.E., Walsh, C.M., Kruger, A., Rennie, K.L., 2017. Body mass index cut-points to identify cardiometabolic risk in black South Africans. Eur. J. Nutr. 56, 193–202. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00394-015-1069-9
- Kumanyika, S.K., 2020. Learning More from What We Already Know About Childhood Obesity Prevention. Child. Obes. Print 16, S255–S258. https://doi.org/10.1089/chi.2020.29007.sk
- Kushner, R.F., 2018. Weight Loss Strategies for Treatment of Obesity: Lifestyle Management and Pharmacotherapy. Prog. Cardiovasc. Dis. 61, 246–252. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcad.2018.06.001
- Kyrgiou, M., Kalliala, I., Markozannes, G., Gunter, M.J., Paraskevaidis, E., Gabra, H., Martin-Hirsch, P., Tsilidis, K.K., 2017. Adiposity and cancer at major anatomical sites: umbrella review of the literature. BMJ 356, j477. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.j477
- Lam, T.M., Vaartjes, I., Grobbee, D.E., Karssenberg, D., Lakerveld, J., 2021. Associations between the built environment and obesity: an umbrella review. Int. J. Health Geogr. 20, 7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12942-021-00260-6
- Landry, M.J., Markowitz, A.K., Asigbee, F.M., Gatto, N.M., Spruijt-Metz, D., Davis, J.N., 2019. Cooking and Gardening Behaviors and Improvements in Dietary Intake in Hispanic/Latino Youth. Child. Obes. Print 15, 262–270. https://doi.org/10.1089/chi.2018.0110
- Laranjo, L., Quiroz, J.C., Tong, H.L., Arevalo Bazalar, M., Coiera, E., 2020. A Mobile Social Networking App for Weight Management and Physical Activity Promotion: Results From an Experimental Mixed Methods Study. J. Med. Internet Res. 22, e19991. https://doi.org/10.2196/19991
- Laster, J., Frame, L.A., 2019. Beyond the Calories-Is the Problem in the Processing? Curr. Treat. Options Gastroenterol. 17, 577–586. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11938-019-00246-1
- Lauby-Secretan, B., Scoccianti, C., Loomis, D., Grosse, Y., Bianchini, F., Straif, K., International Agency for Research on Cancer Handbook Working Group, 2016. Body Fatness and Cancer--Viewpoint of the IARC Working Group. N. Engl. J. Med. 375, 794–798. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMsr1606602
- Laviada-Molina, H., Molina-Segui, F., Pérez-Gaxiola, G., Cuello-García, C., Arjona-Villicaña, R., Espinosa-Marrón, A., Martinez-Portilla, R.J., 2020. Effects of nonnutritive sweeteners on body weight and BMI in diverse clinical contexts: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Obes. Rev. Off. J. Int. Assoc. Study Obes. 21, e13020. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.13020
- Lavriša, Ž., Hristov, H., Kelly, B., Pravst, I., 2020. Regulating children's exposure to food marketing on television: are the restrictions during children's programmes enough? Appetite 154, 104752. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2020.104752
- LeBlanc, A.G., Spence, J.C., Carson, V., Connor Gorber, S., Dillman, C., Janssen, I., Kho, M.E., Stearns, J.A., Timmons, B.W., Tremblay, M.S., 2012. Systematic review of sedentary behaviour and health

indicators in the early years (aged 0-4 years). Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab. Physiol. Appl. Nutr. Metab. 37, 753–772. https://doi.org/10.1139/h2012-063

- Lee, Y., Yoon, J., Chung, S.-J., Lee, S.-K., Kim, H., Kim, S., 2017. Effect of TV food advertising restriction on food environment for children in South Korea. Health Promot. Int. 32, 25–34. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/dat078
- Lehnert, T., Sonntag, D., Konnopka, A., Riedel-Heller, S., König, H.-H., 2012. The long-term cost-effectiveness of obesity prevention interventions: systematic literature review. Obes. Rev. Off. J. Int. Assoc. Study Obes. 13, 537–553. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-789X.2011.00980.x
- Lentferink, A.J., Oldenhuis, H.K., de Groot, M., Polstra, L., Velthuijsen, H., van Gemert-Pijnen, J.E., 2017. Key Components in eHealth Interventions Combining Self-Tracking and Persuasive eCoaching to Promote a Healthier Lifestyle: A Scoping Review. J. Med. Internet Res. 19, e277. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.7288
- Lester, E.L.W., Padwal, R.S., Birch, D.W., Sharma, A.M., So, H., Ye, F., Klarenbach, S.W., 2021. The real-world cost-effectiveness of bariatric surgery for the treatment of severe obesity: a cost-utility analysis. CMAJ Open 9, E673–E679. https://doi.org/10.9778/cmajo.20200188
- Lohner, S., Toews, I., Meerpohl, J.J., 2017. Health outcomes of non-nutritive sweeteners: analysis of the research landscape. Nutr. J. 16, 55. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12937-017-0278-x
- Long, M.W., Gortmaker, S.L., Ward, Z.J., Resch, S.C., Moodie, M.L., Sacks, G., Swinburn, B.A., Carter, R.C., Claire Wang, Y., 2015. Cost Effectiveness of a Sugar-Sweetened Beverage Excise Tax in the U.S. Am. J. Prev. Med. 49, 112–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2015.03.004
- Lubbe, J., Webner, A., Potgieter, A., Odendaal, W., Cooper, C., Lambrechts, A., 2019. Metabolic surgery in South Africa: an initial academic hospital experience. South Afr. J. Surg. Suid-Afr. Tydskr. Vir Chir. 57, 20–26.
- Machín, L., Arrúa, A., Giménez, A., Curutchet, M.R., Martínez, J., Ares, G., 2018a. Can nutritional information modify purchase of ultra-processed products? Results from a simulated online shopping experiment. Public Health Nutr. 21, 49–57. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980017001185
- Machín, L., Aschemann-Witzel, J., Curutchet, M.R., Giménez, A., Ares, G., 2018b. Does front-of-pack nutrition information improve consumer ability to make healthful choices? Performance of warnings and the traffic light system in a simulated shopping experiment. Appetite 121, 55–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2017.10.037
- Mackie, P., McCann, A., 2014. Scottish Public Health Network (ScotPHN) 58.
- Magnusson, R.S., 2008. What's law got to do with it part 1: A framework for obesity prevention. Aust. N. Z. Health Policy 5, 10. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-8462-5-10
- Malik, V.S., Popkin, B.M., Bray, G.A., Després, J.-P., Hu, F.B., 2010. Sugar-sweetened beverages, obesity, type 2 diabetes mellitus, and cardiovascular disease risk. Circulation 121, 1356–1364. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.876185
- Massachusetts Department of Public Health, 2014. School Health Screening | Mass.gov [WWW Document]. URL https://www.mass.gov/lists/school-health-screening (accessed 7.10.21).
- Massri, C., Sutherland, S., Källestål, C., Peña, S., 2019. Impact of the Food-Labeling and Advertising Law Banning Competitive Food and Beverages in Chilean Public Schools, 2014-2016. Am. J. Public Health 109, 1249–1254. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2019.305159
- Matthews, J., Win, K.T., Oinas-Kukkonen, H., Freeman, M., 2016. Persuasive Technology in Mobile Applications Promoting Physical Activity: a Systematic Review. J. Med. Syst. 40, 72. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10916-015-0425-x
- Mbogori, T., Kimmel, K., Zhang, M., Kandiah, J., Wang, Y., 2020. Nutrition transition and double burden of malnutrition in Africa: A case study of four selected countries with different social economic development. AIMS Public Health 7, 425–439. https://doi.org/10.3934/publichealth.2020035
- Mchiza, Z.J.-R., Parker, W.-A., Sewpaul, R., Onagbiye, S.O., Labadarios, D., 2020. Body Image and the Double Burden of Nutrition among South Africans from Diverse Sociodemographic Backgrounds: SANHANES-1. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public. Health 17. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17030887

- Mialon, M., 2020. An overview of the commercial determinants of health. Glob. Health 16, 74. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12992-020-00607-x
- Michimi, A., Wimberly, M.C., 2015. The food environment and adult obesity in US metropolitan areas. Geospatial Health 10, 368. https://doi.org/10.4081/gh.2015.368
- Michou, M., Panagiotakos, D.B., Costarelli, V., 2018. Low health literacy and excess body weight: a systematic review. Cent. Eur. J. Public Health 26, 234–241. https://doi.org/10.21101/cejph.a5172
- Ministerio de Salud Pública Uruguay, 2018. Ministerio de Salud Pública [WWW Document]. Minist. Salud Pública. URL https://www.gub.uy/ministerio-salud-publica/sites/ministerio-saludpublica/files/documentos/publicaciones/MSP_MANUAL_APLICACION_ROTULADO_FRONTAL_ALIMEN TOS.pdf (accessed 5.30.21).
- Ministry of Health Peru, 2018. Aprueban Manual de Advertencias Publicitarias en el marco de lo establecido en la Ley N° 30021, Ley de promoción de la alimentación saludable para niños, niñas y adolescentes, y su Reglamento aprobado por Decreto Supremo N° 017-2017-SA-DECRETO SUPREMO-N° 012-2018-SA [WWW Document]. URL http://busquedas.elperuano.pe/normaslegales/aprueban-manual-deadvertencias-publicitarias-en-el-marco-de-decreto-supremo-n-012-2018-sa-1660606-1/ (accessed 5.30.21).
- Moeng-Mahlangu, L.T., Monyeki, M.A., Reilly, J.J., Mchiza, Z.J., Moleah, T., Loechl, C.U., Kruger, H.S., 2020. Level of agreement between objectively determined body composition and perceived body image in 6- to 8-year-old South African children: The Body Composition-Isotope Technique study. PloS One 15, e0237399. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0237399
- Montes, F., Sarmiento, O.L., Zarama, R., Pratt, M., Wang, G., Jacoby, E., Schmid, T.L., Ramos, M., Ruiz, O., Vargas, O., Michel, G., Zieff, S.G., Valdivia, J.A., Cavill, N., Kahlmeier, S., 2012. Do health benefits outweigh the costs of mass recreational programs? An economic analysis of four Ciclovía programs. J. Urban Health Bull. N. Y. Acad. Med. 89, 153–170. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11524-011-9628-8
- Montgomery, K.C., Chester, J., 2009. Interactive food and beverage marketing: targeting adolescents in the digital age. J. Adolesc. Health Off. Publ. Soc. Adolesc. Med. 45, S18-29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2009.04.006
- Monyeki, M.A., Neetens, R., Moss, S.J., Twisk, J., 2012. The relationship between body composition and physical fitness in 14 year old adolescents residing within the Tlokwe local municipality, South Africa: the PAHL study. BMC Public Health 12, 374. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-12-374
- Moodie, R., Stuckler, D., Monteiro, C., Sheron, N., Neal, B., Thamarangsi, T., Lincoln, P., Casswell, S., Lancet NCD Action Group, 2013. Profits and pandemics: prevention of harmful effects of tobacco, alcohol, and ultra-processed food and drink industries. Lancet Lond. Engl. 381, 670–679. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)62089-3
- Moodley, G., Christofides, N., Norris, S.A., Achia, T., Hofman, K.J., 2015. Obesogenic Environments: Access to and Advertising of Sugar-Sweetened Beverages in Soweto, South Africa, 2013. Prev. Chronic. Dis. 12, E186. https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd12.140559
- Mourao, D.M., Bressan, J., Campbell, W.W., Mattes, R.D., 2007. Effects of food form on appetite and energy intake in lean and obese young adults. Int. J. Obes. 2005 31, 1688–1695. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ijo.0803667
- Must, A., Anderson, S., 2006. Body mass index in children and adolescents: considerations for populationbased applications. Int. J. Obes. 2005 30. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ijo.0803300
- Musuwo, N., 2019. International policies to reduce childhood obesity a Health Action Campaign review 38.
- Narbro, K., Agren, G., Jonsson, E., Näslund, I., Sjöström, L., Peltonen, M., Swedish Obese Subjects Intervention Study, 2002. Pharmaceutical costs in obese individuals: comparison with a randomly selected population sample and long-term changes after conventional and surgical treatment: the SOS intervention study. Arch. Intern. Med. 162, 2061–2069. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.162.18.2061
- National Department of Health (NDoH), Statistics South Africa (Stats SA), South African Medical Research Council (SAMRC), and ICF., 2018. South Africa Demographic and Health Survey 2016.

- NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (NCD-RisC), 2021. Heterogeneous contributions of change in population distribution of body mass index to change in obesity and underweight. eLife 10. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.60060
- NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (NCD-RisC), 2017a. Worldwide trends in body-mass index, underweight, overweight, and obesity from 1975 to 2016: a pooled analysis of 2416 population-based measurement studies in 128-9 million children, adolescents, and adults. Lancet Lond. Engl. 390, 2627– 2642. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)32129-3
- NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (NCD-RisC), 2017b. Worldwide trends in blood pressure from 1975 to 2015: a pooled analysis of 1479 population-based measurement studies with 19·1 million participants. Lancet Lond. Engl. 389, 37–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31919-5
- NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (NCD-RisC), 2016. Worldwide trends in diabetes since 1980: a pooled analysis of 751 population-based studies with 4.4 million participants. Lancet Lond. Engl. 387, 1513–1530. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)00618-8
- NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (NCD-RisC), 2019. Rising rural body-mass index is the main driver of the global obesity epidemic in adults. Nature 569, 260–264. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1171-x
- Ndanuko, R.N., Shahid, M., Jones, A., Harris, T., Maboreke, J., Walker, A., Raubenheimer, D., Simpson, S.J., Neal, B., Wu, J.H., Peters, S.A., Woodward, M., 2020. Projected effects on salt purchases following implementation of a national salt reduction policy in South Africa. Public Health Nutr. 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980020005273
- Negash, S., Agyemang, C., Matsha, T.E., Peer, N., Erasmus, R.T., Kengne, A.P., 2017. Differential prevalence and associations of overweight and obesity by gender and population group among school learners in South Africa: a cross-sectional study. BMC Obes. 4, 29. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40608-017-0165-1
- Nguyen, N.T., Nguyen, X.-M.T., Lane, J., Wang, P., 2011. Relationship between obesity and diabetes in a US adult population: findings from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1999-2006. Obes. Surg. 21, 351–355. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11695-010-0335-4
- Nienaber-Rousseau, C., Sotunde, O.F., Ukegbu, P.O., Myburgh, P.H., Wright, H.H., Havemann-Nel, L., Moss, S.J., Kruger, I.M., Kruger, H.S., 2017. Socio-Demographic and Lifestyle Factors Predict 5-Year Changes in Adiposity among a Group of Black South African Adults. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public. Health 14. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph14091089
- Nihiser, A., Lee, S., Wechsler, H., McKenna, M., Odom, E., Reinold, C., Thompson, D., Grummer-Strawn, L., 2009. BMI measurement in schools. Pediatrics 124 Suppl 1. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2008-3586L
- Noparatayaporn, P., Thavorncharoensap, M., Chaikledkaew, U., Bagepally, B.S., Thakkinstian, A., 2021. Incremental Net Monetary Benefit of Bariatric Surgery: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Cost-Effectiveness Evidences. Obes. Surg. 31, 3279–3290. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11695-021-05415-9
- O'Brien, P.E., Hindle, A., Brennan, L., Skinner, S., Burton, P., Smith, A., Crosthwaite, G., Brown, W., 2019. Long-Term Outcomes After Bariatric Surgery: a Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Weight Loss at 10 or More Years for All Bariatric Procedures and a Single-Centre Review of 20-Year Outcomes After Adjustable Gastric Banding. Obes. Surg. 29, 3–14. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11695-018-3525-0
- OECD Obesity Update, 2017. Obesity Update 2017 [WWW Document]. URL https://www.oecd.org/health/obesity-update.htm (accessed 5.8.21).
- O'Halloran, S.A., Eksteen, G., Polayya, N., Ropertz, M., Senekal, M., 2021. The Food Environment of Primary School Learners in a Low-to-Middle-Income Area in Cape Town, South Africa. Nutrients 13, 2043. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu13062043
- Oliveira, M.C., Vullings, J., van de Loo, F.A.J., 2020. Osteoporosis and osteoarthritis are two sides of the same coin paid for obesity. Nutr. Burbank Los Angel. Cty. Calif 70, 110486. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nut.2019.04.001
- Olstad, D.L., Teychenne, M., Minaker, L.M., Taber, D.R., Raine, K.D., Nykiforuk, C.I.J., Ball, K., 2016. Can policy ameliorate socioeconomic inequities in obesity and obesity-related behaviours? A systematic review of the impact of universal policies on adults and children. Obes. Rev. Off. J. Int. Assoc. Study Obes. 17, 1198–1217. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12457

- Paina, L., Peters, D.H., 2012. Understanding pathways for scaling up health services through the lens of complex adaptive systems. Health Policy Plan. 27, 365–373. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czr054
- Parasin, N., Amnuaylojaroen, T., Saokaew, S., 2021. Effect of Air Pollution on Obesity in Children: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Child. Basel Switz. 8, 327. https://doi.org/10.3390/children8050327
- Parker, A., Koegelenberg, C.F.N., Moolla, M.S., Louw, E.H., Mowlana, A., Nortjé, A., Ahmed, R., Brittain, N., Lalla, U., Allwood, B.W., Prozesky, H., Schrueder, N., Taljaard, J.J., 2020. High HIV prevalence in an early cohort of hospital admissions with COVID-19 in Cape Town, South Africa. South Afr. Med. J. Suid-Afr. Tydskr. Vir Geneeskd. 110, 982–987. https://doi.org/10.7196/SAMJ.2020.v110i10.15067
- Paruk, I.M., Pirie, F.J., Motala, A.A., 2019. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in Africa: a hidden danger. Glob. Health Epidemiol. Genomics 4, e3. https://doi.org/10.1017/gheg.2019.2
- Pate, R.R., Mitchell, J.A., Byun, W., Dowda, M., 2011. Sedentary behaviour in youth. Br. J. Sports Med. 45, 906– 913. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2011-090192
- Patel, D.N., Lambert, E.V., da Silva, R., Greyling, M., Nossel, C., Noach, A., Derman, W., Gaziano, T., 2010. The Association between Medical Costs and Participation in the Vitality Health Promotion Program among 948,974 Members of a South African Health Insurance Company. Am. J. Health Promot. 24, 199–204. https://doi.org/10.4278/090217-QUAN-68R2.1
- Patro-Gołąb, B., Zalewski, B.M., Kołodziej, M., Kouwenhoven, S., Poston, L., Godfrey, K.M., Koletzko, B., van Goudoever, J.B., Szajewska, H., 2016a. Nutritional interventions or exposures in infants and children aged up to 3 years and their effects on subsequent risk of overweight, obesity and body fat: a systematic review of systematic reviews. Obes. Rev. Off. J. Int. Assoc. Study Obes. 17, 1245–1257. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12476
- Patro-Gołąb, B., Zalewski, B.M., Kouwenhoven, S.M., Karaś, J., Koletzko, B., Bernard van Goudoever, J., Szajewska, H., 2016b. Protein Concentration in Milk Formula, Growth, and Later Risk of Obesity: A Systematic Review. J. Nutr. 146, 551–564. https://doi.org/10.3945/jn.115.223651
- Pell, D., Mytton, O., Penney, T.L., Briggs, A., Cummins, S., Penn-Jones, C., Rayner, M., Rutter, H., Scarborough, P., Sharp, S.J., Smith, R.D., White, M., Adams, J., 2021. Changes in soft drinks purchased by British households associated with the UK soft drinks industry levy: controlled interrupted time series analysis. BMJ 372, n254. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.n254
- Pérez-Escamilla, R., Lutter, C.K., Rabadan-Diehl, C., Rubinstein, A., Calvillo, A., Corvalán, C., Batis, C., Jacoby, E., Vorkoper, S., Kline, L., Ewart-Pierce, E., Rivera, J.A., 2017. Prevention of childhood obesity and food policies in Latin America: from research to practice. Obes. Rev. Off. J. Int. Assoc. Study Obes. 18 Suppl 2, 28–38. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12574
- Perumpail, B.J., Khan, M.A., Yoo, E.R., Cholankeril, G., Kim, D., Ahmed, A., 2017. Clinical epidemiology and disease burden of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. World J. Gastroenterol. 23, 8263–8276. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v23.i47.8263
- Pfinder, M., Heise, T.L., Hilton Boon, M., Pega, F., Fenton, C., Griebler, U., Gartlehner, G., Sommer, I., Katikireddi, S.V., Lhachimi, S.K., 2020. Taxation of unprocessed sugar or sugar-added foods for reducing their consumption and preventing obesity or other adverse health outcomes. Cochrane Database Syst. Rev. 4, CD012333. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD012333.pub2
- Pillay-van Wyk, V., Msemburi, W., Laubscher, R., Dorrington, R.E., Groenewald, P., Glass, T., Nojilana, B., Joubert, J.D., Matzopoulos, R., Prinsloo, M., Nannan, N., Gwebushe, N., Vos, T., Somdyala, N., Sithole, N., Neethling, I., Nicol, E., Rossouw, A., Bradshaw, D., 2016. Mortality trends and differentials in South Africa from 1997 to 2012: second National Burden of Disease Study. Lancet Glob. Health 4, e642-653. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(16)30113-9
- Pineda, E., Bascunan, J., Sassi, F., 2021. Improving the school food environment for the prevention of childhood obesity: What works and what doesn't. Obes. Rev. Off. J. Int. Assoc. Study Obes. 22, e13176. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.13176
- Pisa, P.T., Pedro, T.M., Kahn, K., Tollman, S.M., Pettifor, J.M., Norris, S.A., 2015. Nutrient patterns and their association with socio-demographic, lifestyle factors and obesity risk in rural South African adolescents. Nutrients 7, 3464–3482. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu7053464

- Pischon, T., Boeing, H., Hoffmann, K., Bergmann, M., Schulze, M.B., Overvad, K., van der Schouw, Y.T., Spencer, E., Moons, K.G.M., Tjønneland, A., Halkjaer, J., Jensen, M.K., Stegger, J., Clavel-Chapelon, F., Boutron-Ruault, M.-C., Chajes, V., Linseisen, J., Kaaks, R., Trichopoulou, A., Trichopoulos, D., Bamia, C., Sieri, S., Palli, D., Tumino, R., Vineis, P., Panico, S., Peeters, P.H.M., May, A.M., Bueno-de-Mesquita, H.B., van Duijnhoven, F.J.B., Hallmans, G., Weinehall, L., Manjer, J., Hedblad, B., Lund, E., Agudo, A., Arriola, L., Barricarte, A., Navarro, C., Martinez, C., Quirós, J.R., Key, T., Bingham, S., Khaw, K.T., Boffetta, P., Jenab, M., Ferrari, P., Riboli, E., 2008. General and abdominal adiposity and risk of death in Europe. N. Engl. J. Med. 359, 2105–2120. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa0801891
- Popkin, B., Monteiro, C., Swinburn, B., 2013. Overview: Bellagio Conference on Program and Policy Options for Preventing Obesity in the Low- and Middle-Income Countries. Obes. Rev. Off. J. Int. Assoc. Study Obes. 14 Suppl 2, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12108
- Popkin, B.M., 2017. Relationship between shifts in food system dynamics and acceleration of the global nutrition transition. Nutr. Rev. 75, 73–82. https://doi.org/10.1093/nutrit/nuw064
- Popkin, B.M., Adair, L.S., Ng, S.W., 2012. Global nutrition transition and the pandemic of obesity in developing countries. Nutr. Rev. 70, 3–21. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1753-4887.2011.00456.x
- Popkin, B.M., Du, S., Green, W.D., Beck, M.A., Algaith, T., Herbst, C.H., Alsukait, R.F., Alluhidan, M., Alazemi, N., Shekar, M., 2020. Individuals with obesity and COVID-19: A global perspective on the epidemiology and biological relationships. Obes. Rev. Off. J. Int. Assoc. Study Obes. 21, e13128. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.13128
- Powell, L.M., Leider, J., 2020. Evaluation of Changes in Beverage Prices and Volume Sold Following the Implementation and Repeal of a Sweetened Beverage Tax in Cook County, Illinois. JAMA Netw. Open 3, e2031083. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.31083
- Pratt, M., Salvo, D., Cavill, N., Giles-Corti, B., McCue, P., Reis, R.S., Jáuregui, A., Foster, C., 2016. An international perspective on the Nexus of physical activity research and policy. Environ. Behav. 48, 37–54.
- Prospective Studies Collaboration, Whitlock, G., Lewington, S., Sherliker, P., Clarke, R., Emberson, J., Halsey, J., Qizilbash, N., Collins, R., Peto, R., 2009. Body-mass index and cause-specific mortality in 900 000 adults: collaborative analyses of 57 prospective studies. Lancet Lond. Engl. 373, 1083–1096. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60318-4
- Puoane, T., Steyn, K., Bradshaw, D., Laubscher, R., Fourie, J., Lambert, V., Mbananga, N., 2002. Obesity in South Africa: the South African demographic and health survey. Obes. Res. 10, 1038–1048. https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2002.141
- Quesenberry, C.P., Caan, B., Jacobson, A., 1998. Obesity, health services use, and health care costs among members of a health maintenance organization. Arch. Intern. Med. 158, 466–472. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.158.5.466
- Reddy, S.P., James, S., Sewpaul, R., Koopman, F., Funani, N.I., Sifunda, S., Josie, J., Masuka, P., Kambaran, N.S., Omardien, R.G., South African Medical Research Council, National Health Promotion Research and Development Unit, 2010. The 2nd South African National Youth Risk Survey, 2008. South African Medical Research Council, Cape Town.
- Reddy, S.P., James, S., Sewpaul, R., Sifunda, S., Ellahebokus, A., Kambaran, N.S., Omardien, R.G., 2013. Umthente Uhlaba Usamila: the 3rd South African National Youth Risk Behaviour Survey 2011. https://doi.org/10/2487
- Reddy, S.P., Resnicow, K., James, S., Kambaran, N., Omardien, R., Mbewu, A.D., 2009. Underweight, overweight and obesity among South African adolescents: results of the 2002 National Youth Risk Behaviour Survey. Public Health Nutr. 12, 203–207. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980008002656
- Reyes, M., Smith Taillie, L., Popkin, B., Kanter, R., Vandevijvere, S., Corvalán, C., 2020. Changes in the amount of nutrient of packaged foods and beverages after the initial implementation of the Chilean Law of Food Labelling and Advertising: A nonexperimental prospective study. PLoS Med. 17, e1003220. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1003220
- Riley, L., Gouda, H., Cowan, M., World Health Organization, 2017. Noncommunicable diseases progress monitor, 2017.

- Roberto, C.A., Swinburn, B., Hawkes, C., Huang, T.T.-K., Costa, S.A., Ashe, M., Zwicker, L., Cawley, J.H., Brownell, K.D., 2015. Patchy progress on obesity prevention: emerging examples, entrenched barriers, and new thinking. Lancet Lond. Engl. 385, 2400–2409. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61744-X
- Robinson, E., 2017. Overweight but unseen: a review of the underestimation of weight status and a visual normalization theory. Obes. Rev. Off. J. Int. Assoc. Study Obes. 18, 1200–1209. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12570
- Rochira, A., Tedesco, D., Ubiali, A., Fantini, M.P., Gori, D., 2020. School Gardening Activities Aimed at Obesity Prevention Improve Body Mass Index and Waist Circumference Parameters in School-Aged Children: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Child. Obes. Print 16, 154–173. https://doi.org/10.1089/chi.2019.0253
- Rodríguez Osiac, L., Cofré, C., Pizarro, T., Mansilla, C., Herrera, C.A., Burrows, J., Castillo, C., 2017. Using evidence-informed policies to tackle overweight and obesity in Chile. Rev. Panam. Salud Publica Pan Am. J. Public Health 41, e156. https://doi.org/10.26633/RPSP.2017.156
- Roman-Viñas, B., Chaput, J.-P., Katzmarzyk, P.T., Fogelholm, M., Lambert, E.V., Maher, C., Maia, J., Olds, T., Onywera, V., Sarmiento, O.L., Standage, M., Tudor-Locke, C., Tremblay, M.S., ISCOLE Research Group, 2016. Proportion of children meeting recommendations for 24-hour movement guidelines and associations with adiposity in a 12-country study. Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act. 13, 123. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-016-0449-8
- Romero-Corral, A., Somers, V., Sierra-Johnson, J., Thomas, R., Collazo-Clavell, M., Korinek, J., Allison, T., Batsis, J., Sert-Kuniyoshi, F., Lopez-Jimenez, F., 2008. Accuracy of body mass index in diagnosing obesity in the adult general population. Int. J. Obes. 2005 32. https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2008.11
- Romon, M., Lommez, A., Tafflet, M., Basdevant, A., Oppert, J.M., Bresson, J.L., Ducimetière, P., Charles, M.A., Borys, J.M., 2009. Downward trends in the prevalence of childhood overweight in the setting of 12year school- and community-based programmes. Public Health Nutr. 12, 1735–1742. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980008004278
- Rosenbaum, M., Leibel, R.L., 2010. Adaptive thermogenesis in humans. Int. J. Obes. 2005 34 Suppl 1, S47-55. https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2010.184
- Rubino, F., Nathan, D.M., Eckel, R.H., Schauer, P.R., Alberti, K.G.M.M., Zimmet, P.Z., Del Prato, S., Ji, L., Sadikot, S.M., Herman, W.H., Amiel, S.A., Kaplan, L.M., Taroncher-Oldenburg, G., Cummings, D.E., Delegates of the 2nd Diabetes Surgery Summit, 2016. Metabolic Surgery in the Treatment Algorithm for Type 2 Diabetes: A Joint Statement by International Diabetes Organizations. Diabetes Care 39, 861–877. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc16-0236
- Rubinstein, A., Elorriaga, N., Garay, O.U., Poggio, R., Caporale, J., Matta, M.G., Augustovski, F., Pichon-Riviere, A., Mozaffarian, D., 2015. Eliminating artificial trans fatty acids in Argentina: estimated effects on the burden of coronary heart disease and costs. Bull. World Health Organ. 93, 614–622. https://doi.org/10.2471/BLT.14.150516
- Sah, A., Hillenbrand, C., Vogt, J., 2021. Visible sugar : Salient sugar information impacts health perception of fruit juices but only when motivated to be responsible and not when motivated to enjoy. Appetite 164, 105262. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2021.105262
- Sampasa-Kanyinga, H., Standage, M., Tremblay, M.S., Katzmarzyk, P.T., Hu, G., Kuriyan, R., Maher, C., Maia, J., Olds, T., Sarmiento, O.L., Tudor-Locke, C., Chaput, J.-P., 2017. Associations between meeting combinations of 24-h movement guidelines and health-related quality of life in children from 12 countries. Public Health 153, 16–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2017.07.010
- SAMRC Annual Report, 2020. Annual Report [WWW Document]. South Afr. Med. Res. Counc. URL https://www.samrc.ac.za/corporate-articles/annual-report (accessed 6.14.21).
- Sánchez-Pimienta, T.G., Batis, C., Lutter, C.K., Rivera, J.A., 2016. Sugar-Sweetened Beverages Are the Main Sources of Added Sugar Intake in the Mexican Population. J. Nutr. 146, 18885–96S. https://doi.org/10.3945/jn.115.220301

- Sassi, F., Belloni, A., Mirelman, A.J., Suhrcke, M., Thomas, A., Salti, N., Vellakkal, S., Visaruthvong, C., Popkin, B.M., Nugent, R., 2018. Equity impacts of price policies to promote healthy behaviours. Lancet Lond. Engl. 391, 2059–2070. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30531-2
- Saunders, T.J., Vallance, J.K., 2017. Screen Time and Health Indicators Among Children and Youth: Current Evidence, Limitations and Future Directions. Appl. Health Econ. Health Policy. 15, 323–331. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40258-016-0289-3
- Scarborough, P., Adhikari, V., Harrington, R.A., Elhussein, A., Briggs, A., Rayner, M., Adams, J., Cummins, S., Penney, T., White, M., 2020. Impact of the announcement and implementation of the UK Soft Drinks Industry Levy on sugar content, price, product size and number of available soft drinks in the UK, 2015-19: A controlled interrupted time series analysis. PLoS Med. 17, e1003025. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1003025
- Schembre, S.M., Liao, Y., Robertson, M.C., Dunton, G.F., Kerr, J., Haffey, M.E., Burnett, T., Basen-Engquist, K., Hicklen, R.S., 2018. Just-in-Time Feedback in Diet and Physical Activity Interventions: Systematic Review and Practical Design Framework. J. Med. Internet Res. 20, e106. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.8701
- Scott, V., Schaay, N., Schneider, H., Sanders, D., 2017. Addressing social determinants of health in South Africa: the journey continues. South Afr. Health Rev. 2017, 77–87.
- Secretaría de Economía, 2020. Fue aprobada la modificación a la NOM 051 sobre etiquetado de alimentos y bebidas [WWW Document]. gob.mx. URL https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004 (accessed 5.30.21).
- Sharifi, M., Franz, C., Horan, C.M., Giles, C.M., Long, M.W., Ward, Z.J., Resch, S.C., Marshall, R., Gortmaker, S.L., Taveras, E.M., 2017. Cost-Effectiveness of a Clinical Childhood Obesity Intervention. Pediatrics 140. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2016-2998
- Shisana, O., Labadarios, D., Rehle, T., Simbayi, L., 2014. South African National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (SANHANES-1) (No. 2014 Edition). HSRC Press, Cape Town.
- Silva, D.A.S., Chaput, J.-P., Katzmarzyk, P.T., Fogelholm, M., Hu, G., Maher, C., Olds, T., Onywera, V., Sarmiento, O.L., Standage, M., Tudor-Locke, C., Tremblay, M.S., 2018. Physical Education Classes, Physical Activity, and Sedentary Behavior in Children. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 50, 995–1004. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.0000000001524
- Singh, G.M., 2016. Sugar sweetened beverages are associated with greater incidence of diabetes but there is a paucity of evidence on healthfulness of artificially-sweetened beverages and fruit juices. Evid. Based Med. 21, 35. https://doi.org/10.1136/ebmed-2015-110283
- Sjöström, L., 2013. Review of the key results from the Swedish Obese Subjects (SOS) trial a prospective controlled intervention study of bariatric surgery. J. Intern. Med. 273, 219–234. https://doi.org/10.1111/joim.12012
- Sjöström, L., Narbro, K., Sjöström, C.D., Karason, K., Larsson, B., Wedel, H., Lystig, T., Sullivan, M., Bouchard, C., Carlsson, B., Bengtsson, C., Dahlgren, S., Gummesson, A., Jacobson, P., Karlsson, J., Lindroos, A.-K., Lönroth, H., Näslund, I., Olbers, T., Stenlöf, K., Torgerson, J., Agren, G., Carlsson, L.M.S., Swedish Obese Subjects Study, 2007. Effects of bariatric surgery on mortality in Swedish obese subjects. N. Engl. J. Med. 357, 741–752. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa066254
- Smith, R., Kelly, B., Yeatman, H., Boyland, E., 2019. Food Marketing Influences Children's Attitudes, Preferences and Consumption: A Systematic Critical Review. Nutrients 11. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu11040875
- Sonntag, D., Ali, S., De Bock, F., 2016. Lifetime indirect cost of childhood overweight and obesity: A decision analytic model. Obes. Silver Spring Md 24, 200–206. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.21323
- South African Government, 2013. Foodstuffs, Cosmetics and Disinfectants Act: Regulations: Reduction in sodium in certain foods | South African Government [WWW Document]. URL https://www.gov.za/sites/default/files/gcis_document/201710/41164gon1071.pdf (accessed 6.5.21).
- South African Government, 2011. Foodstuffs, Cosmetics and Disinfectants Act: Regulations: Trans-fat in foodstuffs | South African Government [WWW Document]. URL https://www.gov.za/documents/foodstuffs-cosmetics-and-disinfectants-act-regulations-trans-fatfoodstuffs (accessed 6.5.21).

- Stacey, N., Edoka, I., Hofman, K., Swart, E.C., Popkin, B., Ng, S.W., 2021. Changes in beverage purchases following the announcement and implementation of South Africa's Health Promotion Levy: an observational study. Lancet Planet. Health 5, e200–e208. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2542-5196(20)30304-1
- Statistics South Africa, 2018. General Household Survey, 2018 | Statistics South Africa. URL http://www.statssa.gov.za/?p=12180 (accessed 6.20.21).
- Statistics South Africa, 2017. Poverty trends in South Africa: an examination of absolute poverty between 2006 and 2015. Statistics South Africa, Pretoria.
- Statistics South Africa, S.S., 2021. Food and Beverages (Preliminary). URL http://www.statssa.gov.za/?page_id=1854 (accessed 7.5.21).
- STATS South Africa, S., 2017. Mortality and causes of death in South Africa: Findings from death notification, 2017 | Statistics South Africa. URL http://www.statssa.gov.za/?page_id=1866 (accessed 5.8.21).
- Steyn, N.P., Labadarios, D., 2011. Street foods and fast foods: how much do South Africans of different ethnic groups consume? Ethn. Dis. 21, 462–466.
- Steyn, N.P., Labadarios, D., Nel, J.H., 2011. Factors which influence the consumption of street foods and fast foods in South Africa--a national survey. Nutr. J. 10, 104. https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-2891-10-104
- Steyn, N.P., McHiza, Z.J., 2014. Obesity and the nutrition transition in Sub-Saharan Africa. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1311, 88–101. https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.12433
- Story, M., French, S., 2004. Food Advertising and Marketing Directed at Children and Adolescents in the US. Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act. 1, 3. https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-5868-1-3
- Swartz, J.J., Braxton, D., Viera, A.J., 2011. Calorie menu labeling on quick-service restaurant menus: an updated systematic review of the literature. Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act. 8, 135. https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-5868-8-135
- Swinburn, B., Sacks, G., Vandevijvere, S., Kumanyika, S., Lobstein, T., Neal, B., Barquera, S., Friel, S., Hawkes, C., Kelly, B., L'abbé, M., Lee, A., Ma, J., Macmullan, J., Mohan, S., Monteiro, C., Rayner, M., Sanders, D., Snowdon, W., Walker, C., INFORMAS, 2013. INFORMAS (International Network for Food and Obesity/non-communicable diseases Research, Monitoring and Action Support): overview and key principles. Obes. Rev. Off. J. Int. Assoc. Study Obes. 14 Suppl 1, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12087
- Taillie, L.S., Busey, E., Stoltze, F.M., Dillman Carpentier, F.R., 2019. Governmental policies to reduce unhealthy food marketing to children. Nutr. Rev. 77, 787–816. https://doi.org/10.1093/nutrit/nuz021
- Taillie, L.S., Hall, M.G., Popkin, B.M., Ng, S.W., Murukutla, N., 2020. Experimental Studies of Front-of-Package Nutrient Warning Labels on Sugar-Sweetened Beverages and Ultra-Processed Foods: A Scoping Review. Nutrients 12. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu12020569
- Taillie, L.S., Rivera, J.A., Popkin, B.M., Batis, C., 2017. Do high vs. low purchasers respond differently to a nonessential energy-dense food tax? Two-year evaluation of Mexico's 8% nonessential food tax. Prev. Med. 105S, S37–S42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2017.07.009
- Te Morenga, L.A., Howatson, A.J., Jones, R.M., Mann, J., 2014. Dietary sugars and cardiometabolic risk: systematic review and meta-analyses of randomized controlled trials of the effects on blood pressure and lipids. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 100, 65–79. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.113.081521
- Tekle, D.Y., Santos, J.A., Trieu, K., Thout, S.R., Ndanuko, R., Charlton, K., Hoek, A.C., Huffman, M.D., Jan, S., Webster, J., 2020. Monitoring and implementation of salt reduction initiatives in Africa: A systematic review. J. Clin. Hypertens. Greenwich Conn 22, 1355–1370. https://doi.org/10.1111/jch.13937
- Terrón-Pérez, M., Molina-García, J., Martínez-Bello, V.E., Queralt, A., 2021. Relationship Between the Physical Environment and Physical Activity Levels in Preschool Children: A Systematic Review. Curr. Environ. Health Rep. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40572-021-00318-4
- Theis, D.R.Z., White, M., 2021. Is Obesity Policy in England Fit for Purpose? Analysis of Government Strategies and Policies, 1992-2020. Milbank Q. 99, 126–170. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-0009.12498

- Tonga End of Term Review, 2015. NCD Publications [WWW Document]. tongahealth. URL https://www.tongahealth.org/ncd-publications (accessed 6.12.21).
- Tragomalou, A., Moschonis, G., Kassari, P., Papageorgiou, I., Genitsaridi, S.-M., Karampatsou, S., Manios, Y., Charmandari, E., 2020. A National e-Health Program for the Prevention and Management of Overweight and Obesity in Childhood and Adolescence in Greece. Nutrients 12. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu12092858
- Traversy, G., Chaput, J.-P., 2015. Alcohol Consumption and Obesity: An Update. Curr. Obes. Rep. 4, 122–130. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13679-014-0129-4
- Tremblay, M.S., Aubert, S., Barnes, J.D., Saunders, T.J., Carson, V., Latimer-Cheung, A.E., Chastin, S.F.M.,
 Altenburg, T.M., Chinapaw, M.J.M., SBRN Terminology Consensus Project Participants, 2017.
 Sedentary Behavior Research Network (SBRN) Terminology Consensus Project process and outcome.
 Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act. 14, 75. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-017-0525-8
- UNIDO (Ed.), 2013. Sustaining employment growth: the role of manufacturing and structural change, Industrial development report. UNIDO, Vienna.
- Van der Merwe, M.-T., Fetter, G., Naidoo, S., Wilson, R., Drabble, N., Gonçalves, D., Mahomedy, Z., 2015.
 Baseline patient profiling and three-year outcome data after metabolic surgery at a South African centre of excellence. J. Endocrinol. Metab. Diabetes South Afr. 20, 115–126.
- VanEpps, E.M., Roberto, C.A., Park, S., Economos, C.D., Bleich, S.N., 2016. Restaurant Menu Labeling Policy: Review of Evidence and Controversies. Curr. Obes. Rep. 5, 72–80. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13679-016-0193-z
- Vidaña-Pérez, D., Braverman-Bronstein, A., Zepeda-Tello, R., Camacho-García-Formentí, D., Colchero, M.A., Rivera-Dommarco, J.A., Popkin, B.M., Barrientos-Gutierrez, T., 2021. Equitability of Individual and Population Interventions to Reduce Obesity: A Modeling Study in Mexico. Am. J. Prev. Med. S0749-3797(21)00368–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2021.05.033
- Vieira, M., Carvalho, G.S., 2021. Children Learn, Children Do! Results of the "Planning Health in School", a Behavioural Change Programme. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public. Health 18, 9872. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18189872
- Wang, Y.C., McPherson, K., Marsh, T., Gortmaker, S.L., Brown, M., 2011. Health and economic burden of the projected obesity trends in the USA and the UK. Lancet Lond. Engl. 378, 815–825. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60814-3
- Wellard, L., Havill, M., Hughes, C., Watson, W.L., Chapman, K., 2015. The availability and accessibility of nutrition information in fast food outlets in five states post-menu labelling legislation in New South Wales. Aust. N. Z. J. Public Health 39, 546–549. https://doi.org/10.1111/1753-6405.12428
- Wicks, M., Wright, H., Wentzel-Viljoen, E., 2016. Restricting the marketing of foods and non-alcoholic beverages to children in South Africa: are all nutrient profiling models the same? Br. J. Nutr. 116, 2150–2159. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114516004244
- Willett, W., Rockström, J., Loken, B., Springmann, M., Lang, T., Vermeulen, S., Garnett, T., Tilman, D., DeClerck, F., Wood, A., Jonell, M., Clark, M., Gordon, L.J., Fanzo, J., Hawkes, C., Zurayk, R., Rivera, J.A., De Vries, W., Majele Sibanda, L., Afshin, A., Chaudhary, A., Herrero, M., Agustina, R., Branca, F., Lartey, A., Fan, S., Crona, B., Fox, E., Bignet, V., Troell, M., Lindahl, T., Singh, S., Cornell, S.E., Srinath Reddy, K., Narain, S., Nishtar, S., Murray, C.J.L., 2019. Food in the Anthropocene: the EAT-Lancet Commission on healthy diets from sustainable food systems. Lancet Lond. Engl. 393, 447–492. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31788-4
- Williams, J., Scarborough, P., Matthews, A., Cowburn, G., Foster, C., Roberts, N., Rayner, M., 2014. A systematic review of the influence of the retail food environment around schools on obesity-related outcomes. Obes. Rev. Off. J. Int. Assoc. Study Obes. 15, 359–374. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12142
- Wogalter, M.S., Conzola, V.C., Smith-Jackson, T.L., 2002. Research-based guidelines for warning design and evaluation. Appl. Ergon. 33, 219–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0003-6870(02)00009-1
- Wolin, K.Y., Carson, K., Colditz, G.A., 2010. Obesity and cancer. The Oncologist 15, 556–565. https://doi.org/10.1634/theoncologist.2009-0285

- World Bank, 2019. Using Taxation to Address Noncommunicable Diseases : Lessons from Tonga [WWW Document]. World Bank. URL https://documents.worldbank.org/en/publication/documents-reports/documentdetail/844811561475012529/Using-Taxation-to-Address-Noncommunicable-Diseases-Lessons-from-Tonga (accessed 6.12.21).
- World Cancer Research Fund, 2021. Ambitious, SMART commitments to address NCDs, overweight and obesity. WCRF Int. URL https://www.wcrf.org/policy/our-publications/ambitious-smart-commitments-to-address-ncds-overweight-obesity/ (accessed 5.30.21).
- World Health Organization, 2021. Breastfeeding [WWW Document]. URL https://www.who.int/westernpacific/health-topics/breastfeeding (accessed 7.10.21).
- World Health Organization, 2020. Manual to develop and implement front-of-pack nutrition labelling: guidance for countries on the selection and testing of evidence-informed front-of-pack nutrition labelling systems in the WHO European Region (2020) [WWW Document]. URL https://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/diseaseprevention/nutrition/publications/2020/manual-to-develop-and-implement-frontofpack-nutrition-

labelling-guidance-for-countries-on-the-selection-and-testing-of-evidenceinformed-frontofpacknutrition-labelling-systems-in-the-who-european-region-2020 (accessed 6.20.21).

- World Health Organization, 2019. Cup-feeding for low-birth-weight infants unable to fully breastfeed [WWW Document]. WHO. URL http://www.who.int/elena/titles/cupfeeding_infants/en/ (accessed 10.11.21).
- World Health Organization, 2018. WHO | The nutrition challenge: food system solutions [WWW Document]. WHO. URL https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/277440 (accessed 6.5.21).
- World Health Organization, 2017. Report of the Commission on Ending Childhood Obesity: implementation plan: executive summary [WWW Document]. URL https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/259349 (accessed 5.29.21).
- World Health Organization, 2016. Global NCD target: halt the rise in obesity [WWW Document]. URL https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/312281 (accessed 10.11.21).
- World Health Organization, 2006. Marketing of Food and Non-alcoholic beverages to children [WWW Document]. URL https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/3088
- World Health Organization, 2000. Obesity: preventing and managing the global epidemic. Report of a WHO consultation [WWW Document]. World Health Organ. Tech. Rep. Ser. URL https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/42330
- Yamoah, D.A., De Man, J., Onagbiye, S.O., Mchiza, Z.J., 2021. Exposure of Children to Unhealthy Food and Beverage Advertisements in South Africa. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public. Health 18, 3856. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18083856
- Yan, J., Liu, L., Zhu, Y., Huang, G., Wang, P.P., 2014. The association between breastfeeding and childhood obesity: a meta-analysis. BMC Public Health 14, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-14-1267
- Zhou, Y., Chi, J., Lv, W., Wang, Y., 2021. Obesity and diabetes as high-risk factors for severe coronavirus disease 2019 (Covid-19). Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev. 37, e3377. https://doi.org/10.1002/dmrr.3377
- Zieff, S.G., Hipp, J.A., Eyler, A.A., Kim, M.-S., 2013. Ciclovía initiatives: engaging communities, partners, and policy makers along the route to success. J. Public Health Manag. Pract. JPHMP 19, S74-82. https://doi.org/10.1097/PHH.0b013e3182841982